

Title	Development of a novel strategy for semisynthesis of triantennary complex-type oligosaccharides and its application for glycopeptide synthesis
Author(s)	真木,勇太
Citation	大阪大学, 2017, 博士論文
Version Type	VoR
URL	https://doi.org/10.18910/61471
rights	
Note	

Osaka University Knowledge Archive : OUKA

https://ir.library.osaka-u.ac.jp/

Osaka University

Development of a novel strategy for semisynthesis of triantennary complex-type oligosaccharides and its application for glycopeptide synthesis

三分枝複合型糖鎖の新規半化学合成法の開発と 糖ペプチド合成への展開

> By **Yuta Maki**

Department of Chemistry Graduate School of Science Osaka University

> Osaka, Japan 2017

Table of Contents

	page
Abstract of the Thesis	1
Abbreviation	3
Chapter 1: General Introduction	
1-1.Introduction of oligosaccharide	8
1-2. Biosynthetic pathways of complex-type oligosaccharides	10
1-3. Branching and maturation of <i>N</i> -glycans in Golgi apparatus	12
1-4. Branching structures of complex-type oligosaccharide on specific p	roteins and
cells	13
1-5. Isolation and structural analysis of oligosaccharides	15
1-6. Synthesis of oligosaccharides	20
1-7. Problems in oligosaccharide synthesis	
1-8. Glycoprotein and glycopeptide	29
1-9. Synthesis of glycoprotein	31
1-10. An objective of this doctoral thesis	40
1-11. Contents of the thesis	43
1-12. References	44
Chapter 2: Semisynthesis of Intact Complex-Type Triantennary Oligosacchart	ides from a
Biantennary Oligosaccharide Isolated from a Natural Source	
2-1. Introduction of <i>Chapter 2</i>	53
2-2. Protection of Asn-linked biantennary asialononasaccharide	54
2-3. Selective deprotection of fully protected oligosaccharide	62
2-4. Glycosylation reactions of the obtained acceptors	68
2-5. Deprotection steps of the obtained triantennary oligosaccharides	75
2-6. Enzymatic sialylation of a triantennary oligosaccharide	79
2-7. Summery of <i>Chapter 2</i>	80
2-8. References	81
Chapter 3: Mechanistic Study on Deprotection of Benzylidene Acetals of Monos	accharides
3-1. Introduction of <i>Chapter 3</i>	82
3-2. Preparation of benzylidenated monosaccharides	82
3-3. Hydrolysis rate of benzylidene derivatives at room temperature	84

Table of Contents

3-4. Thermodynamic parameters derived by the Arrhenius and Eyring plotting	87
3-5. Interpretation and discussion	93
3-6. References	97
Chapter 4: Development of a New Strategy for Chemical Synthesis of a Glycope	ptide
Having a Complex-Type Triantennary Oligosaccharide	
4-1. Introduction of <i>Chapter 4</i>	98
4-2. Outline of the strategy	99
4-3. Preparation of <i>N</i> -terminal and <i>C</i> -terminal peptides	101
4-4. Glycopeptide synthesis by segment coupling reactions	108
4-5. Synthesis of sialylglycopeptide by enzymatic sialylation and deprotection	on of
thiazolidine	113
4-6. Summery of <i>Chapter 4</i>	115
4-7. References	116
Chapter 5: Chemical Synthesis of an Erythropoietin Glycoform Bearing a Trianter	nary
Sialyloligosaccharide and Two Biantennary Sialyloligosaccharides	
Sialyloligosaccharide and Two Biantennary Sialyloligosaccharides 5-1. Introduction of <i>Chapter 5</i>	117
 Sialyloligosaccharide and Two Biantennary Sialyloligosaccharides 5-1. Introduction of <i>Chapter 5</i> 5-2. Synthetic strategy of EPO 	117 118
 Sialyloligosaccharide and Two Biantennary Sialyloligosaccharides 5-1. Introduction of <i>Chapter 5</i> 5-2. Synthetic strategy of EPO 5-3. Synthesis of phenacyl esterified biantennary sialylglycopeptide 	117 118 120
 Sialyloligosaccharide and Two Biantennary Sialyloligosaccharides 5-1. Introduction of <i>Chapter 5</i> 5-2. Synthetic strategy of EPO 5-3. Synthesis of phenacyl esterified biantennary sialylglycopeptide 5-4. Preparation of peptides and glycopeptides 	117 118 120 121
 Sialyloligosaccharide and Two Biantennary Sialyloligosaccharides 5-1. Introduction of <i>Chapter 5</i>	117 118 120 121 125
 Sialyloligosaccharide and Two Biantennary Sialyloligosaccharides 5-1. Introduction of <i>Chapter 5</i>	117 118 120 121 125 135
 Sialyloligosaccharide and Two Biantennary Sialyloligosaccharides 5-1. Introduction of <i>Chapter 5</i>	117 118 120 121 125 135 136
 Sialyloligosaccharide and Two Biantennary Sialyloligosaccharides 5-1. Introduction of <i>Chapter 5</i>	117 118 120 121 125 135 136 138
 Sialyloligosaccharide and Two Biantennary Sialyloligosaccharides 5-1. Introduction of <i>Chapter 5</i>	117 118 120 121 125 135 136 138 139
 Sialyloligosaccharide and Two Biantennary Sialyloligosaccharides 5-1. Introduction of <i>Chapter 5</i>	117 118 120 121 125 135 136 138 138 139 213
 Sialyloligosaccharide and Two Biantennary Sialyloligosaccharides 5-1. Introduction of <i>Chapter 5</i>	117 118 120 121 125 135 136 138 139 213 214

Abstract

Abstract

Glycosylation of proteins is one of the major posttranslational modifications, and more than 50% proteins are estimated to be posttranslationally glycosylated. Complex-type oligosaccharides on proteins show characteristic branching structures including bi-, tri-, and tetraantennary forms. In the case of erythropoietin (EPO), which is glycoprotein hormone stimulating red blood cell production, tri- and tetra-antennary structures account for more than 90% of complex-type oligosaccharide, and furthermore, it is known that branched structures are often observed on cancer cells. However, relationship between oligosaccharide branching patterns and the behavior of proteins/cells has not yet well understood.

Chemical synthesis of oligosaccharides and glycoproteins provides homogenous molecules to understand the functions and necessities of oligosaccharides at molecular level, however syntheses of complex-type oligosaccharides unfortunately necessitate time-consuming protocols due to repetitive protection/deprotection and glycosylation steps. Prompt access to such highly complicated oligosaccharyl molecule would greatly contribute to reveal oligosaccharide functions.

Thus, I envisaged developing an unprecedented semisynthetic strategy for the synthesis of triantennary oligosaccharide 1 and 2 from the substrate of biantennary asialononasaccharide 3, which can be isolated from a natural source in gram scale. Twenty-four hydroxy groups of the biantennary oligosaccharide were specifically and precisely manipulated based on rigorous NMR structural analysis. Selective introduction and deprotection of benzylidene acetals produced suitably protected oligosaccharyl acceptors, followed by glycosylation with lactosaminyl donor and stepwise deprotection reactions to give desired triantennary oligosaccharide 1 and 2, respectively. The idea to use biantennary structure as a scaffold of triantennary oligosaccharides was critical for the synthesis, along with a finding of selective benzylidene deprotection in mannosides.

The obtained triantennary oligosaccharyl asparagine was converted into EPO-glycopeptide **33** by segment coupling reactions in solution, which was further ligated with (glyco-)peptides in order to synthesize an EPO glycoform having one triantennary sialyltetradecasaccharide and two biantennary sialylundecasaccharide **67**.

In conclusion, I developed a novel semisynthetic strategy toward triantennary complex-type oligosaccharides and demonstrated robustness and utility of the synthesis by getting access to EPO. The established synthetic protocols can be powerful platform for the insight into oligosaccharide branching on proteins.



Figure. Outline of the semisynthesis and its application in this study.

Abbreviation

A: pre-exponential factor

Ac: acetyl

Acm: acetamidomethyl

AIBN: 2,2'-azobis(isobutyronitrile)

Ala: alanine

Asn: asparagine

Arg: arginine

Asp: aspartic acid

Boc: tert-butyloxycarbonyl

Boc-OSu: N-(tert-butoxycarbonyloxy)succinimide

Bn: benzyl

^tBu: *tert*-butyl

Bz: benzoyl

CAN: Ammonium Cerium(IV) Nitrate

CMP: cytidine 5'-monophosphate

CD: circular dichroism

COSY: correlation spectrometry

CSA: (+)-10-camphorsulfonic Acid

Cys: cysteine

DBMP: 2,6-di-tert-butyl-4-methylpyridine

DBU: 1.8-diazabicyclo[5.4.0]-undec-7-ene

DCM: dichloromethane

DDQ: 2,3-dichloro-5,6-dicyanobenzoquinone

DEPBT: 3-(diethoxyphosphoryloxy)-1,2,3-benzotriazin-4(3H)-one

DIC: N,N'-diisopropylcarbodiimide

DIEA: N,N'-diisopropylethylamine

DMAP: 4-dimethylaminopyridine

DMF: N,N'-dimethylformamide

DMS: methyl sufide

DMSO: dimethyl sulfoxide

DMTST: dimethyl(methylthio)sulfonium trifluoromethanesulfonate

DNA: deoxyribonucleic acid

DNP: 2,4-dinitrophenyl

Dol: dolicol

DTT: D,L-dithiothreitol

E_a: activation energy

EDT: 1,2-ethanedithiol

EPO: erythropoietin

ER: endoplasmic reticulum

ESI: electrospray ionization

Fmoc: 9-fluorenylmethyloxycarbonyl

G: Gibbs energy

Gal: galactose

GalNAc: N-acetylgalactosamine

Glc: glucose

GlcNAc: N-acetyl-D-glucosamine

Gln: glutamine

Glu: glutamic acid

Gly: glycine

Gn-HCl: guanidine hydrochloride

GnT: N-acetylglucosaminyltransferase

H: enthalpy

h: Planck constant

HATU: O-(7-aza-1H-benzotriazol-1-yl)-N,N,N',N'-tetramethyluronium hexafluorophosphate

HBTU: O-(benzotriazol-1-yl)-N,N,N',N'-tetramethyluronium hexafluorophosphate

hCG: human chorionic gonadotropin

HEPES: 4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1-piperazineethanesulfonic acid

His: histidine

HMBC: heteronuclear multiple-bond correlation

HMPB: 4-(4-hydroxymethyl-3-methoxyphenoxy)butyric acid

HOBt: 1-hydroxy-benzotriazole

HPLC: high performance liquid chromatography

HSQC: heteronuclear single-quantum coherence

IAD: intramolecular aglycon delivery

INF- β : interferon- β κ: transmission coefficient k_B: Boltzmann's constant, LacNAc: N-acetyllactosamine LC: liquid chromatography Ile: isoleucine Leu: leucine Lys: lysine NCL: native chemical ligation MALDI: matrix assisted laser desorption/ionization Man: mannose MESNa: sodium 2-mercaptoethanesulfonate Met: methionine MPAA: 4-mercaptophenylacetic acid MS: mass spectrometry MSNT: 1-(mesitylene-2-sulfonyl)-3-nitro-1H-1,2,4-triazole Mtr: 4-methoxy-2,3,6-trimethylbenzenesulfonyl NIS: N-iodosuccinimide NMR: nuclear magnetic resonance Neu5Ac: N-acetylneuraminic acid ODS: octa decyl silyl OST: oligosaccharyl transferase Pbf: 2,2,4,6,7-pentamethyldihydrobezofuran-5-sulfonyl Phe: phenylalanine Pro: proline PTM: posttranslational modification PyBOP: 1H-benzotriazol-1-yloxy-tri(pyrrolidino)phosphonium hexafluorophosphate R: gas constant RNA: ribonucleic acid RDS: rate determining step RP: reversed-phase rt: room temperature S: entropy

- Seg 1: Ala¹-Cys²⁸ of EPO sequence
- Seg 2: Cys²⁹-Tyr⁴⁹ of EPO sequence
- Seg 3: Cys⁵⁰-Ala⁷⁸ of EPO sequence Seg 4: Cys⁷⁹-Lys⁹⁷ of EPO sequence
- Seg 5: Cys⁹⁸-Ala¹²⁷ of EPO sequence
- Seg 5. Cys And of Er 6 sequence
- Seg 6: Cys¹²⁸-Arg¹⁶⁶ of EPO sequence
- Seg 23: Cys²⁹-Ala⁷⁸ of EPO sequence
- Seg 234: Cys²⁹-Lys⁹⁷ of EPO sequence
- Seg 56: Cys⁹⁸-Arg¹⁶⁶ of EPO sequence
- Seg 23456: Cys²⁹-Arg¹⁶⁶ of EPO sequence
- SGP: sialylglycopeptide
- SPPS: solid phase peptide synthesis

Ser: serine

- TBDMS: tert-butyldimethylsilyl
- TBDPSCI: tert-Butyldiphenylchlorosilane
- TCEP: tris(2-carboxyethyl)phosphine hydrochloride
- TE: 2-(trimethylsilyl)ethyl
- TFA: trifluoroacetic acid
- TFE 2,2,2-trifluoroethanol
- TfOH: trifluoromethanesulfonic acid
- THF: tetrahydrofuran
- Thr: threonine
- Thz: thiazolizine
- TIPS: Triisopropylsilane
- TMSOTf : trimethylsilyl trifluoromethanesulfonate
- TOCSY (total correlation spectroscopy)
- Tris-HCl: 2-amino-2-hydroxymethyl-1,3-propanediol hydrochloride
- Troc: 2,2,2-trichloroethyl
- Trt: trityl
- TST: transition state theory
- Typ: tryptophan
- Tyr: tyrosine
- UDP: uridine diphosphate

UV: ultraviolet

VA-044: 2,2'-azobis[2-(2-imidazolin-2-yl)propane]dihydrochloride

Val: valine

Xan: xanthyl

Z: benzyloxycarbonyl

Chapter 1

General Introduction

1-1. Introduction of oligosaccharide

Glycosylation of proteins on cell surfaces and in body fluids is one of the major posttranslational modifications (PTM). Approximately human has 30,000 protein-coding genes,¹⁻² however the coding capacity is expanded by transcriptional diversification (eg. mRNA splicing) and the PTM of proteins.³⁻⁶ This PTM of proteins includes phosphorylation, methylation, acetylation, ubiquitylation, and so on. Especially, an analysis of SWISS-PLOT protein sequence database estimated that more than half of proteins are glycosylated.⁷



Figure 1-1. Examples of posttranslational modifications

Oligosaccharides on proteins play important roles in many biological events such as cell-cell interactions, protein folding, and immune systems.⁸⁻¹¹ Chemical properties of protein can be modified by attachment of oligosaccharides to alter the stability, protease resistance, and quaternary structures. In the biosynthetic pathway of glycoproteins, oligosaccharides are used as a tag, which allows interaction of the proteins with specific enzymes in defined order for maturation of proteins.¹²⁻¹³

Oligosaccharides on proteins are generally divided into two types: asparagine (N)-linked oligosaccharides and serine or threonine (O)-linked Oligosaccharides (Figure 1-2). N-linked oligosaccharides are attached to the nitrogen of asparagine side chain in consensus sequons: Asn-X(except for Pro)-Ser/Thr. They are further classified in 3 types: high-mannose type, hybrid-type, and complex-type oligosaccharides. All of them has a common core [Man- α -1,3-(Man- α -1,6)-Man- β -1,4-GlcNAc- β -1,4-GlcNAc-Asn], pentasaccharide: and additional carbohydrate moieties are linked to hydroxy groups of the core pentasaccharide. High-mannose type oligosaccharide consists of several mannose residues (9 residues in maximum) in addition to the core pentasaccharide, and some have Glc residues on an antenna. Complex-type oligosaccharides commonly have additional galactose (Gal), N-acetylglucosamine (GlcNAc), and N-acetylneuraminic acid (Neu5Ac). Further modifications of the oligosaccharide are observed such as fucosylation, phosphorylation, and sulfation. Hybrid-type oligosaccharides have some Man residues on the Man- α -1,6 arm of the core, and one or two antennae on the Man- α -1,3 arm. Representative structures are shown in Figure 1-2.

Modification of hydroxy groups of Ser or Thr with a GalNAc residue results in *O*-linked oligosaccharide. Carbohydrate part is usually elongated with other monosaccharides such as Gal and Neu5Ac residues, and the resulting structures can be divided from core-1 to core-8.



Figure 1-2. Representative structures of three types of *N*-linked oligosaccharides and *O*-linked oligosaccharide.

1-2. A biosynthetic pathway of complex-type oligosaccharides

Glc₃Man₉GlcNAc₂ (F, Figure 1-3) is assembled on dolicol-phosphate (Dol-P), and the oligosaccharide is transferred to an asparagine residue in selected Asn-X-Ser/Thr sequons of a nascent protein by an assistance of oligosaccharyltransferase (OST) in endoplasmic reticulum (ER) as shown in Figure 1-3. The biosynthesis of N-glycans begins with transferring GlcNAc-P from UDP (uridine-5'-diphospho)-GlcNAc to Dol-P (A) by a GlcNAc-1-phosphotransferase. Then, a GlcNAc and five Man residues are sequentially added to the GlcNAc-P-P-Dol (B) by corresponding glycosyltransferases sugar-nucleotides, which and results in а $Man_5GlcNAc_2$ -P-P-Dol (C) in the cytosolic plasma membrane. Next, a flippase translocates the dolicol-linked oligosaccharide (C) to inside of ER across ER membrane bilayer, and the assembly of the precursor oligosaccharide is completed with addition of four Man and three Glc residues using Dol-P-Man and Dol-P-Glc as donors. The OST complex, which resides in the ER membrane and is comprised by several domains, transfers en bloc the synthesized tetradecasaccharide to a newly translated protein (F to G).

After enzymatic processing of an oligosaccharide on a protein in the ER, the glycosylated protein is transferred into *cis*-Golgi apparatus, and the oligosaccharide structure is further processed by trimming and addition of sugars by glycosidases and glycosyltransferases in Golgi apparatus (Figure 1-3). In ER, the Glc₃Man₉GlcNAc₂ (**G**) on a polypeptide/protein works as a tag to support protein folding through the interaction with chaperons.¹³ During this glycoprotein quality control system, terminal Glc residues are removed. After the production of the Man₉GlcNAc₂-Asn structure (**H**) or additional trimming of terminal Man (**I**), the glycoprotein passes through the ER to *cis*-Golgi. Glycosidases and glycosyltransferases alter the high-mannose type to hybrid-type or complex-type structures in Golgi apparatus. First, Man residues are removed to give a Man₅GlcNAc₂ structure (**K**). In medial Golgi, *N*-acetylglucosaminyltransferase I (GnT-I) adds a GlcNAc to 2-OH of α -1,3 Man in the core pentasaccharide (**L**). Then, the majority of *N*-linked oligosaccharides are trimmed by α -mannosidases II to give a GlcNAcMan₃GlcNAc₂. Following addition of a GlcNAc to 2-OH of α -1,6 Man by GnT-II gives a precursor (**M**) for complex-type oligosaccharides. To the GlcNAc residues of the oligosaccharide, Gal residues are added in *medial*-Golgi (**N**).



Figure 1-3. A biosynthetic pathway of N-linked oligosaccharides

1-3. Branching and maturation of N-glycans in Golgi apparatus

Some complex-type oligosaccharides extend their branching degree by a transfer of GlcNAc residues to the two mannoside ends of the common core pentasaccharide by GnT in *medial*-Golgi (Figure 1-4a) . GnT-V and GnT-IV individually transfer a GlcNAc residue to 6-OH of α 1,6 Man and 4-OH of α 1,3 Man of the core pentasaccharide to form tri- or tetra-antennary oligosaccharides. Moreover, GnT-III may add an antenna to 4-OH of β 1,4 Man,¹⁴ which is called bisecting GlcNAc. In birds and fishes, additional branches are found on 4-OH of α 1,6 Man and some hydroxy groups of the core pentasaccharide.¹⁵⁻¹⁶

Repeating of *N*-acetyllactosamine (LacNAc) unit is observed on the non-reducing end of complex-type oligosaccharide (Figure 1-4b), and core fucosylation of 6-OH of GlcNAc- β -Asn is also a structural feature of complex-type oligosaccharides (Figure 1-4c).

In *trans*-Golgi, Gal residues on non-reducing end are capped with Neu5Ac via $\alpha 2,3$ or $\alpha 2,6$ sialyl linkages (Figure 1-4d),¹⁷ and the resulting mature glycoproteins are secreted or transported to plasma membrane.



Figure 1-4. (a) Reported branched structures and related *N*-acetylglucosaminyltransferases (GnTs). (b) Structure of poly-*N*-acetyllactosamine (poly-LacNAc). (c) Structure of core-fucose linked to chitobiose. (d) Structures of two types of sialyl linkages.

1-4. Branching structures of complex-type oligosaccharide on specific proteins and cells

Frequently found on mature glycoproteins, a complex-type oligosaccharide exhibits unique antennary structures as described above, and the branching pattern is highly depends on glycoproteins and cell types.

Change of branching pattern is known to alter the physiological properties and biological activities of glycoproteins, as seen in the case of erythropoietin (EPO). EPO is a glycoprotein hormone regulating red blood cell production and has three complex-type oligosaccharides at 24th, 38th, and 83rd Asn residues.¹⁸⁻¹⁹ Contrary to other cytokines, majority of the EPO glycoforms have highly branched oligosaccharides, and the branching degree is thought to be crucial for the biological activity in vivo. Rahbek-Nielsen et al. reported the glycoprofile of urinary EPO by means of matrix assisted laser desorption/ionization (MALDI) mass spectrometry. Their analysis showed that ratio of biantennary, triantennary, and tetraantennary (including LacNAc repeating) was 8: 30: 62, indicating that 92% of the oligosaccharides are trior tetra-antennary forms (Figure 1-5).²⁰ In terms of another cytokine interferon- β 1, which has one complex-type oligosaccharide and is secreted by fibroblast in response to viral infection, it is reported that 82% of oligosaccharide structure is biantennary forms and the other 18% is two types of triantennary structures.²¹ In addition, human lactoferrin isolated from human milk has only biantennary structures, and more than 98% of oligosaccharides are biantennary forms in the case of natural serum transferrin.²²⁻²³ These data excites our curiosity about branching difference observed on glycosylated proteins and their necessities/functions.

Regarding cancer cells, it is known that the number of branches increases depending on the tumor stage. Some groups reported that β 1,6-*N*-acetyltranssferase V (GnT-V) is involved in angiogenesis and tumor metastasis.²⁴⁻²⁵ Similarly, in the case of human chorionic gonadotropin (hCG), urinary hCG consists of solely biantennary structures with or without α 2,3 sialyl linkages,²⁶ however, about half of oligosaccharides from hCG produced in choriocarcinoma are triantennary forms as previously reported by the Kobata group.²⁷



Figure 1-5. (a) Reported ratio of branched complex-type oligosaccharides of several secreted glycoproteins. (b) Typical branched structures of human complex-type oligosaccharides.

1-5. Isolation and structural analysis of oligosaccharides

Isolation and functional study of oligosaccharides has suffered from scarcity and considerable heterogeneity of oligosaccharides on naturally occurring glycoproteins. Oligosaccharide on the same position of a protein shows structural diversity, called glycoforms, because carbohydrate sequence is not genetically coded. Enzymatic glycosylation reactions in biosynthetic pathway are not 100%, thus resulting in truncation of oligosaccharides in non-reducing ends. These structural features are called microheterogeneity,²⁸⁻³⁰ which makes separation of individual oligosaccharides less promising due to the physiological similarity. In addition to the heterogeneity, scarcity of natural glycoprotein causes a difficulty in isolating and structural determination of oligosaccharides. In the case of cytokines, which are clinically meaningful molecules, their abundance in plasma is less than 10² pg/mL.³¹ Among the investigated proteins in plasma, serum albumin was measured to be 35~50 mg/mL at the high abundance end. In contrast, interleukin 6 was measured to be 0~5 pg/mL at the low abundance end.



Figure 1-6. Frequently observed heterogeneity on nonreducing ends of oligosaccharides.

Hen egg yolk, however, contains sialylglycopeptide (SGP) including complex-type biantennary sialylundecasaccharide with relatively well-defined structure, and the Kajihara group established an isolation strategy of the oligosaccharide attached to Fmoc-Asn-OH in large scale (Figure 1-7a).³² Seko *et al.* reported that one egg yolk contains 8 mg SGP (2.8 umol) and pure SGP can be isolated by phenol treatment of egg yolk along with some purification steps.³³ By using the SGP, the idea to introduce hydrophobic 9-fluorenylmethyloxycarbonyl (Fmoc) group on an asparagine residue enabled prompt preparation of a library of complex-type biantennary oligosaccharides in large scale. Thus, nowadays complex-type biantennary oligosaccharides are easily available for advancing glycoscience.³⁴⁻³⁶

In terms of highly branched oligosaccharides, one triantennary structure having a Gal- β -1,4-GlcNAc- β -1,4-Man antenna can be isolated from bovine fetuin in moderate scale as described by Meldal *et al.* as shown in Figure 1-7b.³⁷ The triantennary structure linked with Fmoc-Asn-O^tBu (8 mg) was prepared from bovine fetuin or ribonuclease B (5 g) through hydrazinolysis reaction and HPLC chromatographic separation. In addition, they performed Fmoc SPPS using the acetylated triantennary oligosaccharyl asparagine as a building block. This isolating procedure yielded moderate quantities, however the hydrazinolysis reaction potentially has a risk because anhydrous hydrazine is highly toxic, flammable, and explosive.



Figure 1-7. Outline of isolation steps of (a) biantennary oligosaccharides and (b) a triantennary oligosaccharide.

Structural determination of oligosaccharides is generally very difficult because regioselectivity and stereoselectivity make several possibilities of glycosyl linkages, and thus many methodologies have been developed to analyze oligosaccharide structures precisely and promptly. Oligosaccharides require to be cleaved from glycosylated proteins for structural determination. Glycopeptidase and peptide:*N*-glycanase (PNGase) specifically cleave GlcNAc-Asn linkages of *N*-linked oligosaccharides to afford free oligosaccharides.³⁸⁻⁴¹ Another method is the chemical hydrazinolysis reaction as mentioned above. Treatment of glycosylated peptides/proteins with anhydrous hydrazine cleaves amide bonds.⁴² *N*-acetylation is usually conducted after hydrazinolysis because they are also cleaved during hydrazinolysis. After the isolation steps, oligosaccharides can be separated by high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) including two-dimensional (2D) HPLC analysis. Introduction of 2-aminopyridine improves separation and detection as reported by Hase *et al.*⁴³ In this method, an aldehyde of GlcNAc on the reducing end makes Schiff base by the treatment with 2-aminopyridine, followed by NaBH₃CN reduction to yield a pyridylaminated oligosaccharide, which can be separated by reverse-phased (RP), amino, or amide column chromatographies.



Figure 1-8. (a), (b) Cleavage of an oligosaccharide from peptide backbone by enzymatic and chemical reactions. (c) Introduction of 2-aminopyridine to a reducing sugar.

One of the major methods is methylation analysis of oligosaccharides, giving information of glycosylated positions of monosaccharides (Figure 1-9). Dimethylsulfoxide (DMSO) and sodium hydride (NaH) make methylsulfonylcarbanion, and this strong base catalyzes the alcoxide formation, followed by methylation with methyl iodide to give a permethylated oligosaccharide as reported by Hakomori.⁴⁴ Then, glycosyl linkages are hydrolyzed by the treatment with 0.5 N H₂SO₄ in 93% AcOH. The resulting partially methylated monosaccharides are reduced by NaBH₄ to produce methylated alditols, which are further acetylated and analyzed by a gas chromatograph-mass spectrometer to determine the glycosylation sites and monosaccharide composition.^{26,45}

Figure 1-9. Scheme of methylation analysis.

Nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) spectroscopy is the predominant method to understand the structure of oligosaccharides, and we are able to identify the chemical structure of an oligosaccharide including stereochemistry and the position of a glycosyl linkage. Proton NMR analysis gives us important information of molecules: i) chemical shifts (δ), ii) integration, and iii) coupling constants (J). Combination of carbon NMR and other mutidimensional measurement enables structural determination of even complicated molecules. In the case of carbohydrate, deprotected oligosaccharides usually show heavily overlapped ring proton signals in the region of 3-4 ppm in ¹H NMR, thus resulting in a difficulty in assigning chemical shifts. However, anomeric proton signals appear in 4.5-5.5 ppm region due to the distinct acetal structures. Similarly, in the case of N-linked oligosaccharides, the downfield shifted H-1 signals show distinctive chemical shifts and coupling pattern depending on monosaccharide structures. Furthermore, COSY (COrrelation SpectroscopY) and TOCSY (TOtal Correlation SpectroscopY) make use of the non-overlapped H-1 signals to determine other ring proton signals in same monosaccharide residue.⁴⁶ To improve unambiguous structural analysis of oligosaccharides, some NMR techniques have been developed as reported by Sato et al.47-48 Contrary to X-ray crystallography, NMR data offer information about dynamics of molecules usually based on NOE (nuclear magnetic resonance) experiments.⁴⁹⁻⁵¹

1-6. Synthesis of oligosaccharides

Chemical and enzymatic syntheses have greatly contributed to provide homogeneous oligosaccharides for understanding their functions at molecular level. Isolation of oligosaccharides mostly results in heterogeneous and scarce materials as described above, however, on the other hand, synthetic methodologies enables on demand preparation of not only natural but also unnatural oligosaccharides.

Structural feature of monosaccharides needs to be mentioned prior to the chemical reactions. Monosaccharides employing six-membered ring are known as aldoses (eg. D-glucose, D-galactose, and D-ribose) and ketoses (eg. D-fructose). Their structures are drawn as their Fischer projections in Figure 1-10a, and carbohydrates usually form cyclic hemiacetals and hemiketals by intramolecular nucleophilic attack of a hydroxy group to the carbonyl function of a monosaccharide, thus resulting in preferable 5- or 6-membered rings (furanoses and pyranoses). Each aldose and ketose has two enantiomers, and they are distinguished by the prefix D (dexter = right) and L (laevus = left), which is determined by the configuration of the highest-numbered chiral center of a monosaccharide (Figure 1-10b). For example, in the case of glyceraldehyde depicted in its Fischer projection, when the hydroxy group at the chiral center takes left position, the glyceraldehyde is called the L-enantiomer. In addition, hemiacetal ring formation produce a new chiral center, which is called the anomeric center. This new chiral center results in two diastereomers. The stereochemical relationship between an anomeric center and a configuration of most distant chiral center designates α - and β -anomers (Figure 1-10b). When the hydroxy group at anomer position is bound to the most distant chiral center in the same position (*cis*), it is named the α -anomer. On the other hand, it is called β -anomer when the anomeric hydroxy group is bound in opposite direction (trans).



Figure 1-10. (a) Acyclic forms of aldoses and ketoses drawn in the Fischer projections. (b) Cyclic forms of glucopyranoses drawn in Fischer projections and chair conformations.

1-6-1. Chemical glycosylation

A suitably protected monosaccharide (glycosyl acceptor) is coupled with a fully protected monosaccharide equipped with a leaving group (glycosyl donor) at its anomeric center to make an oligosaccharide (Figure 1-11a).⁵²⁻⁵⁵ A monosaccharide has several hydroxy groups, and furthermore, coupling of two monosaccharides (glycosylation) yields potentially two anomers. Thus, regio- and stereoselective reaction is essential to make a desired oligosaccharide. To gain the regioselectivity, hydroxy groups of glycosyl acceptor requires protecting group except for a hydroxy group that is used to make a new glycosyl linkage. For this purpose, enormous protecting groups have been developed such as acyl protecting groups (acetyl, benzoyl, levulinoyl), ether protecting groups (benzyl, allyl, silyl), and acetal protecting groups that is anomeric position in addition to protecting groups for other hydroxy groups. Nucleophilic attack of a hydroxy group of glycosyl acceptor to the anomeric center of glycosyl donor *via* $S_N 1$ type reaction allow a transfer of glycosyl moiety of donor to glycosyl acceptor (Figure 1-11a).⁵⁶⁻⁵⁷

The first glycosylation reaction was reported by Fischer in 1893, and then many glycosylation methods have been developed such as Koenigs-Knorr, glycosyl imidate,

thioglycoside, and phosphate methods. The Fischer glycosylation involves protonation of the hydroxy group at anomeric position (hemiacetal), and following formation of acetal with alcohol via oxocarbenium ion intermediate gives a glycoside.⁵⁸ However, excess of alcohol is required to shift the equilibrium toward the product. In 1901, Wilhelm Koenigs and Eduard Knorr developed a 1,2-trans glycosylation, which is called Koenigs-Knorr reaction and a widely used classic reaction.⁵⁹ This reaction uses glycosyl bromides and glycosyl chlorides as donors and silver salts such as Ag_2O_2 , silver triflate (AgOTf), and AgClO₄ as promoters. Glycosyl trichloroacetimidate is one of the most popular glycosyl donor because of its easy preparation by trichloroacetonitrile-base (K₂CO₃, NaH, or DBU) along with its high reactivity.⁶⁰⁻⁶¹ Lewis acid such as $BF_3 \cdot Et_2O$ and trimethylsilyl trifluoromethanesulfonate (TMSOTf) catalyze the activation of the imidate donors. In addition, N-phenyltrifluoroacetimidate is also known as an effective donor.⁶² Thioglycosides are quite often used as glycosyl donors, which are commonly prepared by fully acetylated monosaccharides and thiols such as thiophenol and alkylthiol in the presence of Lewis acid.⁶³ Moreover, thioglycosides also work as protecting groups in the absence of thiophilic promoters even under basic or acidic conditions and can be converted into other glycosyl donors in one or two steps. In contrast to imidate donors, thioglycoside is activated by at least an equimolar amount of thiophilic promoters such as N-iodosuccinimide (NIS)/TfOH, MeOTf, and dimethyl(methylthio)sulfonium trifluoromethanesulfonate (DMTST).



Figure 1-11. (a) A general glycosylation mechanism with a participating group at 2-position. (b) Examples of donors and their promoters.

α-sialylation, β-mannosylation, and *N*-glycosylation are known as challenging glycosylations due to their low stereoselectivity and low yield. With respect to sialylation reactions, neighboring participating group, which is most common way to construct 1,2-trans-glycosides, is not available because C-3 has no hydroxy group in sialic acid.⁶⁴ Combination of the deoxy moiety and C-1 carboxylic acid often results in elimination to give a glycal, and the tertiary oxocarbenium ion at the sterically hindered position also decrease the reactivity and yield. However, not only high yield but also highly stereoselective sialylation have been investigated such as solvent (acetonitrile) participation (Figure 1-12a),⁶⁵⁻⁶⁷ 3-thio or -seleno modification (Figure 1-12b),⁶⁸⁻⁶⁹ and C-5 modifications.⁷⁰ β-mannosylation is also known as one of the difficult glycosylation reactions because anomeric effect favorably produces α-mannosides. The Hindsgaul, Stork, and Ogawa groups independently developed intermolecular aglycon delivery (IAD) reactions (Figure 1-12c).⁷¹⁻⁷³ In 1996, Crich *et al.* reported the direct β-mannosylation using 4,6-*O*-benzylidene system through glycosyl triflate intermediate (Figure 1-12d).⁷⁴⁻⁷⁶



Figure 1-12. (a) Sialylation with acetonitrile participation by the Kiso-Hasegawa group.^{66-67, 77-78} (b) Sialylation with 3-seleno (or -thio) auxiliary by Ito and Ogawa.^{68, 79-80} (c) IAD β -mannosylation by Ito and Ogawa.⁷³ (d) 4,6-*O*-benzylidene assisted β -mannosylation by the Crich group.⁷⁴ TE: 2-(trimethylsilyl)ethyl, DDQ: 2,3-dichloro-5,6-dicyanobenzoquinone, AIBN:

2,2'-azobis(isobutyronitrile), DBMP: 2,6-di-*tert*-butyl-4-methylpyridine, TBDMS: *tert*-butyldimethylsilyl.

1-6-2. Enzymatic glycosylation

Another way to make a glycosidic bond is to use an enzyme, glycosyltransferase, which catalyzes a transfer of a monosaccharide from a sugar-nucleotide to a specifically recognized acceptor. On the contrary to the difficulties of regioselectivity and stereoselectivity in chemical glycosylation reactions, glycosyltransferases can transfer a sugar from sugar-nucleotides to unprotected sugar substrates in buffer, and they have been used for a variety of oligosaccharide syntheses.⁸¹⁻⁸⁵ A lot of efforts have been dedicated to improve availability of sugar-nucleotides and glycosyltransferases, and expand substrate specificity.

1-6-3. Synthesis of asparagine linked oligosaccharides

In terms of complex-type biantennary oligosaccharides, the Ogawa group reported the first total chemical synthesis of an $\alpha 2,6$ -sialylundecasaccharide in 1986 (Figure 1-13a).⁸⁶ Then, the Ito group accomplished total chemical synthesis of an $\alpha 2,3$ -sialylated complex-type undecasaccharide in 2000 by a similar convergent strategy where α Man-2,3 and α Man-2,6 glycosides were constructed in the latest step.⁸⁷ Moreover, the Danishefsky group made a biantennary sialyloligosaccharide having core-fucose and bisecting-GlcNAc (Figure 1-13b).⁸⁸⁻⁸⁹

Syntheses of complex-type tri- and tetra-antennary oligosaccharides have been reported by some groups such as the Danishefsky, Wong, Boons, and Unverzagt groups. Though synthesized oligosaccharides lack Neu5Ac-Gal at the non-reducing ends, the Unverzagt group established a synthetic strategy toward multiantennary oligosaccharides including pentaantennary strucutres.⁹⁰⁻⁹¹ In 2012 and 2013, the Danishefsky group reported the syntheses of two types of triantennary sialyloligosaccharides (Figure 1-14a).⁹²⁻⁹³ In addition to the fully chemical strategy, Wong *et al.* synthesized a library of bi- to tetra-antennary $\alpha 2,3$ - or $\alpha 2,6$ -sialylated oligosaccharide library in combination with chemical synthesis and enzymatic sialylation reactions.⁹⁴⁻⁹⁵ Moreover, the Boons group reported the chemoenzymatic synthesis of asymmetrically branched complex-type oligosaccharide library (Figure 1-14b).⁹⁶



Figure 1-13. (a) Synthesis of biantennary sialylundecasaccharide by the Ogawa group.⁸⁶ (b) Synthesis of biantennary oligosaccharide having core-fucose and bisecting-GlcNAc by the Danishefsky group.⁸⁹



Figure 1-14. (a) Synthesis of a complex-type triantennary sialyloligosaccharide by the Danishefsky group.⁹² (b) One example of chemoenzymatically synthesized asymmetry oligosaccharides by the Boons group.⁹⁶

1-7. Problems in oligosaccharide synthesis

The chemical synthesis of an oligosaccharide requires an efficient synthetic strategy, as it is unfortunately a time-consuming protocol because of the need for repetitive protection/deprotection of hydroxy groups as well as the stepwise construction of stereoselective glycosidic linkages. After each synthetic step, recrystallization or silica gel purification steps are usually indispensable to obtain a pure material for the next reaction. Even the synthesis of biantennary oligosaccharides has not been accomplished within 20 steps, and the Danishefsky group mentioned that total synthesis of triantennary oligosaccharide was reached in total 71 steps from commercially available materials.⁹² These long synthetic steps in addition to the necessity of sophisticated synthetic skills hamper the easy and prompt oligosaccharide synthesis, thus resulting in slow advance in glycoscience.

1-8. Glycoprotein and glycopeptide

In general, *N*-linked oligosaccharides including complex-type oligosaccharide are naturally attached to protein or peptide, and thus research of not only oligosaccharides but also glycopeptides/glycoproteins is essential to investigating the functions of oligosaccharides. In the case of human urinary EPO, which has three complex-type oligosaccharides at 24th, 38th, and 83rd Asn, ratio of bi-, tri-, and tetra-antennary structures is apparently distinct (Figure 1-15).²⁰ Oligosaccharides at 24th Asn consists of three types of branching almost equally, however, 38th and 83rd Asn have more than 70% tetraantennary forms in addition to ca. 30% triantennary structures. In the case of mucin type *O*-glycosylation, *in vitro* experiments show that glycosylation and its pattern depended on amino acid sequence including hydrophobicity and hydrophilicity of the peptide.⁹⁷ These data suggest that glycosylation is strongly related with peptide/protein scaffold properties.



Figure 1-15. Structure of erythropoietin (EPO) and its oligosaccharide ratio at three different positions.²⁰

One of the major methods to study interactions between enzymes and oligosaccharides is microarray employing a library of oligosaccharides fixed on a surface of an array, and in the same manner a glycopeptide library offers information of the relationship between glycan part and peptide part toward enzymes (Figure 1-16). In a glycan microarray, each oligosaccharide is immobilized on a surface of an array to make a library of carbohydrates, which are used to investigate the interaction with enzymes/lectins.⁹⁸⁻¹⁰⁰



Figure 1-16. Concept of glycopeptide microarray to investigate the interaction with proteins such as enzymes and lectins.

In the case of glycoproteins such as cytokines, the oligosaccharide part often changes the physical properties and biological activities of proteins, therefore research on glycoproteins with homogeneous oligosaccharides can provide an insight into oligosaccharide functions. Okamoto *et al.* reported that glycosylation of CCL1, a chemokine protein secreted by activated T-cells, negatively changed chemotaxis properties,¹⁰¹ however, on the other hand, Murakami *et al.* revealed that biological activity of EPO increases depending on the positions and the number of sialyloligosaccharides.¹⁰² Thus, the investigation of homogeneous oligosaccharides with protein parts is critical to study function and necessities of oligosaccharides.

1-9. Synthesis of glycoprotein

While expression of glycoproteins by biological technologies suffers from heterogeneity of oligosaccharide structures, chemical synthesis offers glycoproteins with homogeneous oligosaccharide structures. The chemical synthesis of (glyco-)proteins consist of solid-phase peptide synthesis (SPPS), chemical ligation of peptides, and folding experiment steps as shown in Figure 1-17.



Figure 1-17. Outline of chemical glycoprotein synthesis

1-9-1. Solid-phase peptide synthesis (SPPS)

Peptide synthesis is usually enabled by two types of SPPS: *tert*-butyloxycarbonyl (Boc) SPPS and 9-fluorenylmethyloxycarbonyl (Fmoc) SPPS. In 1963, Merrifield reported solid phase peptide synthesis of tetrapeptide,¹⁰³ and he won the Novel Prize in Chemistry in 1984. Nowadays, Fmoc and Boc SPPS greatly contribute to peptide synthesis.¹⁰⁴ In Fmoc SPPS, the Fmoc group covers α-amino group, and *tert*-butyl and trityl groups are commonly used for side chain protecting groups.¹⁰⁵⁻¹⁰⁷ During peptide elongation steps, Fmoc groups are removed by piperidine, while protecting groups for side chains are stable. On the completion of the coupling steps, treatment with TFA deprotects protecting groups on side chains. In the case of Boc SPPS, α-amino group is protected with *tert*-butyloxycarbonyl (Boc) group, and side chains are usually protected with benzyl groups.¹⁰⁸ Trifluoroacetic acid (TFA) removes Boc group, and HF or trifluoromethanesulfonic acid (TfOH) deprotects protecting groups on side chains. Synthesis of peptides sometimes encounters a difficulty in elongating peptides, however, in such cases, introduction of pseudoprolines and isoacyl dipeptides are known to improve the purity of the peptides.¹⁰⁹⁻¹¹⁰ Furthermore, microwave-assisted SPPS and flow SPPS have been developed to perform efficient and rapid SPPS.¹¹¹⁻¹¹²


Figure 1-18. Outline of solid-phase peptide synthesis (SPPS). More details are mentioned in *Chapter 4 and 5*.

1-9-2. Chemical ligation of peptides

Once peptides are prepared by solid-phase peptide synthesis or biological expression, coupling of peptides to elongate polypeptides can be carried out by well-established peptide ligation chemistry: native chemical ligation (NCL). Dawson *et al.* developed native chemical ligation (NCL), which chemically ligate unprotected peptide-thioester and Cys-peptide to give a native peptide ligation product (Figure 1-19a).¹¹³ This reaction works cleanly in buffer solution. The first step is thioester exchange reaction. A peptide thioester, which can be easily prepared by Boc SPPS,¹¹⁴⁻¹¹⁵ reacts with a thiol additive (4-mercaptophenylacetic acid: MPAA) reversibly. Then, the thiol of Cys-peptide attacks the thiocarbonyl carbon of the formed peptide thioester to make a new thioester product, followed by S-to-N acyl shift by the nucleophilic attack of α -amine group to make a polypeptide with native amino acid sequence.¹¹⁶ This versatile reaction has enabled chemical syntheses of proteins.¹¹⁷⁻¹¹⁸

While the NCL reaction couples peptides from C-to-N direction, kinetically controlled ligation (KCL) and hydrazide ligation enable peptide ligation from N-to-C direction. NCL reaction has limitation of i) requirement of Cys residues at ligation sites, and ii) sequential ligation in C-to-N direction. To expand the ligation sites, desulfurization chemistry in addition to syntheses of some β -mercapto amino acid derivatives have been developed.¹¹⁹⁻¹²⁵ Furthermore, to expand feasibility to ligate peptides in N-to-C directions, KCL reaction, *N*-acetylguanidine chemistry, and hydrazide ligation were established (Figure 1-19b).¹²⁶⁻¹²⁹





Figure 1-19. (a) Reaction mechanism of NCL. (b) Conversion of peptide- α -hydrazide and peptidyl *N*-acetylguanidine into peptide- α -thioester. These surrogates are inactive during usual NCL condition, thus allowing peptide ligation in the N-to-C direction.

1-9-3. Glycopeptide synthesis

The Kajihara group isolated an oligosaccharyl asparagine from hen egg yolk and examined coupling it to a peptide on resin by use of standard Boc or Fmoc SPPS to give a desired glycopeptide.^{32, 130} Coupling of Fmoc-Asn(Oligosaccharide)-OH sometimes causes undesired aspartimide formation, and DEPBT was found to be a suitable coupling reagent in addition to PyBOP.¹³¹⁻¹³³ Unprotected hydroxy groups of oligosaccharides have a risk of undesired esterification during SPPS, however peptide elongation without any protecting groups found to be possible under diluted coupling conditions.¹³¹ In terms of acid labile sialyl-oligosaccharide, they demonstrated that phenacyl ester renders sialyl linkage highly stable even under a TFA-TfOH deprotection condition in Boc SPPS.¹³² Thus, sialic acid, which is highly important for biological activity of glycoproteins, can be easily introduced on glycoproteins (Figure 1-20).

In other way, a glycosyl amine can react with an activated ester of an aspartic acid residue in a peptide to make a native glycopeptide as reported by Lansbury.¹³⁴⁻¹³⁵ β -glycosyl amine is usually prepared by reduction of the corresponding glycosyl azide or Kochetkov reaction, where treatment of a reducing oligosaccharide with saturated aqueous ammonium bicarbonate yields the glycosyl amine.¹³⁶ The resulting amine is then coupled with free Asp-containing protected peptide to yield a desired glycopeptide. But, this aspartylation reaction shows aspartimide formation.

While Lansbury aspartylation method shows troublesome aspartimide formation as a side product, the Unverzagt and Danishefsky groups developed convergent synthesis of *N*-glycopeptides facilitated by pseudoprolines at consensus sequence Ser/Thr residues. They found that a pseudoproline (ψ Pro) at Ser/Thr residue in the consensus sequence suppresses the formation of aspartimide (Figure 1-21a).¹³⁷⁻¹³⁸ Their isolated yields were in the range of 14 – 32% with respect to oligosaccharylamine.

In addition to chemical synthesis of glycopeptide, an endoglycosidase has ability to catalyze a transfer of an oligosaccharide to a *N*-acetylglucosaminyl asparagine unit. Yamamoto *et al.* found that endo- β -*N*-acetylglucosaminidase (*Mucor hiemalis*) has transglycosylation activity,¹³⁹ and the Inazu group synthesized a glycopeptide using the enzyme and complex-type disialyloligosaccharide.¹⁴⁰ Nowadays, several types of enzymes were found, and use of glycosyl

oxazolines as donors improved efficiency of glycosylation reactions, which enables syntheses of glyco-peptides/proteins.¹⁴¹⁻¹⁴⁵ However, these reactions require excess of oligosaccharides with respect to peptides/proteins,¹⁴⁵ and, in addition, they have a potential risk of undesired glycosylation reactions.¹⁴⁶⁻¹⁴⁷



Figure 1-20. (a) Scheme for preparation of sialylglycopeptide thioester. (b) Phenacyl ester protection of sialic acid.



Figure 1-21. (a) Convergent aspartylation reaction enabled by the pseudoproline motif at the (n+2) position by the Danishefsky group.¹³⁸ (b) Transglycosylation using endo- β -*N*-acetylglucosaminidase from *Mucor hiemalis* (End-M) by the Inazu group.¹⁴⁰

1-9-4. Problems in glycopeptide synthesis

Considering glycopeptide synthesis using a glycosyl asparagine, isolated yield is generally moderate because of crude glycopeptide purity, amino acid couplings in diluted condition, and the efficiency of cleaving a glycopeptide from the resin. In general, isolated yield of glycopeptides is around 5-10% based on the oligosaccharyl asparagine in Boc SPPS, where 1.5-2.0 equiv of the oligosaccharyl asparagine residues was used.^{102, 148} Low crude purity decreases the isolated yield, and the length of glycopeptide is limited even though suitable ligation sites are needed for NCL. In terms of preparation of glycopeptide- α -thioester, glycopeptides are cleaved from the resin by thioester exchange using sodium 2-mercaptoethanesulfonate or hydrazine monohydrate. The cleavage efficiency depends on peptide sequence, thus affecting the yield. Moreover, coupling of an oligosaccharyl asparagine and a peptide on resin is performed in heterogeneous mixture, and generally slight excess of oligosaccharyl asparagine is required.

1-10. An objective of this doctoral thesis

My doctoral thesis research focused on i) establishment of an unprecedented strategy to synthesize complex-type triantennary oligosaccharides and ii) development of a new strategy for synthesis of a glycopeptide having a synthesized triantennary oligosaccharide toward the synthesis of a glycoprotein. A detail including novelty and difficulty is mentioned as blow.

In order to elucidate the effect of branching degree of oligosaccharides on proteins, chemical synthesis can provide homogenous oligosaccharides and glycoproteins; above all however, synthesis of highly branched *N*-glycans is a very difficult task as previously described. Chemical synthesis of one triantennary oligosaccharide required 71 synthetic steps and amount of the final compound is a tiny amount, ⁹² which is a typical problem in general oligosaccharide synthesis. The repetitive chemical reactions and purification steps disturb the large amount preparation. In order to advance not only glycochemistry but also glycobiology, a new strategy for the synthesis of branched oligosaccharides is demanded and crucial.

Under these circumstances, I developed a semisynthetic strategy using an asialononasaccharide for the synthesis of two types of complex-type triantennary oligosaccharides (Figure 1-22). The starting material, asialononasaccharide, can be easily prepared from a natural source in over gram scale, ³² thus allowing chemical conversion of the biantennary asialononasaccharide into triantennary oligosaccharides through selective protections and additional glycosylation with a LacNAc disaccharide unit. This new synthetic concept could considerably reduce the number of synthetic steps in comparison to traditional oligosaccharide syntheses using sequential and repetitive glycosylations of monosaccharides.

The biantennary oligosaccharide has 24 hydroxy groups in total, and consequently a regioselective protection/deprotection strategy is newly essential. In general, protecting groups can be introduced to mono- or di-saccharides to obtain pure and desired product under easy control. A large number of hydroxy groups in the biantennary oligosaccharide may cause undesired and unexpected side reactions, and structural similarities between the desired and undesired products makes purification steps extremely troublesome. Therefore, I needed to establish a novel protection protocols toward the biantennary asialononasaccharide to overcome the regioselectivity among 24 hydroxy groups.

The synthesis of natural products and drug compound have sometimes employed the concept of semisynthesis, ¹⁴⁹⁻¹⁵⁰ however, large molecules such as oligosaccharides having many hydroxy groups as well as other functional groups have never been used as substrates in semisynthesis.¹⁵¹⁻¹⁵⁵ With respect to sugar derivatives, protection of mono- and di-saccharide units has been performed for semisynthetic purpose. But, highly complicated molecules such as *N*-linked oligosaccharides have never used in semisynthesis.

In addition to synthetic difficulties, unambiguous NMR assignment was required to determine the chemical structures of the intermediates. Not only 1D NMR but also rigorous 2D NMR experiments overcame the complicated molecular structures and sustained the successful synthesis with uncovering protected, deprotected, and glycosylated positions.

During the course of semisynthesis of triantennary oligosaccharides, I found an unprecedented selectivity in benzylidene acetal deprotection between Man and Gal residues. This new finding enabled me to develop the new semisynthetic method for the triantennary oligosaccharides. I would also like to discuss some mechanistic studies of the selectivity with thermodynamic parameters.

Since a new efficient glycopeptide synthesis was necessary to synthesize a glycoprotein bearing the triantennary oligosaccharide, I also established a new strategy for the efficient chemical synthesis of glycopeptides by using segment coupling reactions in liquid phase rather than standard solid phase glycopeptide synthesis. The synthesized triantennary oligosaccharide is very precious, and typical glycopeptide synthesis employs an excess of oligosaccharide for SPPS. I examined the segment coupling reactions with protected peptides in liquid phase to yield sufficient amount of glycopeptide toward chemical synthesis of EPO.

In order to evaluate the effect of branching structures on proteins, chemical synthesis of EPO having a triantennary oligosaccharide and two biantennary oligosaccharides was examined. I established a new synthetic strategy of EPO to convert a glycopeptide having a triantennary oligosaccharide into a full length of glycosylated EPO.



Figure 1-22. Outline of the synthesis in this doctoral thesis.

1-11. Contents of the thesis

As I mentioned, traditional oligosaccharide synthesis suffers from repetitive synthetic steps and low total yield. Therefore, establishment of a novel strategy for the synthesis of oligosaccharide is essential for the practical synthesis. In *Chapter 2*, I will discuss the detail of semisyntheses of β 1,6- and β 1,4-branched triantennary oligosaccharides. A finding of selective deprotection of benzylidene acetal enabled me to synthesize triantennary oligosaccharides. Therefore, the mechanistic studies of benzylidene acetal hydrolysis of monosaccharides will be discussed in *Chapter 3*. To make a glycoprotein, efficient and practical synthesis of glycopeptides still needs to be investigated. In *Chapter 4*, I will discuss the new segment coupling strategy for the synthesis glycopeptide. In the end, in *Chapter 5*, I would mention a successful synthesis of EPO having a tri- and two bi-antennary oligosaccharides.

Chapter 3 will discuss a mechanistic study on the benzylidene hydrolysis of monosaccharides.

Chapter 4 will describe a new segment coupling strategy to synthesize a sialylglycopeptide having a triantennary oligosaccharide.

Chapter 5 will describe chemical synthesis of an EPO glycoform having a triantennary oligosaccharide and two biantennary oligosaccharides.

1-12. References

(1) Lander ES, Linton LM, Birren B, Nusbaum C, Zody MC, Baldwin J, Devon K, Dewar K, Doyle M, FitzHugh W, Funke R, Gage D, Harris K, Heaford A, Howland J, Kann L, Lehoczky J, LeVine R, McEwan P, McKernan K, Meldrim J, Mesirov JP, Miranda C, Morris W, Naylor J, Raymond C, Rosetti M, Santos R, Sheridan A, Sougnez C, Stange-Thomann Y, Stojanovic N, Subramanian A, Wyman D, Rogers J, Sulston J, Ainscough R, Beck S, Bentley D, Burton J, Clee C, Carter N, Coulson A, Deadman R, Deloukas P, Dunham A, Dunham I, Durbin R, French L, Grafham D, Gregory S, Hubbard T, Humphray S, Hunt A, Jones M, Lloyd C, McMurray A, Matthews L, Mercer S, Milne S, Mullikin JC, Mungall A, Plumb R, Ross M, Shownkeen R, Sims S, Waterston RH, Wilson RK, Hillier LW, McPherson JD, Marra MA, Mardis ER, Fulton LA, Chinwalla AT, Pepin KH, Gish WR, Chissoe SL, Wendl MC, Delehaunty KD, Miner TL, Delehaunty A, Kramer JB, Cook LL, Fulton RS, Johnson DL, Minx PJ, Clifton SW, Hawkins T, Branscomb E, Predki P, Richardson P, Wenning S, Slezak T, Doggett N, Cheng JF, Olsen A, Lucas S, Elkin C, Uberbacher E, Frazier M, Gibbs RA, Muzny DM, Scherer SE, Bouck JB, Sodergren EJ, Worley KC, Rives CM, Gorrell JH, Metzker ML, Naylor SL, Kucherlapati RS, Nelson DL, Weinstock GM, Sakaki Y, Fujiyama A, Hattori M, Yada T, Toyoda A, Itoh T, Kawagoe C, Watanabe H, Totoki Y, Taylor T, Weissenbach J, Heilig R, Saurin W, Artiguenave F, Brottier P, Bruls T, Pelletier E, Robert C, Wincker P, Smith DR, Doucette-Stamm L, Rubenfield M, Weinstock K, Lee HM, Dubois J, Rosenthal A, Platzer M, Nyakatura G, Taudien S, Rump A, Yang H, Yu J, Wang J, Huang G, Gu J, Hood L, Rowen L, Madan A, Qin S, Davis RW, Federspiel NA, Abola AP, Proctor MJ, Myers RM, Schmutz J, Dickson M, Grimwood J, Cox DR, Olson MV, Kaul R, Raymond C, Shimizu N, Kawasaki K, Minoshima S, Evans GA, Athanasiou M, Schultz R, Roe BA, Chen F, Pan H, Ramser J, Lehrach H, Reinhardt R, McCombie WR, de la Bastide M, Dedhia N, Blöcker H, Hornischer K, Nordsiek G, Agarwala R, Aravind L, Bailey JA, Bateman A, Batzoglou S, Birney E, Bork P, Brown DG, Burge CB, Cerutti L, Chen HC, Church D, Clamp M, Copley RR, Doerks T, Eddy SR, Eichler EE, Furey TS, Galagan J, Gilbert JG, Harmon C, Hayashizaki Y, Haussler D, Hermjakob H, Hokamp K, Jang W, Johnson LS, Jones TA, Kasif S, Kaspryzk A, Kennedy S, Kent WJ, Kitts P, Koonin EV, Korf I, Kulp D, Lancet D, Lowe TM, McLysaght A, Mikkelsen T, Moran JV, Mulder N, Pollara VJ, Ponting CP, Schuler G, Schultz J, Slater G, Smit AF, Stupka E, Szustakowki J, Thierry-Mieg D, Thierry-Mieg J, Wagner L, Wallis J, Wheeler R, Williams A, Wolf YI, Wolfe KH, Yang SP, Yeh RF, Collins F, Guyer MS, Peterson J,

Felsenfeld A, Wetterstrand KA, Patrinos A, Morgan MJ, de Jong P, Catanese JJ, Osoegawa K, Shizuya H, Choi S, Chen YJ, Szustakowki J; International Human Genome Sequencing Consortium. *Nature* **2001**, *409*. 860-921.

(2) Venter, J. C.; Adams, M. D.; Myers, E. W.; Li, P. W.; Mural, R. J.; Sutton, G. G.; Smith, H. O.; Yandell, M.; Evans, C. A.; Holt, R. A.; Gocayne, J. D.; Amanatides, P.; Ballew, R. M.; Huson, D. H.; Wortman, J. R.; Zhang, Q.; Kodira, C. D.; Zheng, X. H.; Chen, L.; Skupski, M.; Subramanian, G.; Thomas, P. D.; Zhang, J.; Gabor Miklos, G. L.; Nelson, C.; Broder, S.; Clark, A. G.; Nadeau, J.; McKusick, V. A.; Zinder, N.; Levine, A. J.; Roberts, R. J.; Simon, M.; Slayman, C.; Hunkapiller, M.; Bolanos, R.; Delcher, A.; Dew, I.; Fasulo, D.; Flanigan, M.; Florea, L.; Halpern, A.; Hannenhalli, S.; Kravitz, S.; Levy, S.; Mobarry, C.; Reinert, K.; Remington, K.; Abu-Threideh, J.; Beasley, E.; Biddick, K.; Bonazzi, V.; Brandon, R.; Cargill, M.; Chandramouliswaran, I.; Charlab, R.; Chaturvedi, K.; Deng, Z.; Francesco, V. D.; Dunn, P.; Eilbeck, K.; Evangelista, C.; Gabrielian, A. E.; Gan, W.; Ge, W.; Gong, F.; Gu, Z.; Guan, P.; Heiman, T. J.; Higgins, M. E.; Ji, R.-R.; Ke, Z.; Ketchum, K. A.; Lai, Z.; Lei, Y.; Li, Z.; Li, J.; Liang, Y.; Lin, X.; Lu, F.; Merkulov, G. V.; Milshina, N.; Moore, H. M.; Naik, A. K.; Narayan, V. A.; Neelam, B.; Nusskern, D.; Rusch, D. B.; Salzberg, S.; Shao, W.; Shue, B.; Sun, J.; Wang, Z. Y.; Wang, A.; Wang, X.; Wang, J.; Wei, M.-H.; Wides, R.; Xiao, C.; Yan, C.; Yao, A.; Ye, J.; Zhan, M.; Zhang, W.; Zhang, H.; Zhao, Q.; Zheng, L.; Zhong, F.; Zhong, W.; Zhu, S. C.; Zhao, S.; Gilbert, D.; Baumhueter, S.; Spier, G.; Carter, C.; Cravchik, A.; Woodage, T.; Ali, F.; An, H.; Awe, A.; Baldwin, D.; Baden, H.; Barnstead, M.; Barrow, I.; Beeson, K.; Busam, D.; Carver, A.; Center, A.; Cheng, M. L.; Curry, L.; Danaher, S.; Davenport, L.; Desilets, R.; Dietz, S.; Dodson, K.; Doup, L.; Ferriera, S.; Garg, N.; Gluecksmann, A.; Hart, B.; Haynes, J.; Haynes, C.; Heiner, C.; Hladun, S.; Hostin, D.; Houck, J.; Howland, T.; Ibegwam, C.; Johnson, J.; Kalush, F.; Kline, L.; Koduru, S.; Love, A.; Mann, F.; May, D.; McCawley, S.; McIntosh, T.; McMullen, I.; Moy, M.; Moy, L.; Murphy, B.; Nelson, K.; Pfannkoch, C.; Pratts, E.; Puri, V.; Qureshi, H.; Reardon, M.; Rodriguez, R.; Rogers, Y.-H.; Romblad, D.; Ruhfel, B.; Scott, R.; Sitter, C.; Smallwood, M.; Stewart, E.; Strong, R.; Suh, E.; Thomas, R.; Tint, N. N.; Tse, S.; Vech, C.; Wang, G.; Wetter, J.; Williams, S.; Williams, M.; Windsor, S.; Winn-Deen, E.; Wolfe, K.; Zaveri, J.; Zaveri, K.; Abril, J. F.; Guigó, R.; Campbell, M. J.; Sjolander, K. V.; Karlak, B.; Kejariwal, A.; Mi, H.; Lazareva, B.; Hatton, T.; Narechania, A.; Diemer, K.; Muruganujan, A.; Guo, N.; Sato, S.; Bafna, V.; Istrail, S.; Lippert, R.; Schwartz, R.; Walenz, B.; Yooseph, S.; Allen, D.; Basu, A.; Baxendale, J.; Blick, L.; Caminha, M.; Carnes-Stine, J.; Caulk, P.; Chiang, Y.-H.; Coyne, M.; Dahlke, C.; Mays, A. D.; Dombroski, M.; Donnelly, M.; Ely, D.; Esparham,

S.; Fosler, C.; Gire, H.; Glanowski, S.; Glasser, K.; Glodek, A.; Gorokhov, M.; Graham, K.;
Gropman, B.; Harris, M.; Heil, J.; Henderson, S.; Hoover, J.; Jennings, D.; Jordan, C.; Jordan,
J.; Kasha, J.; Kagan, L.; Kraft, C.; Levitsky, A.; Lewis, M.; Liu, X.; Lopez, J.; Ma, D.; Majoros,
W.; McDaniel, J.; Murphy, S.; Newman, M.; Nguyen, T.; Nguyen, N.; Nodell, M.; Pan, S.; Peck,
J.; Peterson, M.; Rowe, W.; Sanders, R.; Scott, J.; Simpson, M.; Smith, T.; Sprague, A.;
Stockwell, T.; Turner, R.; Venter, E.; Wang, M.; Wen, M.; Wu, D.; Wu, M.; Xia, A.; Zandieh,
A.; Zhu, X., *Science* 2001, 291, 1304-1351.

(3) Black, D. L. Annu. Rev. Biochem 2003, 72, 291-336.

- (4) Maniatis, T.; Tasic, B. Nature 2002, 418, 236-243.
- (5) Walsh, C. T.; Garneau-Tsodikova, S.; Gatto, G. J. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2005, 44, 7342-7372.
- (6) van Kasteren, S. Biochem. Soc. Trans. 2012, 40, 929-944.
- (7) Apweiler, R.; Hermjakob, H.; Sharon, N. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1999, 1473, 4-8.
- (8) Dwek, R. A. Chem. Rev. 1996, 96, 683-720.
- (9) Varki, A. Glycobiology 1993, 3, 97-130.
- (10) Bertozzi, C. R.; Kiessling; L., L. Science 2001, 291, 2357-2364.
- (11) Rudd, P. M.; Elliott, T.; Cresswell, P.; Wilson, I. A.; Dwek, R. A. Science 2001, 291, 2370-2376.
- (12) Helenius, A.; Markus, A. Science 2001, 291, 2364-2369.
- (13) Ellgaard, L.; Helenius, A. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2003, 4, 181-91.
- (14) Taguchi, T.; Ogawa, T.; Inoue, S.; Inoue, Y.; Sakamoto, Y.; Korekane, H.; Taniguchi, N. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2000**, *275*, 32598-602.
- (15) Raju, T. S.; Stanley, P. J. Biol. Chem. 1998, 273, 14090-8.
- (16) Brockhausen, I.; Narasimhan, S.; Schachter, H. Biochimie 1988, 70, 1521-1533.
- (17) Schauer, R., Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1973, 12, 127-138.
- (18) Krantz, S. Blood 1991, 77, 419-434.
- (19) DORDAL, M. S.; WANG, F. F.; GOLDWASSER, E. Endocrinology **1985**, *116*, 2293-2299.
- (20) Rahbek-Nielsen, H.; Roepstorff, P.; Reischl, H.; Wozny, M.; Koll, H.; Haselbeck, A. J. Mass Spectrom. **1997**, *32*, 948-58.
- (21) Kagawa, Y.; Takasaki, S.; Utsumi, J.; Hosoi, K.; Shimizu, H.; Kochibe, N.; Kobata, A. J. Biol. Chem. **1988**, 263, 17508-15.
- (22) Yamashita, K.; Ideo, H.; Ohkura, T.; Fukushima, K.; Yuasa, I.; Ohno, K.; Takeshita, K. J.

Biol. Chem. 1993, 268, 5783-9.

(23) Matsumoto, A.; Yoshima, H.; Takasaki, S.; Kobata, A. J. Biochem. (Tokyo), **1982**, 91 (1), 143-155.

(24) Saito, T.; Miyoshi, E.; Sasai, K.; Nakano, N.; Eguchi, H.; Honke, K.; Taniguchi, N. J. Biol. Chem. 2002, 277, 17002-8.

(25) Dennis, J. W.; Laferte, S.; Waghorne, C.; Breitman, M. L.; Kerbel, R. S. Science **1987**, 236, 582-5.

(26) Endo, Y.; Yamashita, K.; Tachibana, Y.; Tojo, S.; Kobata, A. J. Biochem. (Tokyo), 1979, 85, 669-679.

(27) Mizuochi, T.; Nishimura, R.; Derappe, C.; Taniguchi, T.; Hamamoto, T.; Mochizuki, M.; Kobata, A. *J. Biol. Chem.* **1983**, *258*, 14126-9.

(28) Rudd, P. M.; Dwek, R. A. Crit. Rev. Biochem. Mol. Biol. 1997, 32, 1-100.

(29) Rademacher, T. W.; Parekh, R. B.; Dwek, R. A. Annu. Rev. Biochem 1988, 57, 785-838.

(30) Lis, H.; Sharon, N. Eur. J. Biochem. 1993, 218, 1-27.

(31) Anderson, N. L.; Anderson, N. G. Molecular & Cellular Proteomics 2002, 1, 845-867.

(32) Kajihara, Y.; Suzuki, Y.; Yamamoto, N.; Sasaki, K.; Sakakibara, T.; Juneja, L. R. *Chem. – Eur. J.* **2004**, *10*, 971-85.

(33) Seko, A.; Koketsu, M.; Nishizono, M.; Enoki, Y.; Ibrahim, H. R.; Juneja, L. R.; Kim, M.; Yamamoto, T. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta, Gen. Subj.* **1997**, *1335*, 23-32.

(34) Unverzagt, C.; Kajihara, Y. Chem. Soc. Rev. 2013, 42, 4408-20.

(35) Okamoto, R.; Izumi, M.; Kajihara, Y. Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol. 2014, 22, 92-99.

(36) Fukase, K.; Tanaka, K. Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol. 2012, 16, 614-621.

(37) Meinjohanns, E.; Meldal, M.; Paulsen, H.; A. Dwek, R.; Bock, K. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1998, 3, 549-560.

(38) Takahashi, N. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 1977, 76, 1194-1201.

(39) Suzuki, T.; Park, H.; Lennarz, W. J. FASEB J. 2002, 16, 635-641.

(40) Plummer, T. H.; Elder, J. H.; Alexander, S.; Phelan, A. W.; Tarentino, A. L. J. Biol. Chem. **1984**, 259, 10700-10704.

(41) Suzuki, T. Sem. Cell Dev. Biol. 2007, 18, 762-769.

(42) Shiro, A.; Ko, O.; Kozo, N. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1952, 25, 214-218.

(43) Hase, S.; Ikenaka, T.; Matsushima, Y. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 1978, 85, 257-263.

(44) Hakomori, S.-I. J. Biochem. (Tokyo), 1964, 55, 205-208.

- (45) Lindberg, B. Methods Enzymol. 1972, 28, 178-195.
- (46) Kajihara, Y.; Sato, H. Trends Glycosc. Glycotechnol. 2003, 15, 197-220.
- (47) Sato, H.; Fukae, K.; Kajihara, Y. Carbohydr. Res. 2008, 343, 1333-45.
- (48) Sato, H.; Kajihara, Y. Carbohydr. Res. 2005, 340, 469-79.
- (49) Wyss, D.; Choi, J.; Li, J.; Knoppers, M.; Willis, K.; Arulanandam, A.; Smolyar, A.;
- Reinherz, E.; Wagner, G. Science 1995, 269, 1273-1278.
- (50) Canales, A.; Mallagaray, A.; Pérez-Castells, J.; Boos, I.; Unverzagt, C.; André, S.; Gabius,
- H.-J.; Cañada, F. J.; Jiménez-Barbero, J. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2013, 52, 13789-13793.
- (51) Yamaguchi, T.; Sakae, Y.; Zhang, Y.; Yamamoto, S.; Okamoto, Y.; Kato, K. Angew.
- Chem., Int. Ed. 2014, 53, 10941-10944.
- (52) Paulsen, H. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1982, 21, 155-173.
- (53) Zhu, X.; Schmidt, R. R. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 2009, 48, 1900-34.
- (54) Toshima, K.; Tatsuta, K. Chem. Rev. 1993, 93, 1503-1531.
- (55) Kaeothip, S.; Demchenko, A. V. Carbohydr. Res. 2011, 346, 1371-88.
- (56) Bohé, L.; Crich, D. Carbohydr. Res. 2015, 403, 48-59.
- (57) Huang, M.; Garrett, G. E.; Birlirakis, N.; Bohé, L.; Pratt, D. A.; Crich, D. *Nat Chem* **2012**, *4*, 663-667.
- (58) Fischer, E. Chem. Ber. 1893, 26, 2400-2412.
- (59) Koenigs, W.; Knorr, E. Chem. Ber. 1901, 34, 957-981.
- (60) Schmidt, R. R.; Michel, J. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1980, 19, 731-732.
- (61) Schmidt, R. R. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1986, 25, 212-235.
- (62) Yu, B.; Tao, H. Tetrahedron Lett. 2001, 42, 2405-2407.
- (63) Fügedi, P.; Garegg, P. J.; Lönn, H.; Norberg, T. Glycoconjugate J. 1987, 4, 97-108.
- (64) Boons, G. J.; Demchenko, A. V. Chem. Rev. 2000, 100, 4539-66.
- (65) Hasegawa, A.; Nagahama, T.; Ohki, H.; Hotta, K.; Ishida, H.; Kiso, M. J. Carbohydr. Chem. **1991**, *10*, 493-498.
- (66) Kanie, O.; Kiso, M.; Hasegawa, A., J. Carbohydr. Chem. 1988, 7, 501-506.
- (67) Hasegawa, A.; Ohki, H.; Nagahama, T.; Ishida, H.; Kiso, M. *Carbohydr. Res.* **1991**, *212*, 277-281.
- (68) Ito, Y.; Ogawa, T. Tetrahedron Lett. 1987, 28, 6221-6224.
- (69) Kanie, O.; Ogawa, T.; Ito, Y. J. Synth. Org. Chem., Jpn. 1998, 56, 952-962.
- (70) De Meo, C.; Priyadarshani, U. Carbohydr. Res. 2008, 343, 1540-1552.
- (71) Barresi, F.; Hindsgaul, O. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 9376-9377.

- (72) Stork, G.; Kim, G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 1087-1088.
- (73) Ito, Y.; Ogawa, T. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1994, 33, 1765-1767.
- (74) Crich, D.; Sun, S. J. Org. Chem. 1996, 61, 4506-4507.
- (75) Crich, D.; Sun, S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 435-436.
- (76) Crich, D.; Sun, S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 11217-11223.
- (77) Murase, T.; Ishida, H.; Kiso, M.; Hasegawa, A. Carbohydr. Res. 1988, 184, c1-c4.
- (78) Murase, T.; Ishida, H.; Kiso, M.; Hasegawa, A. Carbohydr. Res. 1989, 188, 71-80.
- (79) Ito, Y.; Ogawa, T. Tetrahedron Lett. 1988, 29, 3987-3990.
- (80) Ito, Y.; Ogawa, T. Tetrahedron 1990, 46, 89-102.
- (81) Sabesan, S.; Paulson, J. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986, 108, 2068-2080.
- (82) Toone, E. J.; Simon, E. S.; Bednarski, M. D.; Whitesides, G. M. Tetrahedron 1989, 45, 5365-5422.
- (83) Izumi, M.; Wong, C.-H. Trends Glycosc. Glycotechnol. 2001, 13 (72), 345-360.
- (84) Yamamoto, T.; Takakura, Y.; Tsukamoto, H. Trends Glycosc. Glycotechnol. 2006, 18, 253-265.
- (85) Palcic, M. M. Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol. 2011, 15, 226-33.
- (86) Ogawa, T.; Sugimoto, M.; Kitajima, T.; Sadozai, K. K.; Nukada, T. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1986**, *27*, 5739-5742.
- (87) Seifert, J.; Lergenmüller, M.; Ito, Y. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2000, 39, 531-534.
- (88) Wu, B.; Hua, Z.; Warren, J. D.; Ranganathan, K.; Wan, Q.; Chen, G.; Tan, Z.; Chen, J.; Endo, A.; Danishefsky, S. J. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2006**, *47*, 5577-5579.
- (89) Wang, P.; Zhu, J.; Yuan, Y.; Danishefsky, S. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2009, 131, 16669-71.
- (90) Eller, S.; Schuberth, R.; Gundel, G.; Seifert, J.; Unverzagt, C. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. **2007**, *46*, 4173-4175.
- (91) Unverzagt, C.; Gundel, G.; Eller, S.; Schuberth, R.; Seifert, J.; Weiss, H.; Niemietz, M.; Pischl, M.; Raps, C. Chem. Eur. J. 2009, 15, 12292-302.
- (92) Walczak, M. A.; Danishefsky, S. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2012, 134, 16430-3.
- (93) Walczak, M. A.; Hayashida, J.; Danishefsky, S. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2013, 135, 4700-3.
- (94) Shivatare, S. S.; Chang, S. H.; Tsai, T. I.; Ren, C. T.; Chuang, H. Y.; Hsu, L.; Lin, C. W.;
- Li, S. T.; Wu, C. Y.; Wong, C. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2013, 135, 15382-91.
- (95) Shivatare, S. S.; Chang, S.-H.; Tsai, T.-I.; Tseng, S. Y.; Shivatare, V. S.; Lin, Y.-S.; Cheng,
- Y.-Y.; Ren, C.-T.; Lee, C.-C. D.; Pawar, S.; Tsai, C.-S.; Shih, H.-W.; Zeng, Y.-F.; Liang, C.-H.;
- Kwong, P. D.; Burton, D. R.; Wu, C.-Y.; Wong, C.-H. Nat Chem 2016, 8, 338-346.

- (96) Wang, Z.; Chinoy, Z. S.; Ambre, S. G.; Peng, W.; McBride, R.; de Vries, R. P.; Glushka, J.; Paulson, J. C.; Boons, G. J. *Science* 2013, *341*, 379-83.
- (97) Perrine, C. L.; Ganguli, A.; Wu, P.; Bertozzi, C. R.; Fritz, T. A.; Raman, J.; Tabak, L. A.; Gerken, T. A. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2009**, *284*, 20387-20397.
- (98) Wang, D.; Liu, S.; Trummer, B. J.; Deng, C.; Wang, A. Nat Biotech 2002, 20, 275-281.
- (99) Stevens, J.; Blixt, O.; Paulson, J. C.; Wilson, I. A. Nat Rev Micro 2006, 4, 857-864.
- (100) Paulson, J. C.; Blixt, O.; Collins, B. E. Nat. Chem. Biol. 2006, 2, 238-48.
- (101) Okamoto, R.; Mandal, K.; Ling, M.; Luster, A. D.; Kajihara, Y.; Kent, S. B. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 2014, 53, 5188-5193.
- (102) Murakami, M.; Kiuchi, T.; Nishihara, M.; Tezuka, K.; Okamoto, R.; Izumi, M.; Kajihara,
- Y., Sci. Adv. 2016, 2, e1500678.
- (103) Merrifield, R. B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1963, 85, 2149-2154.
- (104) Isidro-Llobet, A.; Álvarez, M.; Albericio, F. Chem. Rev. 2009, 109, 2455-2504.
- (105) Carpino, L. A.; Han, G. Y. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1970, 92, 5748-5749.
- (106) Fields, G. B.; Noble, R. L. Int. J. Pept. Protein Res. 1990, 35, 161-214.
- (107) Blanco-Canosa, J. B.; Dawson, P. E. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2008, 47, 6851-6855.
- (108) Merrifield, B., Solid phase synthesis. Scienc 1986, 232, 341-347.
- (109) Haack, T.; Mutter, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1992, 33, 1589-1592.
- (110) Sohma, Y.; Sasaki, M.; Hayashi, Y.; Kimura, T.; Kiso, Y. Chem. Commun. 2004, 1, 124-125.
- (111) Pedersen, S. L.; Tofteng, A. P.; Malik, L.; Jensen, K. J. Chem. Soc. Rev. 2012, 41, 1826-1844.
- (112) Simon, M. D.; Heider, P. L.; Adamo, A.; Vinogradov, A. A.; Mong, S. K.; Li, X.; Berger,
- T.; Policarpo, R. L.; Zhang, C.; Zou, Y.; Liao, X.; Spokoyny, A. M.; Jensen, K. F.; Pentelute, B. L. *ChemBioChem* **2014**, *15*, 713-720.
- (113) Dawson, P.; Muir, T.; Clark-Lewis, I.; Kent, S. Science 1994, 266, 776-779.
- (114) Schnölzer, M.; Alewood, P.; Jones, A.; Alewood, D.; Kent, S. B. H. *Int. J. Pept. Res. Ther.* **2007**, *13*, 31-44.
- (115) Hackeng, T. M.; Griffin, J. H.; Dawson, P. E. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 1999, 96, 10068-10073.
- (116) Johnson, E. C. B.; Kent, S. B. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2006, 128, 6640-6646.
- (117) Kent, S. B. H. Chem. Soc. Rev. 2009, 38, 338-351.
- (118) Raibaut, L.; Ollivier, N.; Melnyk, O. Chem. Soc. Rev. 2012, 41, 7001-7015.

- (119) Yan, L. Z.; Dawson, P. E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 526-533.
- (120) Wan, Q.; Danishefsky, S. J. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2007, 46, 9248-9252.
- (121) Pentelute, B. L.; Kent, S. B. H. Org. Lett. 2007, 9, 687-690.
- (122) Crich, D.; Banerjee, A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2007, 129, 10064-10065.
- (123) Chen, J.; Wan, Q.; Yuan, Y.; Zhu, J.; Danishefsky, S. J. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2008, 47, 8521-8524.
- (124) Thompson, R. E.; Chan, B.; Radom, L.; Jolliffe, K. A.; Payne, R. J. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2013, 52, 9723-9727.
- (125) Morishita, Y.; Kaino, T.; Okamoto, R.; Izumi, M.; Kajihara, Y. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2015**, *56*, 6565-6568.
- (126) Bang, D.; Pentelute, B. L.; Kent, S. B. H. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2006, 45, 3985-3988.
- (127) Okamoto, R.; Morooka, K.; Kajihara, Y. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2012, 51, 191-196.
- (128) Fang, G.-M.; Li, Y.-M.; Shen, F.; Huang, Y.-C.; Li, J.-B.; Lin, Y.; Cui, H.-K.; Liu, L. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2011**, *50*, 7645-7649.
- (129) Zheng, J.-S.; Tang, S.; Qi, Y.-K.; Wang, Z.-P.; Liu, L. Nat. Protocols 2013, 8, 2483-2495.
- (130) Yamamoto, N.; Tanabe, Y.; Okamoto, R.; Dawson, P. E.; Kajihara, Y. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2008**, *130*, 501-10.
- (131) Yamamoto, N.; Takayanagi, A.; Yoshino, A.; Sakakibara, T.; Kajihara, Y. *Chem. Eur. J.* **2007**, *13*, 613-25.
- (132) Murakami, M.; Okamoto, R.; Izumi, M.; Kajihara, Y. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 2012, 51, 3567-72.
- (133) Yamamoto, N.; Takayanagi, A.; Sakakibara, T.; Dawson, P. E.; Kajihara, Y. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2006**, *47*, 1341-1346.
- (134) Anisfeld, S. T.; Lansbury, P. T. J. Org. Chem. 1990, 55, 5560-5562.
- (135) Cohen-Anisfeld, S. T.; Lansbury, P. T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 10531-10537.
- (136) Likhosherstov, L. M.; Novikova, O. S.; Derevitskaja, V. A.; Kochetkov, N. K. *Carbohydr. Res.* **1986**, *146*, C1-C5.
- (137) Ullmann, V.; Rädisch, M.; Boos, I.; Freund, J.; Pöhner, C.; Schwarzinger, S.; Unverzagt, C. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2012, 51, 11566-11570.
- (138) Wang, P.; Aussedat, B.; Vohra, Y.; Danishefsky, S. J. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2012, 51, 11571-11575.
- (139) Yamamoto, K. J.; Kadowaki, S.; Watanabe, J.; Kumagai, H. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 1994, 203, 244-252.

- (140) Mizuno, M.; Haneda, K.; Iguchi, R.; Muramoto, I.; Kawakami, T.; Aimoto, S.; Yamamoto, K.; Inazu, T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1999**, *121*, 284-290.
- (141) Jakeman, D. L.; Withers, S. G. Trends Glycosc. Glycotechnol. 2002, 14, 13-25.
- (142) Rich, J. R.; Withers, S. G. Nat. Chem. Biol. 2009, 5, 206-215.
- (143) Witte, K.; Sears, P.; Martin, R.; Wong, C.-H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 2114-2118.
- (144) Wang, L.-X.; Davis, B. G. Chem. Sci. 2013, 4, 3381-3394.
- (145) Giddens, J. P.; Lomino, J. V.; Amin, M. N.; Wang, L.-X. J. Biol. Chem. 2016, 291, 9356-9370.
- (146) Parsons, T. B.; Struwe, W. B.; Gault, J.; Yamamoto, K.; Taylor, T. A.; Raj, R.; Wals, K.;
- Mohammed, S.; Robinson, C. V.; Benesch, J. L. P.; Davis, B. G. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2016, 55, 2361-2367.
- (147) Wang, N.; Seko, A.; Daikoku, S.; Kanie, O.; Takeda, Y.; Ito, Y. *Carbohydr. Res.* 2016, 436, 31-35.
- (148) Makimura, Y.; Kiuchi, T.; Izumi, M.; Dedola, S.; Ito, Y.; Kajihara, Y., *Carbohydr. Res.* **2012**, *364*, 41-8.
- (149) Kirschning, A.; Hahn, F., Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2012, 51, 4012-4022.
- (150) Altmann, K.-H.; Gaugaz, F.; Schiess, R. Mol. Divers. 2011, 15, 383-399.
- (151) Kumar H. V, R.; Naruchi, K.; Miyoshi, R.; Hinou, H.; Nishimura, S.-I. Org. Lett. 2013, 15, 6278-6281.
- (152) Lopin, C.; Jacquinet, J.-C. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2006, 45, 2574-2578.
- (153) Vibert, A.; Lopin-Bon, C.; Jacquinet, J.-C. Chem. Eur. J. 2009, 15, 9561-9578.
- (154) Kurita, K.; Matsumura, Y.; Takahara, H.; Hatta, K.; Shimojoh, M. *Biomacromolecules* **2011**, *12*, 2267-2274.
- (155) Laezza, A.; Iadonisi, A.; Castro, C. D.; De Rosa, M.; Schiraldi, C.; Parrilli, M.; Bedini, E., *Biomacromolecules* **2015**, *16*, 2237-2245.

Chapter 2

Semisynthesis of Intact Complex-Type Triantennary Oligosaccharides from a Biantennary Oligosaccharide Isolated from a Natural Source

2-1. Introduction of Chapter 2

To synthesize complex-type triantennary oligosaccharides, I envisioned that biantennary asialononasaccharide could be used as a starting material. As described in the introduction of this thesis, efficient chemical synthetic methods are required, especially when the target oligosaccharide consists of over 10 monosaccharides. Practical and prompt preparation of complex-type triantennary oligosaccharides without repetitive glycosylation reactions was designed by an unprecedented semisynthetic strategy using a nonasaccharide as a scaffold.



Figure 2-1. Structures of the desired complex-type triantennary oligosaccharides

2-2. Protection of Asn-linked biantennary asialononasaccharide

The synthesis began with the sequential selective protection of 24 hydroxy groups of asialononasaccharide **3**, which was prepared from hen egg yolk as previously reported (experimental section).¹ A specific hydroxy group needs to be retained by selectively protecting other hydroxy groups, thus allowing the conversion of oligosaccharide **3** into suitable glycosyl acceptors. Such acceptors can then be used for a glycosylation reaction in order to yield a triantennary oligosaccharide.



Figure 2-2. Structure of an isolated complex-type biantennary asialononasaccharide linked with Fmoc-protected asparagine

First, I examined the selective protection of primary hydroxy groups, but these attempts were not successful because of the low solubility of **3** in organic solvents and the similar reactivities of the many hydroxy groups of the molecule. Trityl, *tert*-butyldimethylsilyl, and *tert*-butyldiphenylsilyl groups were tested for 6-OH protection (two examples are shown in Figures 2-3 and -4). When these reactions were conducted with a few equivalents of reagents to primary alcohols, the conditions did not yield suitable results. Although the most of the substrate remained as a precipitate, a small amount of the substrate dissolving into the solvent reacted with reagents and resulted in multiple products. Diluting the solvent did not improve the conditions. Furthermore, using an excess of reagents caused overprotection of the substrate dissolved in the solvent. As a result, I could not regulate any selective protection of primary and secondary hydroxy groups among the 24 hydroxy groups.



Figure 2-3. Monitoring of silvlation of **3**. To a solution of Asn-linked biantennary asialononasaccharide **3** (9.8 mg, 5 μ mol) in DMF (1.0 mL) were added imidazole (20 μ mol) and TBDPSCl (25 mmol). The reaction mixture was stirred at rt. However, reaction did not proceed. After 12 hours, TBDPSCl (25 μ mol) was added again to the mixture, followed by further addition of TBDPSCl (193 μ mol). This reaction found to give multiple products as shown in HPLC chromatograms.



Figure 2-4. Monitoring of tritylation of **3**. To a solution of Asn-linked biantennary asialononasaccharide **3** (10 mg, 5 μ mol) in DMF (630 μ L) were added ^{*i*}Pr₂NEt (25 μ mol) and TrCl (25 μ mol). The reaction mixture was stirred at rt. This reaction yielded over 5 derivatives as shown in the chromatogram, and therefore I did not use this protection for the synthesis of triantennary oligosaccharides. *This peak is not an oligosaccharide peak.

Next, I examined selective protections with benzylidene acetal toward the primary 6-OH and secondary 4-OH groups of both $Man_{d,g}$ and $Gal_{f,i}$ of oligosaccharide **3**. After extensive optimization of the reaction conditions, the desired tetrabenzylidene derivative **4** was successfully obtained. The hydroxy groups of Man_d -6-OH and Man_g -4-OH were found to be protected by benzylidene acetals as shown in Scheme 2-1 and Figures 2-5 and -8. Thus, the resulting product could be used for future glycosylation at the Man_d -6-OH and Man_g -4-OH. The benzylidenation reaction usually promotes an equilibrium state, giving a thermodynamically stable product with the protection of a specific 1,3-diol among multiple hydroxy groups. Even benzylidenation of a monosaccharide sometimes causes (S)- or (R)-stereoisomers at a benzyl positions and regioisomers such as protection of 1,2-diol system. In terms of benzylidenation of oligosaccharide **3**, some isomers that show same m/z to the desired product were found in LC-MS analysis. These compounds are thought to be regio- or/and stereoisomers. Then, I employed the resultant product for the next reaction just after ether precipitation.

Scheme 2-1



Reagents and conditions: (i) PhCH(OMe)₂, CSA, DMF, rt, 17 h. (ii) 2-bromoacetophenone, ^{*i*}Pr₂NEt, DMF, rt, 3 h. (iii) Ac₂O/piridine (1:1), DMAP, rt, 3 h, 18% (over three steps).

Subsequent phenacyl esterification of the carboxylic acid in the asparagine moiety followed by peracetylation of residual hydroxy groups afforded fully protected oligosaccharide **5** (*Scheme 2-1*) in 18% yield over the three steps. In order to determine the positions of the benzylidene acetals, two-dimensional (2D) NMR experiments were performed, and the heteronuclear single-quantum coherence (HSQC) signals were successfully assigned as shown in Figure 2-6b. In addition, HSQC and the heteronuclear multiple-bond correlation (HMBC) spectra of oligosaccharide **5** are shown in Figure 2-6c. HMBC correlation signals between the benzyl protons of the benzylidene acetals and C-4 and C-6 of Gal_{f,i} were clearly observed. Similar correlation signals were found in Man_{d,g} as well. These correlation patterns indicated that the benzylidene acetals were exclusively introduced at the 4- and 6-OH of Gal_{f,i} and Man_{d,g}.



Figure 2-5. (a) RP-HPLC profiles of crude tetra-benzylidene derivative **4** after completion of the benzylidene acetalation. (b) RP-HPLC profile of crude acetate **5** after acetylation of **4**. (c) RP-HPLC profile and ESI-MS spectrum of purified acetate **5**. *Aspartimide byproduct was observed as 1.6% area on HPLC analysis. This aspartimide formation occurred either right after HPLC purification or during HPLC analysis. Adapted with permission from *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2016**, *138*, 3461. Copyright 2017 American Chemical Society.



Figure 2-6. (a) Structure of fully protected oligosaccharide **5**. The observed HMBC correlation signals are shown by red arrows. (b) The assigned HSQC spectrum of **5**. (c) Selected regions of the HMBC (left square) and HSQC (right square) spectra of **5**. HMBC correlation signals between the benzyl protons of the benzylidene acetals and C-4 and C-6 were observed in $Man_{d,g}$, and similar correlation signals were also confirmed in $Gal_{f,i}$.

In terms of the phenacyl ester of asparagine, this ester was found to form a cyclic product (aspartimide) via nucleophilic attack of the *N*-glycosylated side-chain nitrogen under basic conditions and upon purification with ammonium acetate buffer (Figure 2-5c and -7). This aspartimide formation was also observed during glycopeptide syntheses using oligosaccharyl asparagine derivatives.² To prevent this side reaction, the fractions of purified oligosaccharide **5** were kept on ice during the HPLC purification step and were then lyophilized as soon as possible. Moreover, I took care to keep the reaction from strongly basic conditions in order to prevent undesired aspartimide formation.



Figure 2-7. Nucleophilic attack of the nitrogen in *N*-glycoside to give an undesired aspartimide product.

In addition to the protection protocol yielding oligosaccharide **5**, in which $\operatorname{Gal}_{f,i}$ and $\operatorname{Man}_{d,g}$ were protected with benzylidene acetals, I also examined the selective protection of only $\operatorname{Man}_{d,g}$ with benzylidene acetals in order to yield suitable glycosyl acceptors. I conducted this step because the third Gal- β -1,4-GlcNAc antenna links with Man_d-6-OH or Man_g-4-OH in the target triantennary oligosaccharides **1** and **2**, but I could not find any selective protection protocol toward Man_d and Man_g residues. Multiple products were formed during benzylidenation of **3** (Figure 2-8).



Figure 2-8. Kinetic benzylidenation of oligosaccharide **3**. (a) Time-dependent RP-UltraFast-HPLC chromatograms (low resolution) monitoring the benzylidenation reaction. This reaction was conducted with CSA (5 equiv) and benzaldehyde dimethyl acetal (20 equiv) at 37 °C. (b) A typical HPLC profile of benzylidenation reaction with high resolution. The conversion yield of desired tetrabenzylidene derivative **4** is 50-70% based on the peak areas of the HPLC chromatogram. *MS analysis suggested that this side-product might be regio- or stereoisomers of benzylidene derivatives, but the structures were not determined furthermore. Adapted with permission from *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2016**, *138*, 3461. Copyright 2017 American Chemical Society.

2-3. Selective deprotection of fully protected oligosaccharide 5

Therefore, I examined the selective deprotection of benzylidene acetals of fully protected oligosaccharide 5 in order to convert it into suitable acceptors for the syntheses of triantennary oligosaccharides. During the extensive investigation of the selective removal of benzylidene groups, I found that the two benzylidene acetals of the Mand, residues are prone to deprotection in comparison with those of the Gal_{fi} residues under mild acidic conditions. This selectivity will be further discussed in Chapter 3. This unexpected finding enabled me to obtain biantennary oligosaccharyl acceptors 6 and 7 that were suitable for the semisyntheses of triantennary oligosaccharides 1 and 2, respectively (Figure 2-9). As shown in Figure 2-9b, this deprotection of the benzylidene groups in the mannosides gradually proceeded under the optimized conditions using 60% aqueous acetic acid. The increase of two tribenzylidene derivatives (peaks B and C) and concomitant decrease of tetrabenzylidene derivative 5 (peak A) were observed by HPLC/mass spectrometry. When reaction time was extended, all four benzylidene acetals were removed. The maximum conversion yield of a mixture of two tribenzylidene derivatives was found to be 46% based on the peak areas of the HPLC chromatogram, and individual isomers were isolated in yields ranging from 9 to 17% for 6 (peak B, 12% on average), and from 13 to 23% for 7 (peak C, 17% on average) by reversed-phase HPLC (RP- HPLC).

In order to confirm which hydroxy groups were made free under acidic removal of a benzylidene acetal, the structures of these two isomers (peaks B and C) were individually determined by 2D NMR experiments (Figures 2-10 and -11). According to these NMR assignments, I concluded that the structures corresponding to peaks B and C were tribenzylidene derivatives 6 and 7, respectively (Figure 2-9, -10, and -11). I also checked for the possibility of acetyl migration to the newly formed hydroxy groups under these acidic conditions, because the migration is sometimes observed even in the case of monosaccharides. On the basis of NMR and HPLC analyses, I concluded that acetyl rearrangement did not occur.

Chapter 2



Figure 2-9. (a) Removal of benzylidene acetals of 5 to give partially debenzylidenated products 6, 7, and 8. Man_g -6-OH of diol 7 was further protected with BzCN in CH_2Cl_2 to afford glycosyl acceptor 9 (48%). (b) Typical time-dependent HPLC chromatograms to monitor the selective debenzylidenation reaction.

Chapter 2



Figure 2-10. (a) The structure of acceptor **6** (peak B). The observed HMBC correlation signals are shown by red arrows. (b) HPLC profile and ESI-MS spectrum of purified **6**. *Aspartimide byproduct was observed as 1.4% area on HPLC analysis. This aspartimide occurred either right after HPLC purification or during HPLC analysis. (c) Assigned HSQC spectrum of **6**. (d) Selected regions of HSQC (right square) and HMBC (left square) spectra of **6**.

Chapter 2



Figure 2-11. (a) The structure of tribenzylidene 7 (peak C). The observed HMBC correlation signals are shown by red arrows. (b) HPLC profile and ESI-MS spectrum of purified 7. *Aspartimide byproduct was observed as 2.0% area on HPLC analysis. This aspartimide occurred either right after HPLC purification or during HPLC analysis. (c) Assigned HSQC spectrum of 7. (d) Selected regions of HSQC (right square) and HMBC (left square) spectra of 7.

For the synthesis of triantennary oligosaccharide **1**, I decided to use diol **6** as a glycosyl acceptor to examine selective glycosylation toward primary Man_d-6-OH, which is more reactive than Man_d-4-OH, but then, for the synthesis of triantennary oligosaccharide **2**, primary Man_g-6-OH in diol **7** was selectively benzoylated by treatment with BzCN to afford a 48% yield of glycosyl acceptor **9**, which has a free Man_g-4-OH hydroxy group. This structure was also confirmed by NMR experiments, in which I observed that the chemical shifts of H-6 and C-6 of Man_g changed due to the electron-withdrawing group, and HMBC spectrum shows a correlation signal between carbonyl carbon of Bz and H-6 of Man_g (Figure 2-12).

Chapter 2



Figure 2-12. (a) RP-HPLC profiles of the benzoylation reaction of **7**. (b) HPLC profile and ESI-MS spectrum of HPLC-purified benzoate **9**. *Aspartimide byproduct was observed as 1.8% area on HPLC analysis. This aspartimide formation occurred either right after HPLC purification or during HPLC analysis. (c) Assigned HSQC spectrum of **9**. (d) Selected regions of HMBC and HSQC spectra. Chemical shift of carbonyl carbon of benzoyl group was assigned at 167 ppm because this carbon shows correlations with aromatic *o*-protons. A HMBC correlation signal from carbonyl carbon of benzoyl group to H-6 of Mang was observed. HSQC signal of Mang-6 shows down field shift in terms of ¹H and ¹³C after benzoylation reaction.

2-4. Glycosylation reactions of the obtained acceptors

I then examined the glycosylation of suitably protected biantennary oligosaccharyl acceptors 6 and 9 with thioglycoside 10 (Scheme 2), which was prepared from lactose in eight steps via an azidonitration reaction (Scheme 3 and experimental section).³⁻⁶ The reactivity of the oligosaccharyl acceptor is thought to be low due to multiple electron-withdrawing groups, and reactivity of a glycosyl donor and an acceptor needs to be adjusted to make an efficient reaction. Thus, thioglycoside was considered to be the best donor compared with highly reactive glycosyl imidate donor. Donor 10 was prepared as shown in Scheme 3 and the detail of the synthesis is described in experimental section. For the synthesis of triantennary oligosaccharide 11, diol 6 was coupled with glycosyl donor 10 by TfOH/NIS activation. I found the best conditions to be acceptor 6 (5 mM in CH₂Cl₂) and excesses of donor 10 (10 equiv) and N-iodosuccinimide (NIS) (10 equiv) with a reaction time of 1 h at 0 °C. These conditions yielded the desired triantennary oligosaccharide 11 in 47% yield, while small amounts of byproducts, such as the diglycosylated product, were also observed. The formation of the diglycosylated product was accelerated when the amount of NIS was increased. In addition, this glycosylation reaction was prone to form the aspartimide derivative through intramolecular cyclization during the long reaction time. For example, using donor (2 equiv with respect to acceptor) and NIS (2 equiv with respect to donor) at -20 °C for 3.5 h did not complete the reaction and gave aspartimide (Figure 2-14). Moreover, in this reaction, I also observed another byproduct exhibiting the same mass as the desired product 11 by HPLC/MS analysis. This byproduct was thought to possibly be an α -linked isomer or a regioisomer, but because of its negligible amount, I could not isolate and assign this byproduct.

Contrary to the glycosylation of Man_d -6-OH for the synthesis of triantennary oligosaccharide 11, the glycosylation of 4-OH of Man_g for the synthesis of triantennary oligosaccharide 12 was slow (Scheme 2). Thioglycoside donor 10 was also used in this glycosylation reaction with TfOH/NIS activation. Although the desired triantennary oligosaccharide 12 was obtained, acceptor 9 (5 mM in CH₂Cl₂) still remained even when an excess of donor 10 (20 equiv) was employed and the reaction temperature was elevated to room temperature (Figure 2-13). Unreacted acceptor 9 was recovered during the purification step and used for the glycosylation reaction repeatedly. After optimization of this reaction, the desired triantennary oligosaccharide 12 was obtained in 44% yield after HPLC purification.




Reagents and conditions: (i) **10**, NIS, TfOH, CH₂Cl₂, 0 °C, 4A molecular sieves, 1 h, 47%. (ii) **10**, NIS, TfOH, CH₂Cl₂, 4A molecular sieves, 0 °C to rt, 2 h, 44%.

Scheme 3



Reagents and conditions. (i) Ac₂O, NaOAc, 140 °C, 2 h, 78 %. (ii) HBr/AcOH, 0 °C, 5 h. (iii) 50% AcOH, CuSO₄, Zn, 0-5 °C, 3 h, 92% (over two steps). (iv) CAN, NaN₃, CH₃CN, -15 °C, 15 h, 52% (α -gluco: β -gluco: α -manno = 1:2:1). (v) Et₄NCl, CH₃CN, rt, 15 h, 39%. (vi) Bu₄NHSO₄, PhSH, EtOAc/1 M Na₂CO₃, 40 °C, 2 h, 25%. (vii) AcOH, Zn, THF, rt, 30 m. (vii) triethylamine, TrocCl, THF, 0 °C to rt, 5 h, 35% (over two steps).

Chapter 2



Figure 2-13. (a) RP-HPLC profiles of the glycosylation reaction of **6**, starting materials (upper) and silica gel-purified material (bottom). (b) HPLC profile and ESI-MS spectrum of HPLC-purified triantennary oligosaccharide **11**. *Aspartimide byproduct was observed as 1.4% area on HPLC analysis. This aspartimide formation occurred either right after HPLC purification or during HPLC analysis. (c) RP-HPLC profiles of the glycosylation reaction of **9**; starting materials (upper) and silica gel-purified materials (bottom). (d) HPLC profile and ESI-MS spectrum of HPLC-purified triantennary oligosaccharide **12**. *Aspartimide byproduct was observed as 2.3% area on HPLC analysis. This aspartimide formation occurred either right after right after HPLC purification or during HPLC analysis.



Figure 2-14. Monitoring a glycosylation reaction of **6** under another reaction condition. A mixture of acceptor **6** (1.7 mg, 0.6 μ mol) and donor **10** (1.0 mg, 1.2 μ mol, 2 equiv) was azeotropically dried with toluene and kept *in vacuo* for 2 hours, after which the mixture was dissolved in CH₂Cl₂ (100 μ L) under an atmosphere of Ar, followed by addition of freshly activated 4 A molecular sieves (13 mg). The reaction mixture was cooled to -20 °C, and NIS (4.4 μ mol) was added. Then, TfOH (0.44 μ mol, with dilution by CH₂Cl₂) was added to the mixture, which was stirred at the same temperature for 3.5 h. This reaction afforded undesired by product, aspartimide rather than desired triantennary oligosaccharide **11.** Because donor was not enough, the reaction did not finish within 2 h and the condition of longer reaction time yielded undesired aspartimide derivative. Adapted with permission from *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2016**, *138*, 3461. Copyright 2017 American Chemical Society.

The structures of triantennary oligosaccharides **11** and **12** were confirmed by 2D NMR experiments. An HMBC correlation between the anomeric proton of GlcN_j and C-6 of Man_d was observed in **11** (Figure 2-15c, dotted line). Similarly, an HMBC correlation between the anomeric proton of GlcN_j[,] and C-4 of Man_g was also observed in **12** (Figure 2-16c, dotted line). Furthermore, newly formed glycosyl linkages showed $J_{1,2}$ 8.5 Hz and 8.3 Hz in **11** and **12**, respectively, that indicate the desired β-linkages. These NMR data prove that I indeed obtained the protected triantennary oligosaccharides **11** and **12** by the semisynthetic methods.



Figure 2-15. (a) The structure of **11**. An observed HMBC correlation signal is shown by a blue arrow. (b) Assigned HSQC spectrum of **11**. (c) Selected regions of HSQC and HMBC spectra of **11**. The HMBC correlation signal between the C-6 of Man_d and the H-1 of GlcN_j (dotted line) was observed. The newly synthesized β -linkage was determined by the coupling constant observed for H-1 and H-2 in GlcN_j (8.5 Hz).



Figure 2-16. (a) The structure of **12**. An observed HMBC correlation signal is shown by a blue arrow. (b) Assigned HSQC spectrum of **12**. (c) Selected regions of HSQC and HMBC spectra of **12**. The HMBC correlation signal between the C-4 of Man_g and the H-1 of GlcN_{j'} (dotted line) was observed. The newly synthesized β -linkage was determined by the coupling constant observed for H-1 and H-2 in GlcN_{j'} (8.3 Hz).

2-5. Deprotection steps of the obtained triantennary oligosaccharides

Finally, I examined deprotection reactions of **11** and **12** in order to obtain the desired intact triantennary asialoundecasaccharides **1** and **2**, respectively (Scheme 4). First, the Troc group was removed by treatment with Zn powder, after which acetylation yielded the acetamide derivatives. The phenacyl group was also removed during this zinc treatment. Subsequently, all of the acyl groups and the Fmoc group were removed by treatment with NaOH in MeOH, and Fmoc groups were reintroduced to the asparagine moieties. This Fmoc groups enabled me to analyze reaction by RP-HPLC and can be used for glycopeptide synthesis after the completion of the synthesis. The removal of the remaining benzylidene acetals was carefully conducted by means of a brief treatment of 90% aqueous trifluoroacetic acid (TFA) at 0 °C, and the desired triantennary oligosaccharides **1** and **2** were obtained in 63% and 44% yield, respectively. Several analyses including high-resolution mass spectrometry and 2D NMR analysis were conducted (Figure 2-17 and experimental section). Based on these data, I established an unprecedented protocol of the synthesis of homogeneous triantennary oligosaccharides.





Reagents and conditions: (i) Zn, THF/AcOH/Ac₂O (3:2:1), 0 °C to rt, 16 h. (ii) MeOH/aq. NaOH, 0 °C to rt, 2.5 h. (iii) FmocOSu, aq. NaHCO₃, acetone, 0 °C to rt, 3.5 h. (iv) aq. TFA, 0 °C, 10 min, 63% (over four steps). (v) Zn, THF/AcOH/Ac₂O (3:2:1), 0 °C to rt, 18 h. (vi) MeOH/aq. NaOH, 0 °C to rt, 2 h. (vii) FmocOSu, aq. NaHCO₃, acetone, 0 °C to rt 3 h. (viii) aq. TFA, 0 °C, 10 min, 44% (over four steps).





Figure 2-17. (a) RP-HPLC profile of crude β -1,6-branched triantennary oligosaccharide 1 after completion of the deprotection reactions. (b) HPLC profile and ESI-MS spectrum of purified Asn-linked β -1,6-branched triantennary oligosaccharide 1. Asterisk *and ** indicate fragmentation peaks during mass analysis and correspond to LacNAc and biantennary asialooligosaccharide, respectively. (c) RP-HPLC profile of crude β -1,4-branched triantennary oligosaccharide 2 after the deprotection reactions. (b) HPLC profile and ESI-MS spectrum of purified Asn-linked β -1,4-branched triantennary complex-type oligosaccharide 2.

Chapter 2



Figure 2-18. (a) The HSQC spectrum of triantennary oligosaccharide **1**. These signals prove the purity of the synthetic oligosaccharide. The signals are not assigned due to the small amount of the material and heavily overlapped signals. NMR assignment of oligosaccharides without protecting groups is especially difficult as previously described.⁷ (b) The assigned HSQC spectrum of **2**. These signals were assigned based on the previous assignment of the triantennary structure.⁸

2-6. Enzymatic sialylation of a triantennary oligosaccharide

In addition, I examined enzymatic sialylation toward triantennary oligosaccharide **1** (Figure 2-19) because mature complex-type oligosaccharides have sialic acid residues at the non-reducing termini and sialic acid is known to be involved in many biological events. Enzymatic sialylation usually proceeds in a stereo- and regioselective manner in a single step.⁹ Because α -2,3 and α -2,6 sialyl linkages with the terminal galactoside are found in the structures of natural oligosaccharides, enzymatic sialylation by specific α -2,3 or α -2,6 sialyltransferase seems to be effective in making the desired sialyl oligosaccharides. Wong and co-workers reported a combined enzymatic and chemical strategy for the syntheses of sialylated multiantennary complex-type oligosaccharides with their regeneration system of sugar nucleotides.¹⁰ In this application, sialic acid residues were installed on **1** using α -2,6 sialyltransferase (*Photobacterium damsela*, [EC 2.4.99.1])¹¹ in the presence of CMP-Neu5Ac. This sialylation reaction proceeded in 78% conversion yield. The structure of triantennary sialyl oligosaccharide **20** was also confirmed by NMR experiments and mass spectrometry.



Figure 2-19. (a) Enzymatic sialylation of triantennary oligosaccharide 1. (b) RP-HPLC profile of crude trisialyloligosaccharide 20. (b) ESI-MS spectrum of purified triantennary sialyltetradecasaccharide 20.

2-7. Summery of Chapter 2

I have established a strategy for the semisynthesis of complex-type triantennary oligosaccharides from a biantennary oligosaccharide isolated from a natural source. The sequential protection and deprotection of 24 hydroxy groups of this biantennary oligosaccharide successfully yielded two glycosyl acceptors bearing free hydroxy groups at the desired positions, which are essential for the semisyntheses of two types of natural triantennary oligosaccharides. Because the selective introduction of a protecting group is sometimes difficult for a complex molecule, the idea to regulate the reactivity during the deprotection step was critical.

This new strategy significantly reduced the number of synthetic steps and overcame limitations of traditional oligosaccharide syntheses that rely on repetitive protection/ deprotection and multiple glycosylation steps. In terms of the synthesis of triantennary oligosaccharide 1 having three Gal- β 1,4-GlcNAc antennae through a β -1,6 and two β -1,2 linkages with the terminal mannosides of the core, more than 50 synthetic steps were eliminated compared with the previous conventional chemical oligosaccharide synthesis.¹²

Because the biantennary oligosaccharide can be isolated on multigram scales and the synthetic routes of the triantennary oligosaccharides have been established once on the basis of rigorous structural analyses, the synthesis of triantennary oligosaccharides can be repeatedly performed to promptly provide sufficient amounts, such as dozens of milligrams. My current experiments demonstrated that biantennary nonasaccharide **3** (ca. 600 mg) could be converted into triantennary undecasaccharides **1** (4 mg) and **2** (2 mg). Isolation of biantennary nonasaccharide **3** from egg yolk can be easily performed on over a 20 g scale, and I consider there to be no limitation on the synthesis of triantennary undecasaccharides.

* This chapter was adapted with permission from *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2016**, *138*, 3461. Copyright 2017 American Chemical Society.

2-8. References

(1) Kajihara, Y.; Suzuki, Y.; Yamamoto, N.; Sasaki, K.; Sakakibara, T.; Juneja, L. R. *Chem. – Eur. J.* **2004**, *10*, 971-85.

(2) Yamamoto, N.; Takayanagi, A.; Yoshino, A.; Sakakibara, T.; Kajihara, Y. *Chem. – Eur. J.* **2007**, *13*, 613-25.

(3) Kajihara, Y.; Kodama, H.; Wakabayashi, T.; Sato, K.-i.; Hashimoto, H. *Carbohydr. Res.* **1993**, *247*, 179-193.

(4) Lemieux, R. U.; Abbas, S. Z.; Burzynska, M. H.; Ratcliffe, R. M. Can. J. Chem. 1982, 60, 63-67.

(5) Cheshev, P. E.; Kononov, L. O.; Tsvetkov, Y. E.; Shashkov, A. S.; Nifantiev, N. E., *Russ. J. Bioorg. Chem.* **2002**, *28*, 419-429.

(6) Yan, F.; Mehta, S.; Eichler, E.; Wakarchuk, W. W.; Gilbert, M.; Schur, M. J.; Whitfield, D.
M. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 68, 2426-31.

(7) Kajihara, Y.; Sato, H. Trends Glycosci. Glycotechnol. 2003, 15, 197-220.

(8) Sato, H.; Fukae, K.; Kajihara, Y. Carbohydr. Res. 2008, 343, 1333-45.

(9) Izumi, M.; Wong, C.-H. Trends Glycosci. Glycotechnol. 2001, 13, 345-360.

(10) Shivatare, S. S.; Chang, S. H.; Tsai, T. I.; Ren, C. T.; Chuang, H. Y.; Hsu, L.; Lin, C. W.;

Li, S. T.; Wu, C. Y.; Wong, C. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2013, 135, 15382-91.

(11) Kajihara, Y.; Yamamoto, T.; Nagae, H.; Nakashizuka, M.; Sakakibara, T.; Terada, I. J. Org. Chem. **1996**, *61*, 8632-8635.

(12) Walczak, M. A.; Danishefsky, S. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2012, 134, 16430-3.

Chapter 3

Mechanistic Study on Deprotection of Benzylidene Acetals of Monosaccharides

3-1. Introduction of Chapter 3

I found that benzylidene acetals of mannosides of an oligosaccharide derivative are more easily removed than that of galactosides in aqueous acetic acid. This was an unexpected finding and enabled me to synthesize two types of triantennary oligosaccharides. To deeply understand what causes the selectivity, benzylidene removal reactions were investigated by use of monosaccharides: methyl α -D-glucopyranosides, methyl α -D-mannopyranosides, and methyl α -D-galactopyranosides.

3-2. Preparation of benzylidenated monosaccharides

Six types of benzylidenated monosaccharides were synthesized according to the previously reported procedures as shown in Figure 3-1.¹⁻³ In brief, methyl α -D glucopyranoside (21), methyl α -D-mannopyranoside (22), and methyl α -D-galactopyranoside (23) were purchased. In terms of glucoside derivatives, glucoside 21 was dissolved in acetonitrile, to which (±)-10-camphorsulfonic acid (CSA, 0.3 equiv) and benzaldehyde dimethyl acetal (1.5 equiv) were added. The resulting mixture was then stirred at room temperature under an atmosphere of Ar, and then the reaction mixture was neutralized by the addition of triethylamine (2 equiv). After evaporation of the reaction mixture, the resulting residue was purified by silica gel column chromatography to give methyl 4,6-*O*-benzylidene- α -D-glucopyranoside (24) in 42%. Using same procedure, methyl 4.6-O-benzylidene- α -D-glucopyranoside (26) was obtained in 74%. In the case of mannoside, 22 was dissolved in DMF, and *p*-toluenesulfonic acid (*p*-TsOH, 0.3 equiv) and benzaldehyde dimethyl acetal (1.0 equiv) were added to the mixture. The mixture was mixed at 60 °C under reduced pressure (200 hPa). After 3 h, EtOAc was added to the mixture, and then the mixture was washed by NaHCO3 and brine, dried over Na2SO4, and evaporated. Silica gel column chromatography of the resulting residue afforded methyl **4,6-O-benzylidene-\alpha-D-mannopyranoside** (25) in 31%.

Acetylation reactions of the obtained benzylidene derivatives were performed by pyridine and acetic anhydride (Ac₂O). Benzylidene derivatives were dissolved in pyridine/Ac₂O (1:1), and the reaction mixtures were stirred at rt under an atmosphere of Ar. On the completion of the reaction, MeOH was added to the mixture on an ice bath. The resulting mixture was evaporated, azeotropically dried with toluene, which was then purified by silica gel column chromatography and/ or recrystallization to give the desired products (24: 40%, 25: 94%, 26: 82%).



Figure 3-1. Synthesis of benzylidene derivatives 24-29.

3-3. Hydrolysis rate of benzylidene derivatives at room temperature

To confirm the dependence of the benzylidene group on the sugar stereochemistry for selective deprotection, I first investigated the deprotection velocity of benzylidene groups of monosaccharides without Ac groups (24, 25, and 26). Individual substrate was dissolved in 60% d-AcOH in D₂O. Concentration of the monosaccharides was adjusted to 10 mM, which is as same as the case of oligosaccharide deprotection (5 mM oligosaccharide containing two benzylidenated galactosides and two benzylidenated mannosides). Ratio of starting material versus product was measured by proton NMR at 23 °C at times. Plotting data of the result is shown in Figure. 3-2, and benzylidene acetal of Gal was obviously hydrolyzed slower compared with Glc and Man (Figure 3-2a). Furthermore, I examined a competition experiment by use of three substrates in same NMR sample tube, which also clarified slow deprotection of benzylidene of Gal (Figure 3-2b). These results clearly showed that stereochemistry at the 4-position was critical for the observed selectivity.

Next, I employed monosaccharides with two acetyl groups (27, 28, and 29) to compare the deprotection velocity of benzylidene acetal, and this experiment also showed the same selectivity (Figure 3-3). Acidic hydrolysis of three substrates in 60% d-AcOH at 23°C was measured by ¹H proton NMR as described above, respectively (Figure 3-3a). These Gal substrates showed slower deprotection of benzylidene groups compared with non-acetylated substrates due to electron-withdrawing property. I also tested a competition experiment employing three substrates in same reaction mixture (Figure 3-3b and d). All results indicated that deprotection velocity of benzylidene acetal Gal was slower than that of Glc and Man because of the difference of stereochemistry at 4-position.

Chapter 3



Figure 3-2. Comparison of benzylidene hydrolysis using non-acetylated monosaccharides **24**, **25**, and **26**. (a) Plotting data for percentage of acetal hydrolysis. (b) Monitoring of the competitive experiment by ¹H NMR. Selected regions for benzyl proton of benzylidene are shown. (c) Structures of monosaccharides. (d) Monitoring of the competitive experiment by ¹H NMR. All regions are shown.

Chapter 3



Figure 3-3. Comparison of benzylidene hydrolysis using non-acetylated monosaccharides **27**, **28**, and **29**. (a) Plotting data for percentage of acetal hydrolysis. (b) Monitoring of the competitive experiment by ¹H NMR. Selected regions for benzyl proton of benzylidene are shown. (c) Structures of monosaccharides. (d) Monitoring of the competitive experiment by ¹H NMR. All regions are shown.

3-4. Thermodynamic parameters derived by the Arrhenius and Eyring plotting

In general, thermodynamic parameters provide us deeper information about chemical reactions, and thus benzylidene deprotection reactions were furthermore investigated with varied reaction temperature to obtain thermodynamic parameters by the Arrhenius and Eyring equations. Six monosaccharide substrates were dissolved in 60% d-AcOH (10 mM), and the reactions were monitored by NMR as described above, however they were performed at 4 °C (277 K) and 33 °C (306 K), along with 23 °C (296 K), in this experiment to see the temperature dependency of reaction rates. The obtained ratio of [starting material]/ [hydrolyzed product] was used to calculate a reaction velocity using Eq. 3.5, where [A]₀ is the initial concentration of benzylidenated monosaccharide, [P] is the concentration of the product, k is the reaction rate, and t is the reaction time [sec]. This equation can be applicable for pseudo-first order reaction such as hydrolysis of benzylidene acetal.

$$A \rightarrow P$$
 Eq. 3.1

$$\frac{d[P]}{dt} = -\frac{d[A]}{dt} = k[A]$$
Eq. 3.2

$$\ln[A] = \ln[A]_0 - kt \qquad \qquad \text{Eq. 3.3}$$

$$[A] = [A]_0 \times \exp(-kt) \qquad \qquad \text{Eq. 3.4}$$

$$\ln\left(\frac{[A]_0 - [P]}{[A]_0}\right) = kt$$
 Eq. 3.5

Plotting data and calculated reaction rates [s⁻¹] are summarized in Figure 3-4.



Figure 3-4. Plotting data for individual experiments. In all data, Y axis is $\ln\{([A]_0-[P])/[A]_0\}$ and X axis is reaction time [sec]. Reaction velocities [sec⁻¹] were calculated based on their slopes.

Based on the Arrhenius equation, plotting ln(k) as a function of reciprocal of temperature, in other words ln(k) versus 1/T, give a straight line revealing an activation energy (E_a), thus allowing determination of E_a values for six substrates. The Arrhenius rate law (Eq. 3.7) arises from empirical observations of the macroscopic rate constants for a particular conversion. For examples, A goes to B by various paths. This analysis determines energies for the reaction barrier. The Boltzmann distribution of molecules varies depending on reaction temperatures, thus giving different reaction kinetics. Plotting data using the Arrhenius equation (Eq. 3.7) are shown in Figure 3-5. Activation energy (E_a) and pre-exponential factor (A) were determined based on Eq. 3.8 and Eq. 3.9. Regarding both of non-acetylated and acetylated substrates, E_a values are almost same between Glc/Man, and Gal, however, on the other hand, the pre-exponential factor (A) indicate a non-negligible difference between Glc/Man, and Gal.

$$k = A \times \exp\left(\frac{-E_a}{RT}\right)$$
 Eq. 3.6

$$\ln(k) = \ln(A) - \frac{E_a}{RT}$$
 Eq. 3.7

$$slope = -\frac{E_a}{R}$$
 Eq. 3.8

$$intercept = \ln (A)$$
 Eq. 3.9



Figure 3-5. The Arrhenius plotting data of six substrates and their activation energy (E_a) and pre-exponential factor (A).

The Eyring plot produces information about the enthalpy of activation (ΔH^{\ddagger}) and the entropy of activation (ΔS^{\ddagger}), and the plotting data indicated that Glc/Man and Gal have entropic difference. The Eyring equation (Eq. 3.10) is derived from transition state theory (TST), where it is assumed that the reactants and activated complex are in equilibrium (Figure 3-6a). Activation parameters (ΔH^{\ddagger} , ΔS^{\ddagger} , and ΔG^{\ddagger}) can be given on the basis of TST. Eq. 3.10 can be transformed in Eq. 3.11, where k_B is Boltzmann's constant, h is Planck constant, and κ is transmission coefficient. Plotting $\ln(k/T)$ versus 1/T gives a straight line, whose slope is $-\Delta H^{\ddagger}/R$ and intercept is $\Delta S^{\ddagger}/R + \ln(\kappa k_B/h)$. This Eyring plot is often used for experimental analysis. In TST, vibration in the activated complex has relationship with the rate constant for the activated complex converting to products. But, not every oscillation associated with the frequency of vibration will convert the activated complex into product. This is due to improper arrangement of other atoms in the molecule for conversion of the activated complex into products or because rotational state of the molecule interferes with the transition. Transmission coefficient (κ) is used to take these factors into account, and in my study, k values are uniformly assumed to be 1.0 to compare the monosaccharides. I investigated removal of benzylidene acetals using same reaction condition, and structurally similar substrates were employed. Thus, difference of κ is not thought to be considerable. The plotting data, the obtained activation energy (ΔH^{\ddagger}), activation entropy (ΔS^{\ddagger}), and activation Gibbs free energy (ΔG^{\ddagger}) are summarized in Figure 3-7.

$$k = \kappa \left(\frac{k_B T}{h}\right) \exp\left(\frac{\Delta S^{\ddagger}}{R}\right) \exp\left(\frac{-\Delta H^{\ddagger}}{RT}\right)$$
Eq. 3.10

$$\ln\left(\frac{k}{T}\right) = -\frac{\Delta H^{\ddagger}}{RT} + \ln\left(\frac{\kappa k_B}{h}\right) + \frac{\Delta S^{\ddagger}}{R}$$
 Eq. 3.11

$$\Delta G^{\ddagger} = \Delta H^{\ddagger} - T \Delta S^{\ddagger}$$
 Eq. 3.12





Figure 3-6. (a) Reaction scheme including transition state. (b) Diagram showing energy level of starting material, transition state, and product. ΔG° is standard Gibbs free energy.



Figure 3-7. The Eyring plot data of six substrates and their activation enthalpy (ΔH^{\ddagger}) and activation entropy (ΔS^{\ddagger}). κ values are assumed to be 1.0 to give ΔS^{\ddagger} and ΔG^{\ddagger} values.

3-5. Interpretation and discussion

Arrhenius plot showed the difference in terms of pre-exponential factor (A), and following Eyring plot proved the difference in ΔS^{\ddagger} rather than ΔH^{\ddagger} , which suggests that stereochemical difference at 4-position have influence on the reaction rate of benzylidene removing entropically. Considering the stereochemistry at 4-position, Glc and Man have equatorial hydroxy groups while Gal has an axial hydroxy group. In general, equatorial hydroxy group is more reactive than axial hydroxy group due to its less sterically hindered environment. In the case of Gal, axial stereochemistry disturbs protonation of oxygen atoms in benzylidene acetal and/or the nucleophilic attack of H₂O to oxocarbenium cation (Figure 3-8b). These steric difference around 4-OH may cause the entropic difference in the transition state of hydrolysis. In the view of *trans*- and *cis*-decalin structures, *cis*-decalin has an opened "convex" face and a hindered "concave" face, and organic synthesis sometimes employs the reactivity difference of them. Eq. 3.10 shows that reaction rate (k) is proportional to $\exp(\Delta S^{\ddagger})$, and thus it is considered that entropic 10~40 Jmol⁻¹K⁻¹ difference between Glc/Man and Gal (Figure 3-7) distinguishes faster and slower benzylidene hydrolysis. For example, at 296 K, hydrolysis velocities of **24** and **25** were $6.4 \times 10^{-5} [s^{-1}]$ and $9.4 \times 10^{-5} [s^{-1}]$, while the velocity of **26** was $1.0 \times 10^{-5} [s^{-1}]$.



Figure 3-8. (a) Structures of benzylidenated monosaccharides and *trans*- and *cis*-decalin. Convex face is sterically less hindered face, while concave face is sterically hindered face. (b) An example of reaction mechanism of benzylidene acetal hydrolysis.

In principle, E_a derived from the Arrhenius plot and ΔH^{\ddagger} derived from the Eyring plot can be correlated by use of Eq. 3.13, and this comparison indicates the accuracy of the experiments and plotting as shown in Figure 3-9. While hydrolysis experiments were not conducted in duplicate or triplicate, discussion on thermodynamic parameters is meaningful and significant as Figure 3-9 shows that E_a values are in good accordance with E_a ' values, which was calculated as $\Delta H^{\ddagger} + RT$.

Eq. 3.13

 $E_a = \Delta H^{\ddagger} + RT$



Figure 3-9. Comparison of activation energy and activation enthalpy derived from the Arrhenius plot and Eyring plot, respectively (Ea' = $\Delta H^{\ddagger} + RT = \Delta H^{\ddagger} [kJmol^{-1}] + 8.31 [JK^{-1}mol^{-1}] \times 298 [K] / 1000$).

Formation of carbonium cation is generally considered as a rate-determining step (RDS) in hydrolysis of acetal (Figure 3-10a, (i)),⁴ however negative values of ΔS^{\ddagger} indicates a possibility that RDS is one of other steps. In principle, ΔS^{\ddagger} includes information about structure of transition state complex and often used to predict the structure of transition state. When two molecules react and make a unimolecular complex in transition state, ΔS^{\ddagger} will basically show a negative value, while a positive value will be observed in the case that one molecule produces two molecules by cleavage of a covalent bond. Thus, RDS in carbonium cation formation (cleavage of C-O bond in step [i] in Figure 3-10) would show a positive value. In my study, the Eyring plot produced negative ΔS^{\ddagger} , so that formation of carbonium cation may not be RDS in deprotection of benzylidene acetal of monosaccharides. Some exceptions, where generation of oxocarbenium cation is not RDS, have been found, and they have RDS in a later step under some conditions such as hydration step (step [ii] in Figure 3-10).⁵⁻¹⁰ Especially, Mcclelland et al. reported a change in RDS in the hydrolysis of cyclic ketals (Figure 3-10b).¹¹ Step [iv] is the RDS at pH >6, however at pH <5, the RDS is step [vi]. Thus, in the case of hydrolysis of benzylidene acetals in monosaccharides, cleavage of C-O bond to yield an oxocarbenium ion might not be RDS (Figure 3-8b), however other experiments such as kinetic isotope effect are required for deeper discussion on RDS in monosaccharides.



Figure 3-10. (a). Three-stage reaction mechanism in acetal hydrolysis. (b) Hydrolysis steps of cyclic ketals.

In summary, considering acetal hydrolysis of six monosaccharides, difference of stereochemistry at 4-position entropically influenced on the hydrolysis of benzylidene acetal of an oligosaccharide derivative. Thermodynamic parameters derived from six benzylidene derivatives and two types of plotting revealed the difference in ΔS^{\ddagger} , which is considered to be due to stereochemistry at 4-position. It is assumed that axial and equatorial hydroxy groups make a difference where oxonium ion and/or H₂O molecules approach benzylidene acetal (protonation and hydration). Thus, sterically unfavorable galactose showed slower hydrolysis of benzylidene acetals in the case of not only monosaccharides but also the oligosaccharide (Figure 3-11). Moreover, in the case of oligosaccharide, Gal has two acetyl groups and Man has one acetyl group. As seen in Figure 3-4, acetyl group causes degreasing of hydrolysis rate when non-acetylated and acetylated monosaccharides are compared. The number of acetyl groups in Gal and Man might also affects the selective removal of benzylidene acetals of Man in the oligosaccharide.



Figure 3-11. Partial structure of an oligosaccharide derivative that showed faster benzylidene removal in mannosides.

3-6. References

- (1) Jeanloz, R. W.; Jeanloz, D. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1957, 79, 2579-2583.
- (2) Horton, D.; Luetzow, A. E. Carbohydr. Res. 1968, 7, 101-105.
- (3) Poláková, M.; Roslund, M. U.; Ekholm, F. S.; Saloranta, T.; Leino, R. *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* **2009**, *6*, 870-888.
- (4) Cordes, E. H.; Bull, H. G. Chem. Rev. 1974, 74, 581-603.
- (5) Mori, A. L.; Porzio, M. A.; Schaleger, L. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1972, 94, 5034-5039.
- (6) Mori, A. L.; Schaleger, L. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1972, 94, 5039-5043.
- (7) Capon, B.; Nimmo, K.; Reid, G. L. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1976, 21, 871-873.
- (8) Jensen, J. L.; Lenz, P. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1978, 100, 1291-1293.
- (9) Finley, R. L.; Kubler, D. G.; McClelland, R. A. J. Org. Chem. 1980, 45, 644-648.
- (10) Przystas, T. J.; Fife, T. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1981, 103, 4884-4890.
- (11) McClelland, R. A.; Seaman, N. E. Can. J. Chem. 1984, 62, 1608-1612.

In addition, for the basic theory of physical chemistry, two textbooks were greatly helpful.

(12) Anslyn, E. V.; Dougherty, D. A., Modern Physical Chemistry, University Science Books, Sausalito, California, USA.

(13) Atkins, P.; De Paula, J., Atkins' Physical Chemistry (8th edition), OXFORD UNIVERSITY PRESS, Oxford, UK.

Chapter 4

Development of a New Strategy for Chemical Synthesis of a Glycopeptide Having a Complex-Type Triantennary Oligosaccharide

4-1. Introduction of Chapter 4

Glycopeptide synthesis is usually performed by Boc- or Fmoc-SPPS, while glycopeptide synthesis using SPPS is generally low yield and results in difficulties in obtaining a final target glycosylated polypeptide as described in *Chapter 1*. Thus, I established a new efficient strategy for the synthesis of glycopeptides by using segment coupling reactions in liquid phase. The detail of the concept and the results will be discussed in this chapter.

4-2. Outline of the strategy

I chose EPO segment $[C^{79}-N^{83}(\text{oligosaccharide})-K^{97}]$ as a model glycopeptide to perform the new glycopeptide synthesis. This glycopeptide will be used for further EPO synthesis, which will be described in Chapter 5. Retrosynthetic analysis is shown in Figure 4-1. I designed to perform enzymatic sialylation reaction after the synthesis of glycopeptide having a $[C^{79}-N^{83}(oligosaccharide)-K^{97}],$ triantennary 34. asialooligosaccharide to obtain sialylglycopeptide 33. The key of the synthesis is to incorporate synthesized oligosaccharyl Asn 1 into glycopeptide 34 efficiently. I chose a segment coupling strategy as shown in Figure 4-1. To convert oligosaccharyl Asn 1 into glycopeptide 34, carboxylic acid of the asparagine residue can be coupled with an amino group of C-terminal peptide 36, of which side chains are protected. After deprotection of an Fmoc group of N-terminal Asn of the resulting peptide, the amino group is condensed with a carboxylic acid of N-terminal peptide 35. After acidic removal of side-chain protecting groups of 34, HPLC purification affords desired glycopeptide 34 whose N-terminus and C-terminus are functionalized with Cys and hydrazide for further reactions such as peptide ligation chemistry.¹⁻²

In this strategy, protected peptide **35** and **36** are purified by RP-HPLC or gel permeation/silica gel column chromatography to yield pure materials, thus allowing efficient conversion of oligosaccharyl Asn **1**. Furthermore, coupling reaction in liquid phase is thought to perform more efficient incorporation of oligosaccharyl Asn **1** than that on solid phase, because reaction mixture is heterogeneous and small-scale reaction is difficult to be handled in solid phase synthesis.



Figure 4-1. Retrosynthetic analysis of glycopeptide 33. Sialylglycopeptide 33 can be synthesized by enzymatic $\alpha 2$,6-sialylation of glycopeptide 34, which can be obtained by segment coupling reactions in liquid phase. Standard Fmoc-SPPS affords protected peptides 35 and 36.

4-3. Preparation of N-terminal and C-terminal peptides

First, C-terminal peptide Boc-[Thz⁷⁹-Leu⁸⁰-Leu⁸¹-Val⁸²]-OH **35** was synthesized by Fmoc SPPS, and the peptide was purified by RP-HPLC to give a pure material (Figure 4-2). The synthesis began with coupling of 4-(4-hydroxymethyl-3-methoxyphenoxy)-butyric acid (HMPB) linker to aminomethyl ChemMatrix resin using TBTU and N-ethylmorphorine. This resin is a widely used and 100% polyethylene glycol (PEG) based resin, and the HMPB linker enables generation of a side chain protected peptide with mild acidic treatment at the final step. After introduction of the HMPB linker to aminomethyl ChemMatrix resin, the first amino acid (Fmoc-Val-OH) was coupled by N-methylimidazole and 2,4,6-mesitylene-sulfonyl-3-nitro-1,2,4-triazolide (MNST). This coupling reagent facilitates the efficient esterification of HMPB linker-alcohol with suppressing epimerization as reported by Blankemeyer-Menge et al.³ Following deprotection of an N-terminal Fmoc group was performed by treatment of 20% piperidine in DMF. Then, Fmoc-Leu-OH, Fmoc-Leu-OH, and Boc-Thz-OH were coupled by HBTU (3 equiv), HOBt (3 equiv), and DIEA (6 equiv) in DMF after deprotection of Fmoc group in each step. After the completion of all steps, the side chain protected peptide was detached from the resin by the treatment with AcOH/trifluoroethanol (TFE), followed by purification by RP-HPLC afforded desired tetrapeptide 35 as shown in Figure 4-2.



Figure 4-2. (a) Synthesis of tetrapeptide 35 by Fmoc SPPS. (b) Structures of used coupling reagents.

Next, *N*-terminal peptide of 83rd Asn position, H-[Ser(^tBu)⁸⁴-Ser(^tBu)-Gln(Trt)-Pro-Trp(Boc)-Glu(^tBu)-Pro-Leu-Gln(Trt)-Leu-His(Trt)-Val-Asp(^tBu)-Lys(Boc)⁹⁷]-OH **37**, was also synthesized by standard Fmoc-SPPS using HMPB linker as mentioned above (Figure 4-3). Fmoc-Lys(Boc)-OH was linked to HMPB-ChemMatrix resin using *N*-methylimidazole and MNST. After deprotection of Fmoc group, the peptide was elongated by use of Fmoc-AA-OH (4 equiv, 200 mM), HBTU (3 equiv), HOBt (3 equiv), and DIEA (6 equiv) in DMF. After the completion of elongation, the resulting peptide was cleaved from the resin by AcOH/ trifluoroethanol (TFE) with keeping protecting groups on side chains.

The obtained peptide mixture was purified by both gel permeation column eluted with MeOH and silica gel column chromatography eluted with chloroform/MeOH/AcOH to obtain pure protected peptide **37**. TLC analysis of the peptide showed single spot, and after removal of protecting groups of side chains, LC-MS analysis showed suitable single peak (Figure 4-4). During the peptide cleavage step, trityl group was partially deprotected because of the acidic treatment. This was confirmed by MS analysis of protected peptides after silica gel separation. The partially deprotected material was removed by silica gel column chromatography because it showed undesired side reactions during the coupling reactions in model experiments.

Then, the *C*-terminal carboxylic acid of **37** was coupled with *tert*-butyl carbazate by use of 1H-benzotriazol-1-yloxy-tri(pyrrolidino)phosphonium hexafluorophosphate (PyBOP) at -20 °C based on a modified strategy reported by Kajihara and co-workers previously.⁴ They reported that immediate coupling with a large excess of nucleophiles at low temperature (-20 °C) is essential to suppress *C*-terminal racemization. This reaction allowed complete conversion of carboxylic acid into hydrazide on the *C*-terminus of **37**. After the completion of the reaction, the mixture was directly applied to gel permeation column to remove the solvent and reagents. This reaction was monitored by RP-HPLC after removal of protecting groups of side chains using TFA/TIPS/H₂O (95:2.5:2.5) as shown in Figure 4-4.





Figure 4-3. Synthesis of protected *C*-terminal peptide 36.
Chapter 4



Figure 4-4. (a) LC-MS analysis of **37** after deprotection of side-chain protecting groups. (b) is the ESI-MS for the major peak in (a). (c) LC-MS analysis of **38** after deprotection of side-chain protecting groups. (d) is the ESI-MS for the major peak in (c). (e) LC-MS analysis of **36** after deprotection of side-chain protecting groups. (f) is the ESI-MS for the major peak in (e).

Boc protection of hydrazide was needed because hydrazide moiety showed reactivity in the model experiment (Figure 4-5). During this experiment, coupling of *N*-terminal peptide **35** was examined with glycopeptide having biantennary glycan **39**. This reaction produced considerable amount of **41** in addition to desired **40** when PyBOP, HOBt, and HODhbt were used as coupling reagents. Optimizing equivalents of reagents and diluting the reaction conditions were not successful to make selectivity between amine and hydrazide. This is thought to be because of steric hindrance of the amino group due to the close oligosaccharide, thus lowering the reactivity of the amine group. The double coupling of **35** was completely not observed when *C*-terminal hydrazide was protected with Boc group.

Then, the peptide **38** was treated with 20% piperidine to deprotect *N*-terminal Fmoc group for the next reaction (Figure 4-3). After the completion of the reaction, the reaction mixture was also directly applied to gel permeation column to remove the solvent and undesired products.



Figure 4-5. Undesired side reaction at the *N*-terminal hydrazide without Boc group.

4-4. Glycopeptide synthesis by segment coupling reactions

In order to introduce synthesized triantennary oligosaccharide **1**, the carboxylic acid of **1** was coupled with the *N*-terminus of the peptide in DMF/DMSO by using PyBOP (Figure 4-6). This reaction used 1.8 equivalent of protected peptide **36** to ensure full conversion of oligosaccharyl asparagine into desired product **42**. I selected PyBOP as a coupling reagent because it is usually used for coupling of oligosaccharyl asparagine on resin during standard glycopeptide synthesis.⁵ In the case of triantennary oligosaccharyl asparagine, aspartimide formation was not observed in the optimized conditions. This reaction was monitored by TLC analysis directly and LC-MS analysis after removing side chain protections. After the completion of the reaction, the reaction was directly applied to gel permeation column to remove solvents and reagents. A mixture of glycopeptide **42** and remaining peptide **36** was used for the next reaction without further reaction due to a difficulty of separation.

Glycopeptide **42** was then treated with 20% piperidine to remove Fmoc group, and the resulting glycopeptide **43** was further coupled with *N*-terminal tetrapeptide **35** (Figure 4-6). Peptide-glycopeptide coupling of glycopeptide **43** and **36**, along with residual protected peptide **36**, was performed by HODhbt-DIC activation. This coupling was repeated twice using 20 equivalents of tetrapeptide **35** (with respect to **43**) to increase conversion into **44**, however a small amount of **43** remained (88% conversion from **43** into **44**). Reactivity of *N*-terminal amine of **43** was low possibly due to steric hindrance of triantennary oligosaccharide. After the reaction, the mixture was also applied to gel filtration.

After construction of the desired glycopeptide with protecting groups, it was treated with 2.5% TIPS and 2.5% H₂O in TFA to remove all protecting groups for side chains and Boc group of *C*- and *N*-termini. RP-HPLC purification afforded the desired glycopeptide **34** in 28% isolated yields (calculated based on oligosaccharyl asparagine **1**). This yield is higher compared with glycopeptide synthesis by standard Boc- or Fmoc-SPPS. Using purified segments and oligosaccharyl Asn coupling in liquid phase are expected to produce the higher yield.



Figure 4-6. Synthesis of desired glycopeptide 34.

For this peptide-glycopeptide segment coupling, three types of coupling reagents were investigated to suppress epimerization at Val by use of glycopeptide having biantennary oligosaccharide **39** and tetrapeptide **35** (The reaction scheme is shown in Figure 4-4). As standard, glycopeptide **44** (all L-amino acids) and **45** (including a D-Val) were prepared by Boc-SPPS. Briefly, glycopeptides were synthesized by HBTU activation on a HSCH₂CH₂C(=O)NH-PEGA resin (Protocols of glycopeptide synthesis is shown *Chapter 5*). Coupling reaction of **39** and **35** were tested by B) PyBOP-DIEA, C) HOBt-DIC, and D) HODhbt-DIC activation in DMF-DMSO. Six equivalents of individual reagents were used for the coupling reactions in addition to 6 equivalents of tetrapeptide **35** at rt. After the reactions, aliquots of the reaction mixtures were treated with 2.5% TIPS and 2.5% H₂O in TFA to remove protecting groups and analyzed by RP-HPLC as shown in Figure 4-7. LC chromatograms of standard **44** (A) and **45** (E), and a mixture of **44** and **45** (F) are also shown in Figure 4-7. As a result, it was found that HODhbt-DIC is the best condition to decrease the racemization (<2%) compared with PyBOP (28%) and HOBt (9%).



Figure 4-7. An epimerization study for the coupling of tetrapeptide **35** and model glycopeptide having a biantennary oligosaccharide **39**. (a) Structures of glycopeptide standards **45** and **46** prepared by Boc SPPS. (b) LC chromatograms of standards (A, E, and F) and coupling reactions (B, C, and D). * is a mixture of two compounds. One is coupling product of **36** and tetrapeptide **35**, which lacks oligosaccharyl asparagine. Another product is deprotection form of **41** (shown in Figure 4-5), which has additional tetrapeptide on the hydrazide moiety.

To confirm the structure of the glycopeptide having a triantennary oligosaccharide, MSMS analysis of 34 was performed by electron-capture dissociation (ECD) method.⁶⁻⁷ In brief, in the ECD process, a low-energy electron (<0.2 eV) is captured by multiply protonated peptides, [M+nH]ⁿ⁺, and that yields the [M+nH]⁽ⁿ⁻¹⁾⁺⁺. By an energetic H transfer to the backbone carbonyl group, the species dissociate to form c- and z-type ions (Figure 4-8). This MS/MS method cleaves only peptide bonds (N-C α), thus allowing the observation of oligosaccharyl asparagine residues. method, By using this all peptide bonds including Val-Asn(oligosaccharide) and Asn(oligosaccharide)-Ser bonds were identified, except for Glc-Pro and Glu-Pro bonds. AA-Pro bonds are, in principle, not observed because amine is tertiary. These data prove the success of a new segment coupling strategy.



Figure 4-8. (a) Nomenclatures used for assignment of product ions in the ECD spectra of peptides and proteins in addition to CID and ETD spectra. (b) Observed fragmentation pattern of *c* and *z* ions produced from glycopeptide having a triantennary asialooligosaccharide **34**. (c) Selected regions of MS/MS spectrum to show the observed c_4 + and $z_{14}^{2+\cdot}$ ions, which indicates the peptide bonds between Val-Asn(oligosaccharide) and Asn(oligosaccharide)-Ser. * Cysteine position is thiazolidine in this glycopeptide. **Asn has a triantennary oligosaccharide.

4-5. Synthesis of sialylglycopeptide by enzymatic sialylation and deprotection of thiazolidine.

In order to use synthesized glycopeptide **34** for protein synthesis, glycopeptide was subjected to enzymatic $\alpha 2,6$ -sialylation in addition to removal of thiazolidine. Bacterial enzyme (*Photobacterium damsela*, [EC 2.4.99.1]) was used for this glycosylation.⁸ The reaction was performed using the enzyme, alkaline phosphatase (calf intestine), and CMP-Neu5Ac in HEPES buffer (pH 5.9) containing 0.5% triton X. To ensure the maximum conversion of glycopeptide **34** into sialyl-glycopeptide **33**, excess of CMP-Neu5Ac (30 equiv × 2) was employed. After installation of sialic acid moieties on terminal galactosides, *O*-methylhydroxylamine was added to the reaction mixture carefully and the pH value of the mixture was adjusted to 4.3, thus resulting in conversion of thiazolidine into cysteine residue. After purification by RP-HPLC, the desired sialyl-glycopeptide was obtained 55% isolated yield. *C*-terminus of sialylglycopeptide **33** is cysteine residue, which allows NCL reaction at the site.



Figure 4-9. (a) Synthesis of sialylglycopeptide 33. (b) HPLC chromatograms for sialylated product and thiazolidine-removed product. (c) HPLC chromatograms and MS spectrum of purified 33.

4-6. Summery of Chapter 4

I established an efficient practical strategy for the synthesis of glycopeptide having a synthesized triantennary oligosaccharide **34**. Based on coupling reactions in liquid phase, oligosaccharyl asparagine was efficiently converted into glycopeptide in good yield (28%). Using purified peptides is also thought to increase the isolated yield. Furthermore, sialylation reaction successfully produced sialylglycopeptide **33** whose both of *C*- and *N*-terminus can be used for peptide ligation chemistry for synthesis of proteins/ glycoproteins.

This strategy is applicable for other glycopeptide syntheses, which are expected to show better isolated yield compared with standard Boc or Fmoc SPPS. Based on my synthesis, the key is to prepare highly pure materials and suppress epimerization. In my synthesis, tetrapeptide **35** can be purified by RP-HPLC and it was not difficult to obtain pure material. In terms of preparation of *C*-terminal protected peptide, standard Fmoc SPPS afforded carboxylic acid **37** with high purity even though a trityl group was partially removed during mild acidic cleavage. Combination of gel filtration and silica gel column chromatography in addition to efficient conversion into hydrazide was essential to prepare peptide **36**. With respect to epimerization of C-terminal Val of **35**, HODhbt activation can suppress the undesired reaction. This racemization is thought to depend on *C*-terminal amino acids and peptide sequence. I presume that side chain of Val caused 28% epimerization in the case of PyBOP due to its bulkiness.

Unverzagt has reported the synthesis of a glycopeptide by use of an oligosaccharyl asparagine, unprotected Fmoc-[Ser-Ser]-OH, and unprotected H-Tyr-OMe;⁹ however, my strategy shows the feasibility of making 19-mer peptide and introducing ligation sites on both *N*- and *C*-termini. Thioester or equivalent hydrazide moieties of *C*-terminus of peptide, which can be easily incorporated in this strategy, is crucial in terms of protein synthesis and is not straightforward especially in Fmoc SPPS. Moreover, I chose thiazolidine to protect the thiol group on *N*-terminus. Thus, the first ligation of the peptide is limited on *N*-terminus because thiazolidine group is unstable during activation of hydrazide to thioester. However, this protecting group can be varied such as Acm group, which enables the peptide ligation reactions on both of *N*-and *C*-termini. In my synthesis, I avoided the use of Acm group because deprotection of Acm sometimes results in low yield, therefore I selected thiazolidine to synthesize glycopeptide and glycoprotein having the synthesized triantennary oligosaccharide

(Glycoprotein synthesis is described in *Chapter 5*).

4-7. References

(1) Dawson, P.; Muir, T.; Clark-Lewis, I.; Kent, S. Science 1994, 266, 776-779.

(2) Fang, G.-M.; Li, Y.-M.; Shen, F.; Huang, Y.-C.; Li, J.-B.; Lin, Y.; Cui, H.-K.; Liu, L. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2011, 50, 7645-7649.

(3) Blankemeyer-Menge, B.; Nimtz, M.; Frank, R. Tetrahedron Lett. 1990, 31, 1701-1704.

(4) Kajihara, Y.; Yoshihara, A.; Hirano, K.; Yamamoto, N. Carbohydr. Res. 2006, 341, 1333-40.

(5) Murakami, M.; Kiuchi, T.; Nishihara, M.; Tezuka, K.; Okamoto, R.; Izumi, M.; Kajihara, Y., Chemical synthesis of erythropoietin glycoforms for insights into the relationship between glycosylation pattern and bioactivity. *Sci. Adv.* **2016**, *2*. e1500678.

(6) Qi, Y.; Volmer, D. A. Mass Spectrom. Rev. 2017, 36, 4-15.

(7) Bakhtiar, R.; Guan, Z. Biotechnol. Lett 2006, 28, 1047-1059.

(8) Kajihara, Y.; Yamamoto, T.; Nagae, H.; Nakashizuka, M.; Sakakibara, T.; Terada, I. J. Org.

Chem. 1996, 61, 8632-8635.

(9) Unverzagt, C. Tetrahedron Lett. 1997, 38, 5627-5630.

Chapter 5

Chemical Synthesis of an Erythropoietin Glycoform Bearing a Triantennary Sialyloligosaccharide and Two Biantennary Sialyloligosaccharides

5-1. Introduction of Chapter 5

Erythropoietin (EPO) is a glycoprotein hormone and the principal regulator of erythropoiethis, thus stimulating red blood cell production.¹ EPO consists of 166 amino acid residues and two disulfide linkages (Cys⁷-Cys¹⁶¹ and Cys²⁹-Cys³³), and the syntheses of EPO glycoforms and analogs have been reported by some groups.²⁻⁹ In the view of carbohydrate, EPO has three complex-type oligosaccharides at 24th, 38th, and 83rd Asn, and an EPO glycoform having three biantennary oligosaccharides has been synthesized by Murakami *et al.*⁹

I have studied the synthetic methods of EPO having a triantennary oligosaccharide and two biantennary oligosaccharides, along with the findings of efficient synthetic methods of oligosaccharide and glycopeptide. Branching pattern of oligosaccharides of EPO is known to be critical for its biological activity in vivo.¹⁰⁻¹² Predominant structure of oligosaccharides at 38th and 83rd Asn are tri- and tetra-antennary forms.¹³ Considering these properties, EPO is a suitable model glycoprotein to investigate how the oligosaccharide pattern alters chemical as well as biological property of a glycoprotein. Introduction of several types of branched oligosaccharides will reveal the effect of oligosaccharide part on EPO activity and physiological property, thus giving us insight into the relationship between oligosaccharide functions/diversity and glycoprotein activity. Although several groups have reported EPO syntheses, an efficient synthetic route is still required for the synthesis of EPO glycoforms having highly branched oligosaccharides. To the best of my knowledge, no group has reported the synthesis of EPO glycoform bearing fully sialylated highly branched oligosaccharides due to difficulties in not only oligosaccharide preparation but also tough chemical synthesis of the long polypeptide chain. Therefore, I examined chemical synthesis of EPO having a triantennary oligosaccharide at 83rd Asn and two biantennary oligosaccharides at 24th and 38th Asn with improving the synthetic strategy in order to show the robustness of oligosaccharide/glycopeptide synthesis.

5-2. Synthetic strategy of EPO

In order to elongate polypeptides, 166 amino acid-sequence was divided into 6 segments as previously reported,⁹ and NCL and hydrazide ligation couples them to give a full length of glycosylated polypeptide.¹⁴⁻¹⁵ In general, *N*-terminus of peptides requires free Cys residue for the native chemical ligation and hydrazide ligation, and during ligation at *C*-terminus, acetamidomethyl (Acm) or thiazolidine (Thz) were designed to cap thiol of *N*-terminal Cys to make it inactive. In terms of the EPO synthesis, EPO has only four Cys residues, so that Ala^{50, 79, 98, and 128} were substituted with Cys and used for ligation sites, which were reduced to native Ala using radical reaction in late stage.¹⁶ Thus, individual ligation site is designed to be Cys or Ala residues in the native sequence. Gln⁷⁸ was only mutated to Ala because of a difficulty and risk of side reaction such as epimerization during NCL. All (glyco-)peptides were prepared by the established Boc and Fmoc chemistry, except for segment 4 having a triantennary oligosaccharide (*Chapter 4*). To convert Seg4 into glycosylated EPO-full length, the ligation order was modified compared with that by Murakami *et al.*, where Seg 4 was first ligated with Seg 56, followed by ligation with Seg 23 to give Seg 23456. A detail of the synthesis is described later in this chapter.

Chapter 5



Figure 5-1. (a) Amino acid sequence of EPO, where some native Ala residues are drawn as Cys for NCL. (b) Ligation strategy for EPO.

5-3. Synthesis of phenacyl esterified biantennary sialylglycopeptide

Sialyl linkage is not compatible with deprotection condition in Boc SPPS; however esterification of carboxylic acid of sialic acid with phenacyl group renders sialoside stable even under TFA/TfOH deprotection in Boc SPPS.⁶ First, Fmoc-Asn(Sialyloligosaccharide)-OH **47** was treated with Cs_2CO_3 followed by esterification by 2-bromoacetophenone (Phenacyl bromide) gave selectively esterified oligosaccharyl asparagine **48** in 59% according to Murakami's procedure. Following deprotection of Fmoc group and subsequent installation of Boc group by BocOSu gave the desired product (**49**), which is compatible with Boc SPPS.



Figure 5-2. Preparation of phenacyl esterified oligosaccharyl Asn.

5-4. Preparation of peptides and glycopeptides

Boc-SPPS Seg 3 (50)prepared by Figure 5-3. was as shown in S-trityl-3-mercaptopropionic acid was linked with amino PEGA resin as a linker. After deprotection of trityl group by 5% TIPS in TFA, the first amino acid coupling was performed by Boc-Ala-OH (4 equiv, 200 mM), HBTU (3.8 equiv), and DIEA (8 equiv) in DMF. Following TFA treatment of the resin to remove Boc group, the amino acid elongation was repeated. After the completion of the all coupling steps, the resin was treated with low acidic cocktail [TFA/ DMS/m-cresol/TfOH (5:3:1:1)] and highly acidic cocktail [TFA/thioanisole/EDT/TfOH/ (20:2:1:2)] at 0 °C to remove protecting groups for N-terminus and side chains on resin. Then, the resulting unprotected peptide was cleaved from the resin by thioester exchange reaction using 300 mM sodium 2-meraptoethanesulfonate (MESNa) in phosphate buffer to give peptide-^athioester **50** (ca. 15%).



Figure 5-3. (a) HPLC analysis of the crude peptide Seg3 after TfOH cleavage. The LC trace in (b) is peptide **50** after purification, and (c) is the ESI-MS for the major peak. Calculated mass was based on average isotope composition.

Glycopeptide Seg 2 was also prepared by standard Boc SPPS, except for amino acid coupling in diluted conditions after incorporating oligosaccharide, according to Murakami's procedure. After the elongation of peptide on resin, phenacyl esterified sialyloligosaccharyl asparagine **49** was coupled by PyBOP as a coupling reagent. It is known that non-diluted coupling causes esterification of hydroxy groups in oligosaccharide as reported by Yamamoto *et al.*, therefore amino acid coupling steps were conducted in a diluted condition (50 mM Boc-amino acids).¹⁷ In addition, deprotection of side chain protecting groups was performed by low acidic cocktail because highly acidic cocktail cleaves glycoside linkages. MESNa treatment, followed by removal of Pac groups, gave glycopeptide **51** in ca. 10%.



Figure 5-4. (a) HPLC analysis of the crude glycopeptide Seg 2 after TfOH cleavage. The LC trace in (b) is glycopeptide **51** after purification, and (c) is the ESI-MS for the major peak. Calculated mass was based on average isotope composition.

Glycopeptide Seg 1 (**52**) was synthesized by segment coupling reaction on resin because it is known that *N*-terminal peptide of EPO is difficult to be synthesized. Seg 1a: Boc-[Ala¹-Ala¹⁹]-OH with protecting groups for side chains was prepared by Fmoc SPPS. First, 4-(4-Hydroxymethyl-3-methoxyphenoxy)-butyric acid (HMPB) was coupled to amino PEGA resin as a linker, which enables generation of fully protected peptide acid. The first amino acid was introduced to HMPB-PEGA resin by 2,4,6-mesitylene- sulfonyl-3-nitro-1,2,4-triazolide (MNST). This coupling reagent facilitates the efficient esterification of alcohol with suppressing epimerization as reported by Blankemeyer-Menge *et al.*¹⁸ The peptide was elongated by use of Fmoc-AA-OH (4 equiv, 200 mM), HBTU (3 equiv), HOBt (3 equiv), and DIEA (6 equiv) in DMF. After the completion of peptide construction, the fully protected peptide was cleaved from the resin by AcOH/trifluoroethanol (1:1).

Seg 1b: H-[K^{20} -Gly²⁸] was constructed on amino PEGA resin by Boc SPPS as described above and used for peptide segment coupling. After the removal of the *N*-terminal Boc group, the resulting amine was coupled with Seg 1a in a solution of phenol/chloroform containing HODhBt and DIC.¹⁹ The resulting resin was treated with 2.5% TIPS and 2.5% H₂O in TFA to remove protecting groups for Fmoc SPPS and with TFA/DMS/*m*-cresol/TfOH (5:3:1:1) to remove protecting groups for Boc SPPS. The unprotected peptide was then cleaved from the resin by MESNa to give glycopeptide **52** in ca. 6%.

Chapter 5



Figure 5-5. (a) HPLC analysis of the crude glycopeptide Seg1 after TfOH cleavage. The LC trace in (b) is glycopeptide **52** after purification, and (c) is the ESI-MS for the major peak. Calculated mass was based on monoisotopic mass.

5-5. Peptide elongation by NCL and hydrazide ligation.

All peptide segments in hand, I examined ligation reactions to obtain a full length of EPO, which began with NCL of Seg 2 and Seg 3. First, peptide **51** was activated by the treatment with 4-mercaptophenylacetic acid (MPAA) to give peptide MPAA-thioester. Thioester exchange with peptide **50**, followed by S-to-N acyl shift, produced peptide **53** with native sequence.^{14, 20-21} After the completion of the ligation, pH value of the mixture was adjusted to 9.9 for removing Pac ester. RP-HPLC purification yielded desired Seg 23 (**54**) in 50% yield.



Figure 5-6. (a) Scheme of the NCL reaction. (b) LC trace of the reaction. (c) ESI-MS of purified **54**. Calculated mass was based on monoisotope mass.

Next, Seg 4 bearing a synthesized triantennary oligosaccharide (**33**) was coupled with obtained Seg 23 (**54**) by hydrazide ligation to give a Seg 234 having a triantennary oligosaccharide and a biantennary oligosaccharide (**56**). Glycopeptide hydrazide **54** was activated by NaNO₂ (10 equiv) at pH 3.5, followed by the addition of MPAA to allow conversion into glycopeptide thioester. Following NCL reaction with glycopeptide hydrazide **33** gave desired glycopeptide **56** in 68% yield.



Figure 5-7. (a) Scheme of hydrazide ligation of Seg 23 (54) and Seg 4 (33). (b) HPLC trace of the hydrazide ligation. * is the peak of 56 having disulfide bridge with MPAA. (c) ESI-MS of purified Seg 234 (56). Calculated mass was based on average isotope composition.

To ligate Seg 234-hydrazide (56) with Seg 56, activation/ligation conditions were investigated, because peptidyl hydrazide having C-terminal Lys sometimes shows undesired lactamization during activation and/or ligation. Brik *et al.* reported that in some cases ε -amine of the C-terminal Lys shows nucleophilic attack to the activated C-terminal to result in lactamization.²² They prevented this undesired reaction by using 6-nitroveratryloxycarbonyl (Nvoc) group for the protection of Lys side chain. Thus, I also prepared Fmoc-Lys(Nvoc)-OH (62) and investigated to incorporate it into Seg 4, which has triantennary oligosaccharide and is prepared by Fmoc-SPPS as described in *Chapter 4*.²³⁻²⁵ However, this protecting group was not stable during final TFA cleavage and was difficult to be coupled to HMPB-resin using MNST during Seg 4 synthesis. Therefore, I investigated to suppress lactamization of C-terminal Lys without protecting group for the amine. I used peptidyl hydrazide 57, which is a C-terminal peptide of Seg4, as a model, even though it did not contain oligosaccharide. When hydrazide 57 was activated by NaNO₂ at pH3.5 and the pH value of the mixture was elevated to 6.5, more than half of azide 56 resulted in lactam formation (Figure 5-7c). Elevation at higher pH (8.2) showed complete conversion of azide 58 into lactam 61 (Figure 5-7d). Investigation of direct hydrazide ligation with excess of MPAA and C-terminal peptide also resulted in lactamization and unidentified side products, because lactamization is superior to MPAA conversion. However, once azide 58 is converted to peptide MESNa-thioester 60, elevation of pH did not yield lactamized product (Figure 5-7d), in other words, MESNa-thioester 60 is suitably stable while 58 has unprotected Lys on its C-termini. Conversion to thioester at lower pH needed excess of thiol reagent because of lower nucleophilicity around pH 3.5. Furthermore, rapid conversion was also required due to a risk of sialoside cleavage. MPAA is not well soluble at lower pH, and thus conversion of azide into MESNa-thioester, followed by thioester exchange with MPAA, was found to be a suitable synthetic strategy in terms of this ligation site.

Therefore, obtained Seg234 hydrazide (**56**) was converted into glycopeptide MESNa-thioester (**63**) and isolated by RP-HPLC in 74% (Figure 5-9). After treatment of hydrazide **56** with NaNO₂ at -15 °C, emulsion of MESNa buffer was added to the mixture (ca. 200 equiv) and the mixture was kept at room temperature to allow for acyl azide converting to MESNa thioester **63**. Addition of MPAA and Seg56 to the crude mixture was examined, however the one-pot NCL did not show suitable conversion. Thus, MESNa-thioester **63** was purified by RP-HPLC.





Figure 5-8. Model experiments to investigate activation of peptide-Lys-hydrazide **57**. (a) Structures of model peptide **57**, the resulting products **58-61**, and Fmoc-Lys(Nvoc)-OH (**62**). LC data of starting material (b) and the results (c-e) are shown. (c) After treatment of **57** with NaNO₂, the pH value was adjusted to 6.5, which was analyzed by LC-MS. Peptude acid **59** was observed instead of azide **58** possibly due to decomposition during MS analysis. * are Fmoc-cleaved peptides due to impurity of SM in this experiment. (d) After conversion to **58**, pH value was elevated to 8.2, resulting in lactam formation. (e) After conversion of azide **58** into MESNa-thioester **60**, pH value was adjusted to 8.1, however this did not show lactam formation.

Chapter 5



Figure 5-9. Hydrazide to MESNa-ester conversion. (a) The scheme of the reaction.(b)RP-HPLC data. (c) ESI-MS of purified 61. * are fragmentation peaks and ** corresponds to Sia-Gal-GlcNAc fragmentation peak. Calculated mass was based on average isotope composition.

The obtained Seg 234 thioester (63) was then ligated with Seg 56 to give Seg 23456 (65) in 26% yield. MESNa-thioester was converted to MPAA-thioester at pH 6.6, which then reacted with Seg56 (64) to give Seg23456 (65) as shown in Figure 5-10. During this ligation, lactam formation was fortunately not observed.



Figure 5-10. (a) Scheme of the NCL reaction. (b) RP-HPLC trace of the reaction. Retention time of the desired product differs because different gradient was used. * is an unidentified peptide. (c) ESI-MS of purified **65**. Calculated mass was based on average isotope composition.

Ligated product Seg23456 (65) in hand, I examined desulfurization of free four Cys residues and deprotection of three Acm groups as shown in Figure 5-11. Glycopeptide 65 was treated with VA-044 (2,2'-azobis[2-(2- imidazolin-2-yl)propane]dihydrochloride, which is a water-soluble radical initiator, in 6 M Gn-HCl buffer containing 250 mM TCEP and 2-methyl-2-propanetiol at 37 °C for 3 h. Addition of the thiol reagent enhances the radical reaction to reduce Cys residues to Ala residues. Purification by RP-HPLC afforded the desired glycopeptide 66. Then, obtained 66 was dissolved in 90% AcOH containing AgOAc to remove Acm groups. After treatment with DTT to remove undesired disulfide bonds, the resulting mixture was purified by RP-HPLC to give Seg23456 (67).

Coupling of Seg 23456 (67) and Seg 1 (52) was performed by NCL reaction. Seg 1 (52) in 50 mM MPAA buffer containing 6 M Gn-HCl, 0.2 M phosphate, 40 mM TCEP (pH 6.5) was added to the obtained Seg 23456 (67). After 2 hours, pH value of the mixture was adjusted to 10.0 in order to remove Pac ester to give a full length of glycosylated EPO (68) as shown in Figure 5-12.

Finally, step-wise dialysis folding of EPO full length (68) was performed based on previous EPO folding. EPO polypeptide (68) was first dissolved in 6 M Gn-HCl buffer, which was then set into dialysis tube. The dialysis tube was kept in 3 M Gn-HCl buffer containing 100 mM Tris-HCl, 4 mM cysteine, and 0.5 mM cysteine, where the redox environment allows disulfide bond formation under the equilibrium manner. Decreasing the concentration of Gn-HCl enabled folding of EPO polypeptide. Aliquot of the reaction mixture was analyzed by LC-MS. Protonation/ charge pattern of the ESI-MS clearly changed compared with the polypeptide MS pattern. Major MS peaks shifted from low m/z to higher m/z, which is a typical pattern of folding experiment. Some undesired MS peaks were observed, however it possibly because of small scale and low intensity of the desired product peaks. This tentative analysis suggested that folding experiment successfully yielded the target EPO (69) even though some impurities were included.

131

Chapter 5



Figure 5-11. (a) Scheme of desulfurization and Acm deprotection reactions. (b) RP-HPLC data for desulfurization reaction. (c) ESI-MS of purified **66**. (d) RP-HPLC data for Acm deprotection reaction. (c) ESI-MS of purified **67**. Calculated masses were based on average isotope composition.

Chapter 5



Figure 5-12. (a) Scheme of the final NCL reaction. (b) RP-HPLC data for purification of 68. Major peak was the desired product and right and left shoulders were undesired products. (c) ESI-MS of purified 68. Calculated mass was based on average isotope composition.



Figure 5-13. Folding of EPO-polypeptide **68**. (a) Scheme of the folding experiment by dialysis. (b) Tentatively picked up MS data from LC-MS analysis. Calculated mass was based on average isotope composition.

5-6. Summary of Chapter 5

I demonstrated the chemical ligation reactions and folding experiment based on newly established glycopeptide synthesis, thus allowing access to the EPO glycoform having one triantennary oligosaccharide and two biantennary oligosaccharides. The glycopeptide having the synthesized triantennary oligosaccharide was applicable to EPO (166 amino acids) synthesis, along with overcoming a difficulty in hydrazide ligation at Lys⁹⁷-Cys(Ala)⁹⁸. Sialyl glycopeptide having a triantennary oligosaccharide (0.5 mg), which was derived from 2.0 mg Fmoc-Asn(Triantennary asialooligosaccharide)-OH, was subjected to sequential ligation to give a full length of glycosylated polypeptide, followed by folding experiment.

Though final folded EPO has not been isolated and structurally confirmed by circular dichroism (CD) and disulfide mapping yet, ESI-MS showed a typical MS pattern of folded EPO.

I established a practical synthetic strategy for the synthesis of EPO glycoforms, which can efficiently vary the oligosaccharide structure on Asn⁸³. Introducing another type of triantennary oligosaccharide, more branched oligosaccharides, and poly-LacNAc containing oligosaccharide will reveal the effect and necessity of carbohydrate diversity.

5-7. References

- (1) Krantz, S. Blood 1991, 77, 419-434.
- (2) Kochendoerfer, G. G.; Chen, S. Y.; Mao, F.; Cressman, S.; Traviglia, S.; Shao, H.; Hunter,
- C. L.; Low, D. W.; Cagle, E. N.; Carnevali, M.; Gueriguian, V.; Keogh, P. J.; Porter, H.;
- Stratton, S. M.; Wiedeke, M. C.; Wilken, J.; Tang, J.; Levy, J. J.; Miranda, L. P.; Crnogorac, M.
- M.; Kalbag, S.; Botti, P.; Schindler-Horvat, J.; Savatski, L.; Adamson, J. W.; Kung, A.; Kent, S.
- B.; Bradburne, J. A. Science 2003, 299, 884-7.
- (3) Richardson, J. P.; Macmillan, D. Org Biomol Chem 2008, 6, 3977-82.
- (4) Hirano, K.; Macmillan, D.; Tezuka, K.; Tsuji, T.; Kajihara, Y. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. **2009**, 48, 9557-60.
- (5) Liu, S.; Pentelute, B. L.; Kent, S. B. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 2012, 51, 993-9.

(6) Murakami, M.; Okamoto, R.; Izumi, M.; Kajihara, Y. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl.* **2012,** *51*, 3567-72.

(7) Wang, P.; Dong, S.; Brailsford, J. A.; Iyer, K.; Townsend, S. D.; Zhang, Q.; Hendrickson, R.

C.; Shieh, J.; Moore, M. A.; Danishefsky, S. J. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 2012, 51, 11576-84.

- (8) Wang, P.; Dong, S.; Shieh, J. H.; Peguero, E.; Hendrickson, R.; Moore, M. A.; Danishefsky,S. J. Science 2013, 342, 1357-60.
- (9) Murakami, M.; Kiuchi, T.; Nishihara, M.; Tezuka, K.; Okamoto, R.; Izumi, M.; Kajihara, Y., *Sci. Adv.* **2016**, *2*. e1500678.
- (10) Dordal, M. S.; Wang, F. F.; Goldwasser, E. Endocrinology 1985, 116, 2293-2299.

(11) Delorme, E.; Lorenzini, T.; Giffin, J.; Martin, F.; Jacobsen, F.; Boone, T.; Elliott, S. *Biochemistry* **1992**, *31*, 9871-6.

(12) Misaizu, T.; Matsuki, S.; Strickland, T. W.; Takeuchi, M.; Kobata, A.; Takasaki, S. *Blood* **1995**, *86*, 4097-104.

(13) Rahbek-Nielsen, H.; Roepstorff, P.; Reischl, H.; Wozny, M.; Koll, H.; Haselbeck, A. J. *Mass Spectrom.* **1997**, *32*, 948-58.

(14) Dawson, P.; Muir, T.; Clark-Lewis, I.; Kent, S. Science 1994, 266, 776-779.

(15) Fang, G.-M.; Li, Y.-M.; Shen, F.; Huang, Y.-C.; Li, J.-B.; Lin, Y.; Cui, H.-K.; Liu, L. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2011**, *50*, 7645-7649.

- (16) Wan, Q.; Danishefsky, S. J. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2007, 46, 9248-9252.
- (17) Yamamoto, N.; Takayanagi, A.; Yoshino, A.; Sakakibara, T.; Kajihara, Y. Chem. Eur. J.

2007, 13, 613-25.

(18) Blankemeyer-Menge, B.; Nimtz, M.; Frank, R. Tetrahedron Lett. 1990, 31, 1701-1704.

(19) Mihala, N.; Bódi, J.; Gömöry, Á.; Süli-Vargha, H. J. Pept. Sci. 2001, 7, 565-568.

(20) Hackeng, T. M.; Griffin, J. H.; Dawson, P. E. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. **1999**, 96, 10068-10073.

(21) Johnson, E. C. B.; Kent, S. B. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2006, 128, 6640-6646.

(22) Siman, P.; Karthikeyan, S. V.; Nikolov, M.; Fischle, W.; Brik, A. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2013**, *52*, 8059-8063.

(23) Rusiecki, V. K.; Warne, S. A. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 1993, 3, 707-710.

(24) Bourgault, S.; Létourneau, M.; Fournier, A. Peptides 2005, 26, 1475-1480.

(25) Shin, D.-S.; Lee, Y.-S. Synlett. 2009, 20, 3307-3310.

Conclusion

I established an unprecedented strategy for the semisynthesis of two kinds of complex-type triantennary oligosaccharides from a biantennary nonasaccharide, which was isolated from hen egg yolk. Finding of the unprecedented protection protocol toward 24 hydroxy groups of a biantennary nonasaccharide enabled me to examine chemical glycosylation with Gal- β -1,4-GlcNAc donor to obtain human type triantennary oligosaccharides. This semisynthesis enabled 9- and 10-step chemical conversion into the desired triantennary oligosaccharides. This strategy significantly reduced the synthetic steps compared with a conventional oligosaccharide synthesis (71 steps for one of triantennary sialyloligosaccharide).

During the course of the synthesis of triantennary oligosaccharides, I found a new selectivity of benzylidene acetal deprotection between Man and Gal, and then studied the selectivity using monosaccharides in order to elucidate what factors regulated this selective deprotection. Thermodynamic parameters obtained by the Arrhenius and Eyring plot revealed entropic difference, which came from the stereochemistry at 4-positions.

Segment coupling of oligosaccharyl asparagine and protected peptides was found to more efficiently yield glycopeptide segment than standard SPPS preparation. Overcoming a difficulty in dealing with protected peptides allowed me to synthesize EPO-glycopeptide having a synthesized triantennary oligosaccharide in good yield. The idea to couple an oligosaccharyl asparagine with pure *C*- and *N*-terminal peptides in solution was critical.

Finally, I demonstrated the synthetic study of EPO having a triantennary and two biantennary oligosaccharides. The synthesized glycopeptide having triantennary sialyloligosaccharide was elongated at its *C*- and *N*-terminus by sequential NCL and hydrazide ligation to give a full length of glycosylated EPO. With monitoring by LC-MS analysis, stepwise dialysis folding produced the folded EPO bearing a triantennary oligosaccharide at 83rd Asn and biantennary oligosaccharides at 24th and 38th Asn.

In summary, I developed the robust synthetic methodology for the preparation of the triantennary oligosaccharides, the glycopeptides, and the glycoprotein having a triantennary oligosaccharide. These all syntheses have been extremely difficult by conventional and traditional methodologies. My strategy is furthermore applicable to synthesize various glycoforms of glycoproteins to shed a light on carbohydrate diversity.

Experimental Information

Table of Contents:

1. General methods and abbreviation	140
2. Experimental procedures and characterizations	
2-1. Isolation of oligosaccharides from hen egg yolk	142
2-2. Synthesis of glycosyl donor	146
2-3. Synthesis of a triantennary oligosaccharide having β -1,6-branching	151
2-4. Synthesis of a triantennary oligosaccharide having β -1,4-branching	163
2-5. Synthesis and investigation of benzylidene monosaccharides	169
2-6. Synthesis of glycopeptide having a triantennary oligosaccharide	171
2-7. Synthesis of an erythropoietin glycoform	178
3. NMR Data	190
4. References	212

1. General methods and abbreviation

Hydroxybenzotriazole (HOBt), Boc-Lys(Cl-Z), Boc-Glu(OBzl), Boc-Ala, Boc-Ile • 1/2H₂O, Boc-Thr(Bzl), Boc-Gly, Boc-Cys(Acm), Boc-Ser(Bzl), Boc-Leu, Boc-Val, Boc-Pro, Boc-Asp(OBzl), Boc-Phe, Boc-Trp(CHO), Boc-Met, Boc-Gln were purchased from PEPTIDE INSTITUDE. INC. O-(1H-Benzotriazol-1-yl)-N,N,N',N'-tetramethyluronium hexafluorophosphate (HBTU), 1H-Benzotriazol-1-yloxy-tri(pyrrolidino)phosphonium hexafluorophosphate (PyBOP), 3,4-Dihydro-3-hydroxy-4-oxo-1,2,3-benzotriazine (HODhbt), Boc-Asn(Xan)-OH, Boc-Tyr(Br-Z)-OH, Boc-Arg(Mtr)-OH, and Boc-Arg(Z)₂-OH were purchased from WATANABE CHEMICAL INDUSTRIES, LTD. Boc-OSu was purchased from Combi-Blocks. 2,2,2-Trifluoroethanol, N-methylimidazole, Triisopropylsilane (TIPS), *N*,*N*-Diisopropylethylamine, Tris(2-carboxyethyl)phosphine Hydrochloride (TCEP), Sodium 2-Mercaptoethanesulfonate (MESNa), tert-Butyl Carbazate, Methyl α-D-Galactosyl Monohydrate, Zinc Chloride, Hexamethyleneimine, Methyl Sulfide (DMS), Trifluoromethanesulfonic acid (TfOH), tert-Butyldiphenylchlorosilane (TBDPSCI), and 1,2-Ethanedithiol (EDT), were purchased from TOKYO CHEMICAL INDUSTRY CO., LTD. Sodium Nitrite, Acetic Acid, Piperidine, Thioanisol, O-Methylhydroxylamine Hydrochloride, 3-Mercaptopropionic Acid, and HEPES {2-[4-(2-Hydroxyethyl)-1-piperazinyl]ethanesulfonic Acid} were purchased from nacalai tesque. 2,2'-Azobis[2-(2-imidazolin-2-yl)propane] Dihydrochloride (VA-044), (±)-Dithiothreitol (DTT), Hydrazine Monohydrate, Silver Acetate, Dimethyl Sulfoxide (DMSO), 1-Methyl-2-pyrrolidone, N,N'-Diisopropylcalbodiimide (DIC), Ninhydrin, Cesium Carbonate, 1,4-Dioxane, Ammonium Acetate, 2-Amino-2-hydroxymethyl-1,3-propanediol (Tris), Sodium Hydrogen Carbonate, Sodium Chloride, Molecular Sieves 4A 1/16, Guanidine Hydrochloride (Gn-HCl), (±)-Camphor-10-sulfonic Acid, 4-Dimethylaminopyridine (DMAP), Magnesium Sulfate, Trifluoroacetic Acid (TFA), Thiophenol, p-Mercaptophenylacetic acid (MPAA), Sodium 2-Mercaptoethanesulfonate (MESNa), Disodium Hydrogenphosphate Dodecahydrate, Chloroform-d, Acetonitrile-d3 were purchased from Wako Chemical Industries, Ltd. Boc-L-thiazolidine-4-carboxylic acid was purchased from BACHEM. O-(Benzotriazol-1-yl)-N, N, N', N'-tetramethyluronium tetrafluoroborate (TBTU), 1-(2-Mesitylenesulfonyl)-3-nitro-1H-1,2,4-triazole (MNST), Amino PEGA resin, 4-(4-Hydroxymethyl-3-methoxyphenoxy)-butyric acid (HMPB), Boc-His(Dnp)-OH isopropanol,

Fmoc-Asn(Trt)-OH, Fmoc-Trp(Boc)-Oh, Fmoc-His(Trt)-OH, Fmoc-Glc(Trt)-OH,
Fmoc-Cys(Trt)-OH, Fmoc-Arg(Pbf)-OH, Fmoc-Glu(O^tBu)-OH, Fmoc-Lys(Boc)-OH,
Fmoc-Asp(O^tBu)-OH, Fmoc-Pro-OH, Fmoc-Ala-OH, Fmoc-Tyr(tBu)-OH, Fmoc-Val-OH,
Fmoc-Ser-OH, Fmoc-Leu-OH, and Fmoc-Ile-OH were purchased from Novabiochem.
Aminomethyl ChemMatrix® resin, Methyl α-D-glucopyranoside, METHYL
α-D-MANNOPYRANOSIDE, Tetrabutylammonium hydrogensulfate, *N*-Iodosuccinimide,
2-Bromoacetophenone, Trityl chloride, ALBUMIN BOVINE, and Acetic acid-d were
purchased from SIGMA-ALDRICH. Acetonitrile, *N*,*N*'-Dimethylformamide, Dichloromethane,
and Chloroform were purchased from KANTO CHEMICAL CO., INC.

¹H and ¹³C NMR spectra were recorded on a 400 MHz or 700 MHz spectrometer (Bruker Avance III). All ¹H chemical shifts are reported in parts per million (ppm) relative to TMS in CDCl₃ (0 ppm), H₂O in CD₃CN (2.13 ppm), CD₃CN (1.94 ppm), or D₂O (4.79 ppm). All ¹³C chemical shifts are assigned according to CD₃Cl (77.16 ppm), CD₃CN (1.32 or 113.26 ppm), d3-AcOD (2.03), or 1,4-dioxane in D₂O as the external standard (67.19 ppm). All NMR signals were assigned on the basis of ¹H NMR, DQF-COSY, HSQC, HMBC, and HSQC-TOCSY. High-resolution mass spectrometry was performed by FTICR (Bruker solariX XR), and other mass spectra were recorded on a Bruker esquire 3000^{plus}, or an amaZon ETD mass spectrometer. TLC-analysis was conducted on Silicagel 60 F₂₅₄ (Merck TLC plates), and visualizations were performed with UV light (254 nm) and/or sulfuric acid stain (5% H₂SO₄ in Methanol). RP-HPLC analyses were performed using 0.1% aq. TFA and 90% aq. CH₃CN containing 0.1% TFA, and RP-UHPLC analyses were performed using 0.1% aq. HCOOH and 90% aq. CH₃CN containing 0.09% HCOOH. RP-HPLC analyses were performed on a Waters 2996 HPLC system equipped with a multi wavelength detector, and RP-UHPLC analyses were performed on a DIONEX UltiMate 3000 UHPLC system equipped with a variable wavelength detector. An XBridgeTM prep column (Waters, 10×250 mm) was used for preparative HPLC using 50 mM aq. NH₄OAc and CH₃CN. A Cadenza CD-C18 (Imtakt, 4.6 mm × 75 mm) column or a Proteonavi (Shiseido, 4.6×250 mm) column were used for analytical HPLC using 0.1% aq. TFA and 90% aq. CH₃CN containing 0.1% TFA, or 50 mM aq. NH₄OAc and CH₃CN, respectively. For LC-MS system, a Cadenza CD-C18 (Imtakt, 100 or 50 × 2 mm) column or a Proteonavi (Shiseido, 2.0 mm× 150 mm) column was used using 0.1% HCOOH and 10% acetonitrile containing 0.1% HCOOH.

2. Experimental Procedures and Characterizations

2-1. Isolation of oligosaccharides from hen egg yolk¹⁻²



Sialylglycopeptide (SGP) (S1)

Distilled water (1 L) was added to fresh hen egg yolk obtained from 60 eggs. To the solution of egg yolk, phenol/water (100 g: 10 g) was added. The mixture was vigorously stirred at 4 °C for 2 hours. To the obtained emulsion, distilled water (400 mL) was added, and the mixture was centrifuged at 12500 g for 30 min. The supernatant was collected, and the oil layer was removed. The resulting mixture was concentrated under reduced pressure and centrifuged at 12500 g for 30 min again to remove insoluble material. The supernatant was then subjected thrice to gel filtration chromatography using a column (ϕ = 4.0 cm, l= 1.0 m) packed with SephadexTM G-50 Fine (GE Healthcare), equilibrated and eluted with 0.1 M distilled water. Fractions containing SGP were collected, concentrated, and lyophilized to afford SGP with some impurities (419 mg).



Biantennary sialylundecasaccharyl asparagine (S2)

Actinase-E (32 mg) was added to a solution of sialylglycopeptide (201 mg) containing some impurities, such as egg yolk peptides, in 50 mM Tris-HCl buffer (10 mM CaCl₂, 0.5% NaN₃, pH 7.5, 10 mL), and this mixture was incubated for 3 days at 37°C. During incubation, the pH value of the mixture was kept at 7.5. After 4 days, to the mixture was added Actinase-E (36 mg) and this reaction mixture was further incubated for 3 days. This reaction was monitored by TLC (1 M NH₄OAc/isopropanol, 1:1) and ESI-MS analyses. On the completion of the reaction, the mixture was lyophilized, and purification of the resulting residue by gel permeation (Sephadex-G 25, ϕ = 2.0 cm, l= 1.0 m) afforded asparagine-linked sialyloligosaccharide **S2** (135 mg, 83%).

¹H NMR (400 MHz, D₂O, HDO 4.79 ppm) δ 5.13 (s, 1 H), 5.07 (d, *J* = 9.65 Hz, 1 H), 4.95 (s, 1 H), 4.77 (s, 1 H), 4.67-4.55 (m, 3 H), 4.44 (d, *J* = 7.78 Hz, 1 H×2), 4.26 (brdd, 1 H), 4.20 (brdd, 1 H), 4.12 (brdd, 1 H), 4.08-3.42 (m), 3.0-2.81 (m, 2 H), 2.67 (brd, 1 H×2), 2.08 (s, 3 H), 2.07 (s, 3 H), 2.06 (s, 3 H), 2.03 (s, 3 H×2), 2.01 (s, 3 H), 1.72 (dd, *J* = 12.1, 12.1 Hz, 1 H×2).
¹³C NMR (100 MHz, D₂O, external standard 1,4-dioxane 66.54 ppm) 174.91, 174.83, 174.71, 174.63, 173.49, 172.84, 172.48, 103.53, 101.28, 100.46, 100.14, 100.12, 99.55, 99.32, 99.26, 96.94, 80.69, 80.61, 80.48, 79.63, 78.70, 78.06, 76.40, 76.18, 74.42, 73.68, 73.53, 72.78, 72.53, 72.41, 72.14, 72.04, 71.97, 71.70, 70.73, 70.18, 69.46, 68.39, 68.19, 67.32, 65.87, 65.68, 63.32, 62.65, 61.70, 61.61, 60.22, 59.96, 59.86, 54.92, 54.63, 53.55, 51.87, 50.85, 40.05, 34.92, 22.41, 22.23, 22.04.

ESI-MS: calcd for $C_{88}H_{144}N_8O_{64}$ [M-2H]²⁻ 1167.4, [M-3H]³⁻ 779.9, found for *m*/z 1167.0, 777.7.



Fmoc-Asparagine(Biantennary sialylundecasaccharide)-OH (46)

To a solution of Asn-linked sialyloligosaccharide **S2** (213 mg, 91µmol) in acetone/H₂O (1: 1, 5.4 mL) was added NaHCO₃ (22 mg) and 9-fluorenylmethyl-*N*-succimidylcarbonate (61 mg, 180µmol), which was stirred at rt for 21 hours. The resulting mixture was evaporated to remove acetone, which was then purified by reverse-phased column packed with Cosmosil 75C₁₈-OPN (ϕ = 30 mm, l= 300 mm; eluted with i) distilled water, ii) 5% aq. acetonitrile). Fractions containing the desired product were collected, evaporated, and lyophilized to afford a pure Fmoc-Asn-linked sialyl-undecasaccharide **46** (133 mg, 52 µmol, 57%).

¹**H NMR**³ (400 MHz, D₂O, HDO 4.79 ppm) d 7.87-7.69 (m, 2 H), 7.69-7.50 (m, 2 H), 7.50-7.26 (m, 4 H), 5.14 (s, 1 H), 4.98 (d, *J* = 9.37 Hz, 1 H), 9.45 (s, 1 H), 4.75 (s, 1 H), 4.66-4.49 (m, 3 H), 4.49-4.31 (m, 4 H), 4.31-4.23 (m, 2 H), 4.20 (brdd, 1 H), 4.17-4.05 (m), 4.05-3.23 (m), 2.82-2.40 (m, 4 H), 2.08 (s, 3 H), 2.07 (s, 3 H×2), 2.03 (s, 3 H×2), 2.00 (s, 3 H), 1.88 (s, 3 H), 1.73 (d, *J* = 12.1 Hz, 1 H×2).

¹³C NMR (100 MHz, D₂O, external standard 1,4-dioxane 67.19 ppm) 179.59, 177,91, 177.73, 175.53, 175.35, 175.16, 174.13, 173.96, 158.11, 144.38, 144.24, 141.46, 128.62, 128.05, 125.71, 120.78, 104.14, 101.90, 101.07, 100.78, 100.76, 100.16, 99.97, 99.92, 97.55, 81.27, 81.19, 81.05, 80.24, 79.34, 78.81, 77.07, 76.90, 76.73, 75.05, 74.96, 74.30, 74.16, 73.45, 73.29, 73.15, 73.04, 72.76, 72.66, 72.59, 72.34, 71.35, 70.80, 70.06, 69.02, 68.82, 67.93, 67.04, 66.48, 66.33, 63.95, 63.29, 62.32, 62.23, 60.86, 60.57, 60.38, 55.50, 55.25, 54.36, 53.18, 52.52, 47.40, 40.68, 39.08, 23.07, 22.90, 22.70, 22.64, 22.47, 21.93.

ESI-MS: calcd for $C_{103}H_{154}N_8O_{66}$ [M-2H]²⁻ 12778.4, found for *m*/z 1278.6.

Experimental Information



Fmoc-Asparagine(Biantennary asialononasaccharide)-OH (3)

Fmoc-Asn-linked sialyl-undecasaccharide **S3** (172 mg, 67 μ mol) was treated with 40 mM HCL (20 mL) at 50 °C for 20 hours. On the completion of sialic acid removal, the mixture was neutralized with aq. NaHCO₃ and lyophilized. Purification of the residue with revers-phased column packed with Cosmosil 75C₁₈-OPN (ϕ = 30 mm, l= 300 mm; eluted with i) distilled water, ii) 20% aq. MeOH) afforded Asn-linked asialo-nonasaccharide **3** (111 mg, 56 μ mol, 84%).

¹**H NMR** (700 MHz, D₂O, HDO 4.79 ppm) δ 7.89-7.78 (m, 2 H), 7.73-7.54 (m, 2 H), 7.47-7.40 (m, 2 H), 7.40-7.28 (m, 2 H), 5.16 (s, 1 H), 4.99 (d, *J* = 9.03 Hz, 1 H), 4.75 (s, 1 H), 4.68-4.54 (m, 3 H), 4.54-4.41 (m, 3 H), 4.24 (brs, 1 H), 4.23-4.16 (m, 2 H), 4.11 (brs, 1 H), 4.05-3.39 (m), 2.80-2.61 (m, 2 H), 2.07 (s, 3 H), 2.05 (s, 3 H), 2.04 (s, 3 H), 1.89 (s, 3 H). ESI-MS: calcd for C₈₁H₁₂₀N₆O₅₀ [M+2H]²⁺ 989.4, found for *m*/z 989.2

2.2 Synthesis of glycosyl donor⁴



2,3,4,6-tetra-*O*-acetyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl-(1 \rightarrow 4)-1,2,3,6-tetra-*O*-acetyl- β -D-glucopyrano se (14). A suspension of sodium acetate (4.57 g, 55.7 mmol) in acetic anhydride (100 mL) was heated at reflux. D-(+)-Lactose monohydrate 13 (20.1 g, 55.8 mmol) was then added into the mixture by small portions. The reaction mixture gradually became a clean solution, which was stirred under reflux for 2 additional hours. The solution was then poured into a beaker containing ice water (1.3 L), which was then vigorous stirred until the ice melted. The resulting mixture was filtered and recrystallized from EtOH and petroleum ether to afford Octa-*O*-acetyl- β -D-lactopyranose (14) as a white crystal (29 g, 43 mmol, 78%).

¹**H**(**400 MHz, CD₃Cl, TMS**) δ 5.72-5.65 (d, *J* = 8.27 Hz, 1 H), 5.39-5.34 (dd, *J* = 3.51, 0.81 Hz, 1 H), 5.30-5.22 (dd, *J* = 9.17 Hz, 1 H), 5.16-5.09 (dd, *J* = 10.34, 7.91 Hz, 1 H), 5.09-5.02 (dd, *J* = 9.71, 8.36 Hz, 1 H), 4.99-4.93 (dd, *J* = 10.61, 3.42 Hz, 1 H), 4.52-4.43 (m, 2 H), 4.20-4.05 (m, 3 H), 3.93-3.82 (m, 2 H), 3.81-3.73 (ddd, *J* = 9.80, 4.86, 1.89 Hz, 1 H) 2.18-2.16 (s, 3 H), 2.14-2.13 (s, 3 H), 2.12-2.10 (s, 3 H), 2.09-2.08 (s, 3 H), 2.07-2.06 (s, 3 H), 2.06-2.05 (s, 3 H), 1.99-1.97 (s, 3H).

¹³C(100 MHz, CD₃Cl, TMS) δ 170.52, 170.46, 170.29, 170.22, 169.77, 169.71, 169.16, 169.00, 101.11, 91.67, 75.82, 73.63, 72.77, 71.10, 70.88, 70.64, 69.13, 66.72, 61.87, 60.97, 20.99, 20.97, 20.90, 20.79, 20.75, 20.65.



2,3,4,6-tetra-*O*-acetyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl-(1 \rightarrow 4)-3,6-di-*O*-acetyl-D-glucal (16). To a solution of 14 (6.46 g, 9.52 mmol) in AcOH (6.5 mL) was slowly added 30% hydrogen bromide in acetic acid (6.46 mL, ca. 27.8 mmol) and stirred at rt for 5 hours. The resulting mixture was slowly added to Zinc (powder) (7.47 g, 114 mmol, 12 equiv), copper (IV) sulfate anhydrous

(457 mg, 2.86 mmol) in 50 % aq. AcOH (64 mL) and stirred at rt for 2 h. During this reaction, the temperature was carefully kept at $0 \sim 5$ °C. Then the reaction mixture was filtered through celite-charcoal and extracted with CH₂Cl₂. The organic phase was washed with H₂O twice, sat. NaHCO₃ twice, dried over MgSO₄, filtered, and concentrated to give **16** (4.9 g, 8.8 mmol, 92%).

¹**H(400 MHz, CD₃Cl, TMS)** δ 6.44-6.39 (dd, J = 6.04, 1.01 Hz, 1 H), 5.43-5.39 (ddd, 1 H), 5.39-5.35 (dd, J = 3.63, 0.97 Hz, 1 H), 5.24-5.17 (dd, J = 10.50, 7.87 Hz, 1 H), 5.04-4.98 (dd, J = 10.58, 3.53 Hz, 1 H), 4.87-4.82 (dd, J = 6.13, 3.37 Hz, 1 H), 4.69-4.64 (d, J = 8.1 Hz, 1 H), 4.48-4.41 (dd, J = 11.43, 2.29 Hz, 1 H), 4.23-4.13 (m, 3 H), 4.12-4.05 (dd, J = 11.24, 7.43 Hz, 1 H), 4.03-3.97 (dd, J = 7.27, 5.46, 1 H), 3.94-3.88 (ddd, 1 H), 2.17-2.16 (s, 3 H), 2.13-2.12 (s, 3 H), 2.10-2.09 (s, 3H), 2.08-2.06 (s, 3 H), 2.06-2.05 (s, 3 H), 1.99-1.98 (s, 3 H).

¹³C(100 MHz, CD₃Cl, TMS) δ 170.61, 170.59, 170.36, 170.29, 170.11, 169.45, 145.59, 101.19, 99.13, 74.81, 74.30, 70.97, 70.84, 69.00, 68.99, 66.83, 61.98, 61.10, 21.24, 21.01, 20.81, 20.78, 20.71.



2,3,4,6-tetra-*O*-acetyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl-(1 \rightarrow 4)-3,6-di-*O*-acetyl-2-azido-2-deoxy-Dgluco- and mannopyranosyl nitrate (17).⁵⁻⁶ To a solution of 16 (10.5 g, 18.8 mmol) in dry acetonitrile (45 mL) was added diammonium cerium (IV) nitrate (23.4 g, 42.7 mmol), sodium azide (1.71 g, 26.3 mmol) at -15 °C and stirred at the same temperature under argon gas for 15 hours. Then, the reaction mixture was poured into Brine and extracted with diethylether thrice. Organic phase was dried over MgSO₄, filtered, and concentrated. The crude residue was purified by flash column chromatography (hexane/EtOAc = 2:1 to 3:2, ϕ = 6.5 cm, h= 15 cm) to give 16 (6.59 g, 9.91 mmol, 53%, α -gluco: β -gluco: α -manno = 1:2:1) as a white powder.



2,3,4,6-tetra-*O*-acetyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl-(1 \rightarrow 4)-3,6-di-*O*-acetyl-2-azido-2-deoxy- α -D-glucopyranosyl chloride (18). To the obtained compound 16 (6.59 g, 9.91 mmol) in dry acetonitrile (31.5 mL) was added tetraethylammonium chloride (7.29 g, 44.0 mmol) and stirred at rt for 15 hours. Then, the reaction mixture was diluted with CH₂Cl₂, washed with Brine twice, dried over MgSO₄, filtered, and concentrated. The crude residue was recrystallized from ethanol-petroleum ether to give glycosyl chloride 18 as a white powder (2.39 g, 3.75 mmol, 38%).

¹H(400 MHz, CD₃Cl, TMS) δ 6.09-6.307 (d, J = 3.74 Hz, 1 H), 5.54-5.47 (dd, J = 9.73 Hz, 1 H), 5.38-5.35 (d, J = 3.15 Hz, 1 H), 5.16-5.10 (dd, J = 10.37, 7.99 Hz, 1 H), 4.99-4.94 (dd, J = 10.37, 3.47 Hz, 1 H), 4.52-4.47 (m, 2 H), 4.28-4.22 (ddd, J = 10.09, 4.29, 1.32 Hz, 1 H), 4.22-4.16 (m, 2 H), 4.11-4.05 (dd, J = 11.10, 7.40 Hz, 1 H), 3.92-3.87 (dd, J = 6.80 Hz, 1 H), 3.87-3.80 (dd, J = 9.64 Hz, 1 H), 3.75-3.70 (dd, J = 10.37, 3.88, 1 H), 2.18-2.17 (s, 3 H), 2.15-2.14 (s, 3 H), 2.14-2.13 (s, 3H), 2.08-2.07 (s, 3 H), 2.07-2.05 (s, 3 H), 1.98-1.96 (s, 3 H). ¹³C(100 MHz, CD₃Cl, TMS) δ 170.50, 170.31, 170.29, 170.24, 169.32, 169.05, 100.97, 91.89, 75.40, 71.80, 71.11, 70.95, 70.01, 69.15, 66.70, 62.69, 61.33, 60.95, 20.98, 20.97, 20.80, 20.66.



Phenyl (2,3,4,6-tetra-*O*-acetyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-3,6-di-*O*-acetyl-2-azido-2-deoxy-1-thio- β -D-glucopyranoside (19).

To a solution of **18** (1.91 g, 3.0 mmol) in ethylacetate (24 mL) was added tetrabutylammonium hydrogensulfate (1.01 g, 2.98 mmol), thiophenol (911 μ L, 8.93 mmol), and 1 M aqueous sodium carbonate (24 mL). The resulting mixture was stirred at 40 °C for 2 hours.⁷ The mixture was diluted with ethylacetate, washed by 0.1 M aq. NaHCO₃ twice, dried over Mg₂SO₄, filtered, and concentrated. The resulting residue was purified by silica gel column chromatography (hexane/EtOAc = 5:1 to 1:1, ϕ = 5.0 cm, h= 15 cm). Fractions containing the desired thioglycoside were combined and evaporated. The resulting residue was recrystallized

from ethanol and petroleum ether to give 19 (539 mg, 0.78 mmol, 25%).

$[\alpha]_{D}^{17}$ -32.3 (*c* 0.42 CHCl₃)

¹**H NMR** (400 MHz, CDCl₃, TMS): 7.60-7.54 (m, 2 H), 7.39-7.31 (m, 3 H), 5.35 (brd, 1 H, J = 3.29 Hz), 5.13-5.04 (m, 2 H), 4.94 (dd, J = 10.31, 3.42 Hz, 1 H), 4.52 (dd, J = 12.00, 1.41 Hz, 1 H), 4.47 (d, J = 10.13 Hz, 1 H), 4.44 (d, J = 7.91 Hz, 1 H), 4.16 (dd, J = 11.04, 6.18 Hz, 1 H), 4.11 (dd, J = 11.98, 4.96 Hz, 1 H), 4.11 (dd, J = 7.49, 11.08 Hz, 1 H), 3.86 (bddd J = 6.72 Hz, 1 H), 3.67-3.56 (m, 2 H), 3.32 (dd, J = 10.07, 10.02 Hz, 1 H), 2.15 (s, 3 H), 2.12 (s, 3 H), 2.11 (s, 3 H), 2.04 (s, 3 H), 2.03 (s, 3 H), 1.96 (s, 3 H).

¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃): 20.64, 20.74, 20.77, 20.98, 60.93, 62.15, 63.24, 66.73, 69.21, 70.86, 71.12, 73.93, 75.87, 77.36, 77.01, 86.01, 101.07, 128.88, 129.17, 130.81, 134.06, 169.03, 169.49, 170.21, 170.26, 170.35, 170.43.

HRMS (ESI): calcd for $C_{30}H_{37}Cl_{3}O_{17}S[M+Na]^{+}734.1838$, found for m/z 734.1834 $[M+Na]^{+}$.



Phenyl $(2,3,4,6-tetra-O-acetyl-\beta-D-galactopyranosyl)-(1\rightarrow 4)-3,6-di-O-acetyl-2-deoxy-2-<math>(2,2,2-trichloroethoxycarbonylamino)-1-thio-\beta-D-glucopyranoside (10).$

To a solution of **19** (530 mg, 0.74 mmol) in tetrahydrofuran (7.4 mL) was slowly added AcOH (2.2 mL, 37 mmol) and activated zinc (4.8 g, 74 mmol). Zinc was activated as previously reported. The reaction mixture was stirred at rt for 30 min and diluted with CH₂Cl₂. The resulting mixture was filtered over celite, washed by sat. aq. NaHCO₃ thrice, dried over MgSO₄, filtered, and concentrated *in vacuo*. Triethylamine (267 µL, 1.92 mmol) and 2,2,2-trichloroethyl chloroformate were slowly added to a solution of crude amine in CH₂Cl₂ (5.3 mL) and stirred at rt under argon gas for 5 hours. This reaction mixture was diluted with CH₂Cl₂, washed by sat. aq. NaHCO₃ thrice and Brine, dried over MgSO₄, filtered, and concentrated. The crude reside was purified by silica gel column chromatography (hexane/EtOAc = 1:2.5 to 2:3, ϕ = 3.5 cm, h= 15 cm). Fractions containing the desired product were combined and evaporated. The resulting residue was recrystallized from ethanol and petroleum ether to give glycosyl donor **10** (224 mg, 0.26 mmol, 35%)⁴. $[\alpha]_{\rm D}^{17}$ -7.63 (*c* 1.0 CHCl₃)

¹**H NMR**⁸ (400 MHz, CDCl₃, TMS): 7.52-7.45 (m, 2 H), 7.33-7.27 (m, 3 H), 5.35 (brd, *J* = 3.22 Hz, 1 H), 5.27 (d, *J* = 9.57 Hz, 1 H), 5.14 (dd, *J* = 9.40, 8.76 Hz, 1 H), 5.10 (dd, *J* = 10.30, 7.85 Hz, 1 H), 4.96 (dd, *J* = 10.44, 3.37 Hz, 1 H), 4.81 (d, *J* = 12.06 Hz, 1H), 4.74 (d, *J* = 12.12 Hz, 1 H), 4.70 (d, *J* = 10.39 Hz, 1 H), 4.55-4.45 (m, 2 H), 4.18-4.02 (m, 3 H), 3.87 (brddd, *J* = 6.84 Hz, 1 H), 3.82-3.70 (m, 2 H), 3.64 (ddd, *J* = 9.51, 5.74, 1.83 Hz, 1 H), 2.13(s, 3 H), 2.11 (s, 3 H), 2.06 (s, 3 H), 2.05 (s, 3 H), 2.04 (s, 3 H), 1.97 (s, 3 H).

¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃): 20.65, 20.75, 20.78, 20.94, 20.98, 55.35, 60.98, 62.44, 66.76, 69.24, 70.89, 71.07, 73.58, 74.74, 76.34, 77.36, 87.11, 95.53, 101.23, 128.29, 129.06, 132.46, 132.82, 154.30, 169.24, 170.19, 170.25, 170.43, 170.48, 170.55.

HRMS (ESI): calcd for C₃₃H₄₀Cl₃NO₁₇S [M+Na]⁺ 882.0975; found for *m/z* 882.0962 [M+Na]⁺.



2-3. Synthesis of a triantennary oligosaccharide having β -1,6-branching

 N^2 -(9-Fluorenylmethyloxycarbonyl)- N^4 -{O-(2,3-di-O-acetyl-4,6-O-benzylidene- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-O-(2-acetamido-3,6-di-O-acetyl-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 2)-O-(3-O-acetyl-4,6-O-benzylidene- α -D-mannopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-O-[(2,3-di-O-acetyl-4,6-O-benzylidene- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-O-(2-acetamido-3,6-di-O-acetyl-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 2)-O-(3-O-acetyl-4,6-O-benzylidene- α -D-mannopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-O-(2-acetamido-3,6-di-O-acetyl-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-(2-acetamido-3,6-di-O-acetyl-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-(2-acetamido-3,6-di-A-Acetyl-2-(2-acetamido-

To a solution of Asn-linked biantennary asialononasaccharide **3** (139 mg, 70.4 μ mol) in DMF (14 mL) were added camphor-10-sulfonic acid (162 mg, 697 μ mol) and benzaldehyde dimethyl acetal (420 μ L, 2.71 mmol). The reaction mixture was stirred under an atomosphere of Ar at rt, and the reaction was monitored with RP-HPLC. After 17 hours, the reaction mixture was poured into ice-cold diethylether to form a precipitate. The suspension was centrifuged, and diethylether was decanted. The precipitate was then washed twice more with ice-cold diethylether and air-dried to give crude tetra-benzylidene derivative **4**. The resultant **4** was then used for the next reaction without further purification; ESI-MS calcd for C₁₀₉H₁₃₆N₆O₅₀ [M+2H]²⁺ 1165.4, found for *m/z* 1165.4.

To a solution of crude tetra-benzylidene derivative **4** in DMF (14 mL) were added N,N'-diisopropylethylamine (62 µL, 354 µmol) and 2-bromoacetophenone (42 mg, 211 µmol). The reaction mixture was stirred at rt for 3 hours, and RP-HPLC showed complete conversion to the phenacyl ester (**S2**). The mixture was treated with ice-cold diethylether and centrifuged to

Experimental Information

give crude ester **S2**. The resulting **S2** was then used for the next reaction without further purification; ESI-MS calcd for $C_{117}H_{142}N_6O_{51}$ [M+2H]²⁺ 1224.4, found for *m/z* 1224.5.

To a solution of crude ester **S2** in acetic anhydride (1.4 mL) and pyridine (1.4 mL), N,N'-dimethyl-4-aminopyridine (9 mg, 70 µmol) was added, and the resulting mixture was stirred at rt for 3 hours. The reaction was monitored with RP-HPLC and TLC. After the completion of the reaction, ice-cold MeOH was added to the mixture on an ice bath. The mixture was then allowed to warm up to rt, after which it was concentrated, and the resulting residue was azeotropically dried with toluene several times. The resulting residue was dissolved in aq. CH₃CN, filtered, and purified by preparative RP-HPLC (XBridge, 50 mM aq. NH₄OAc:CH₃CN = 40:60 to 30:70 over 90 min at 4 mL/min). Fractions containing the desired product were combined, treated with Dowex to remove ammonium acetate salt, filtered, and lyophilized to provide fully protected oligosaccharide **5** (52 mg, 24%) as a white form.

$[\alpha]_{D}^{24}$ -10.3 (*c*: 0.93, CHCl₃)

¹**H NMR** (400 MHz, CD₃CN, HDO 2.13 ppm) δ 7.52 (d, *J* = 7.75 Hz, 2 H), 7.42 (d, *J* = 7.49 Hz, 2 H), 7.29-7.20 (m, 3 H), 7.18-7.09 (m, 3 H), 7.09-6.88 (m, 23 H), 6.34-6.25 (m, 2 H), 6.25-6.18 (m, 2 H), 6.04 (d, *J* = 8.61 Hz, 1 H), 5.18 (s, 1 H), 5.14 (s, 3 H), 5.06-4.94 (m, 3 H), 4.89 (dd *J* = 9.95, 9.85.Hz, 1 H), 4.78-4.54 (m, 10 H), 4.47 (s, 1 H), 4.45 (dd, *J* = 6.21, 3.19 Hz, 1 H), 4.39 (s, 1 H), 4.33 (s, 1 H), 4.33-4.28 (m, 1 H), 4.23-4.15 (m, 3 H), 4.09 (d, *J* = 8.39 Hz, 1 H), 4.03 (d, *J* = 8.61 Hz, 1 H), 4.01-3.65 (m, 19 H), 3.64-3.41 (m, 9 H), 3.41-3.10 (m, 17 H), 2.45-2.30 (m, 2 H), 1.75 (s, 3 H), 1.72 (s, 3 H), 1.69 (s, 3 H), 1.69 (s, 6 H), 1.67 (s, 3 H), 1.66 (s, 3 H), 1.65 (s, 3 H), 1.62 (s, 3 H), 1.61 (s, 3 H), 1.36 (s, 3 H).

¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CD₃CN 118.26 ppm) δ 193.32, 171.97, 171.84, 171.57, 171.54, 171.47, 171.41, 171.21, 171.17, 171.13, 171.08, 171.02, 170.91, 170.57, 170.54, 170.49, 156.88, 145.01, 144.09, 139.28, 139.25, 138.74, 135.01, 134.98, 130.04, 129.97, 129.87, 129.19, 129.13, 129.06, 128.74, 128.68, 128.12, 127.41, 127.32, 127.25, 126.14, 120.95, 102.75, 102.55, 101.64, 101.55, 101.32, 101.02, 100.60, 99.68, 99.21, 79.52, 79.10, 78.49, 77.84, 77.61, 76.78, 76.42, 76.37, 76.14, 75.61, 75.55, 75.26, 74.43, 74.37, 74.01, 73.78, 73.68, 73.54, 73.29, 73.00, 72.84, 72.22, 71.63, 70.31, 69.97, 69.92, 69.87, 69.34, 69.21, 69.13, 68.38, 67.94, 67.42, 67.19, 67.11, 65.65, 64.91, 63.45, 63.35, 63.25, 62.24, 55.00, 54.90, 54.15, 53.78, 51.51, 47.93, 38.26, 23.24, 23.18, 23.05, 21.57, 21.54, 21.22, 21.19, 21.16, 21.12, 21.08, 21.05, 21.01, 20.98, 20.89.

HRMS (ESI): calcd for $C_{149}H_{174}N_6O_{67}$ [M+2H]²⁺ 1560.5269, found for *m/z* 1560.5242 [M+2H]²⁺.



 N^2 -(9-Fluorenylmethyloxycarbonyl)- N^4 -{O-(2,3-di-O-acetyl-4,6-O-benzylidene- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-O-(2-acetamido-3,6-di-O-acetyl-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 2)-O-(3-O-acetyl-4,6-O-benzylidene- α -D-mannopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-O-[(2,3-di-O-acetyl-4,6-O-benzylidene- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-O-(2-acetamido-3,6-di-O-acetyl-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 2)-O-(3-O-acetyl- α -D-mannopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 6)]-O-(2,4-di-O-acetyl- β -D-mannopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-O-(2-acetamido-3,6-di-O-acetyl-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-(2-acetamido-3,6-di-O-acetyl-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopy



 N^2 -(9-Fluorenylmethyloxycarbonyl)- N^4 -{O-(2,3-di-O-acetyl-4,6-O-benzylidene- β -D-

galactopyranosyl)- $(1\rightarrow 4)$ -O-(2-acetamido-3,6-di-O-acetyl-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)- $(1\rightarrow 2)$ -O-(3-O-acetyl- α -D-mannopyranosyl)- $(1\rightarrow 3)$ -O-[(2,3-di-O-acetyl-4,6-O-benzylidene- β -D-galactopyranosyl)- $(1\rightarrow 4)$ -O-(2-acetamido-3,6-di-O-acetyl-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)- $(1\rightarrow 2)$ -O-(3-O-acetyl-4,6-O-benzylidene- α -D-mannopyranosyl)- $(1\rightarrow 6)$]-O-(2,4-di-O-acetyl- β -D-mannopyranosyl)- $(1\rightarrow 4)$ -O-(2-acetamido-3,6-di-O-acetyl-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)- $(1\rightarrow 4)$ -(2-acetamido-3,6-di-O-acetyl-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)- $(2\rightarrow 4)$ - $(2\rightarrow 4)$ -(



 N^2 -(9-Fluorenylmethyloxycarbonyl)- N^4 -{O-(2,3-di-O-acetyl-4,6-O-benzylidene- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-O-(2-acetamido-3,6-di-O-acetyl-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 2)-O-(3-O-acetyl- α -D-mannopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-O-[(2,3-di-O-acetyl-4,6-O-benzylidene- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-O-(2-acetamido-3,6-di-O-acetyl-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 2)-O-(3-O-acetyl- α -D-mannopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 6)]-O-(2,4-di-O-acetyl- β -D-mannopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-O-(2-acetamido-3,6-di-O-acetyl-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-O-(2-acetamido-3,6-di-O-acetyl-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-(2-acetamido-3,6-di-O-acetyl-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-(2-acetamido-3,6-di-O-acetyl-2-(2-acetamido-A-acetyl-2-(2-acetamido-A-(2-acetamido-A-(2-a

The fully protected oligosaccharide **5** (21.3 mg, 6.83 μ mol) was dissolved in ice-cold 60% aq. AcOH and stirred with allowing the temperature to arise from 0 °C to rt. The reaction was monitored with RP-HPLC and TLC. After 10 hours, the mixture was then concentrated *in vacuo* and azeotropically dried with toluene. The resulting residue was dissolved in aq. CH₃CN, filtered, and purified by preparative HPLC (X-Bridge, 50 mM aq. NH₄Ac:CH₃CN = 47:53 to

37:63 over 90 min at 4 mL/min). Fractions containing dibenzylidene derivative **8**, tribenzylidene derivatives **6** and **7**, and remaining starting material **5** were individually collected, and then treated with Dowex in order to remove ammonium acetate salt. Lyophilization of them gave dibenzylidene derivative **8** (1.8 mg, 9%), tribenzylidene derivative **6** (2.7 mg, 13%), tribenzylidene derivative **7** (3.3 mg, 15%), and starting material **5** (3.4 mg, 16%) as white forms. The recovered starting material was used in deprotection of benzylidene acetal group repetitively. Benzylidene acetalation was performed to the dibenzylidene derivative by benzylidene dimethyl acetal and camphor-10-suphonic acid in CH₃CN to yield tetra- and tribenzylidene derivatives again.

Tribenzylidene derivative 6;

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CD₃CN, HOD 2.13 ppm) δ 7.79-7.71 (d, *J* = 7.42 Hz, 2H), 7.69-7.63 (dd, *J* = 7.42, 2.78 Hz, 2H), 7.51-7.46 (m, 3H), 7.39-7.32 (m, 2H), 7.31-7.11 (m, 19H), 6.51-6.41 (m, 2H), 6.39-6.33 (d, *J* = 9.29 Hz, 1H), 6.22-6.14 (d, *J* = 8.77 Hz, 1H), 5.39-5.37 (s, 2H), 5.37-5.35 (s, 1H), 5.31-5.16 (m, 3H), 5.02-4.93 (m, 2H), 4.93-4.77 (m, 8H), 4.73-4.69 (s, 1H), 4.69-4.62 (m, 2H), 4.59-4.50 (m, 3H), 4.47-4.40 (m, 2H), 4.39-4.31 (m, 2H), 4.27-3.87 (m, 18H), 3.87-3.80 (m, 4H), 3.80-3.56 (m, 12H), 3.56-3.31 (m, 12H), 2.69-2.52 (m, 2H), 2.00-1.97 (s, 3H), 1.94-1.92 (s, 6H), 1.91-1.89 (s, 6H), 1.89 (s, 3H), 1.89-1.87 (s, 6H), 1.86-1.84 (s, 3H), 1.84-1.82 (s, 9H), 1.81-1.80 (s, 3H), 1.80-1.79 (s, 6H), 1.79-1.78 (s, 3H), 1.70-1.68 (s, 6H), 1.68-1.66 (s, 3H), 1.64-1.59 (s, 3H).

¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CD₃CN, 118.26 ppm) δ 193.27, 172.49, 172.09, 171.98, 171.82, 171.56, 171.49, 171.45, 171.22, 171.11, 171.06, 170.94, 170.89, 170.55, 170.50, 156.85, 144.98, 142.06, 139.26, 139.23, 138.70, 134.97, 130.02, 129.96, 129.85, 129.18, 129.05, 128.72, 128.66, 128.09, 127.28, 127.24, 126.13, 120.94, 102.52, 101.97, 101.59, 101.50, 101.10, 100.48, 98.77, 98.34, 79.53, 77.92, 77.79, 77.38, 76.85, 76.10, 75.67, 75.47, 75.13, 74.39, 74.35, 74.08, 73.94, 73.79, 73.68, 73.59, 73.45, 72.96, 72.77, 72.73, 72.18, 71.37, 69.92, 69.86, 69.81, 69.11, 68.92, 67.92, 67.51, 67.39, 67.15, 67.08, 65.62, 64.60, 63.40, 63.29, 63.22, 62.42, 54.87, 54.73, 54.20, 53.68, 51.45, 47.89, 38.21, 23.46, 23.32, 23.21, 23.13, 23.03, 21.54, 21.49, 21.25, 21.17, 21.14, 21.11, 21.03, 20.98, 20.94, 20.88, 20.60.

HRMS (ESI): calcd for $C_{142}H_{170}N_6O_{67}$ [M+2H]²⁺ 1516.5113, found for *m/z* 1516.5156 [M+2H]²⁺.

Tribenzylidene derivative 7;

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CD₃CN) δ 7.80 (d, *J* = 7.46 Hz, 2 H), 7.69 (d, *J* = 7.54 Hz, 2 H), 7.56-7.49(m, 3 H), 7.43-7.37 (m, 2 H), 7.37-6.15 (m, 19 H), 6.44-6.30 (m, 4 H), 6.17 (d, *J* = 8.79, 1 H), 5.44 (s, 1 H), 5.42 (s, 1 H), 5.41 (s, 1 H), 5.33-5.19 (m, 3 H), 5.12 (dd, *J* = 9.89, 9.77 Hz, 1 H), 5.03-4.80 (m, 10 H), 4.64 (s, 2 H), 4.61-4.53 (m, 2 H), 4.52-4.40 (m, 4 H), 4.31-3.84 (m, 21 H), 3.84-3.35 (m, 26 H), 2.71-2.55 (m, 2 H), 2.02 (s, 3 H), 1.96 (s, 3 H), 1.95 (s, 3 H), 1.92 (s, 9 H), 1.91 (s, 6 H), 1.87 (s, 6 H), 1.86 (s, 3 H), 1.85 (s, 3 H), 1.84 (s, 6 H), 1.82 (s, 3 H), 1.73 (s, 3 H), 1.71 (s, 6 H), 1.68 (s, 3 H), 1.62 (s, 3 H).

¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CD₃CN, 118.26 ppm) δ 193.30, 171.97, 171.90, 171.83, 171.65, 171.57, 171.52, 171.46, 171.39, 171.32, 171.19, 171.17, 171.16, 171.07, 171.01, 170.98, 170.89, 170.58, 170.48, 174.98, 156.85, 144.98, 142.07, 139.26, 139.22, 138.71, 130.02, 129.85, 129.17, 129.12, 128.73, 128.66, 128.10, 127.40, 127.25, 127.23, 126.12, 120.94, 102.71, 101.61, 101.55, 101.53, 101.48, 100.95, 100.44, 99.55, 99.20, 79.48, 77.71, 77.65, 77.55, 75.73, 76.33, 76.28, 75.81, 75.44, 75.19, 74.77, 74.40, 74.35, 73.94, 73.71, 73.47, 73.20, 73.05, 72.96, 72.64, 72.19, 71.43, 70.30, 69.87, 69.81, 69.31, 69.18, 69.11, 68.46, 67.93, 67.39, 67.15, 67.08, 64.83, 64.31, 63.27, 63.13, 62.05, 54.89, 54.66, 54.12, 53.76, 51.47, 47.90, 38.22, 23.42, 23.33, 23.19, 23.15, 23.02, 21.58, 21.51, 21.22, 21.17, 21.14, 21.11, 21.06, 20.99, 20.95, 20.90, 20.87.
 HRMS (ESI): calcd for C₁₄₂H₁₇₀N₆O₆₇ [M+2H]²⁺ 1516.5113, found for *m/z* 1516.5163 [M+2H]²⁺.

Dibenzylidene derivative 8;

¹H NMR (700 MHz, CD₃CN) δ 7.93 (d, J = 7.53 Hz, 2 H), 7.83 (d, J = 7.56 Hz, 2 H), 7.69-7.64 (m, 3 H), 7.56-7.51 (m, 2 H), 7.46-7.39 (m, 12 H), 7.36-7.31 (m, 2 H), 7.24 (d, J = 8.66 Hz, 1 H), 6.51-6.46 (m, 2 H), 6.44 (d, J = 9.31 Hz, 1 H), 6.40 (d, J = 9.11 Hz, 1 H), 6.24 (d, J = 8.80 Hz, 1 H), 5.55 (s, 2 H), 5.43 (d, J = 16.56 Hz), 5.37 (d, J = 16.56 Hz, 1 H), 5.34 (d, J = 3.06 Hz, 1 H), 5.14-4.94 (m, 10 Hz), 4.80 (dd, J = 9.89, 3.27 Hz, 1 H), 4.75 (s, 1 H), 4.73-4.64 (m, 3 H), 4.62-4.56 (m, 3 H), 4.54 (d, J = 8.34 Hz, 1 H), 4.42-4.29 (m, 9 H), 4.29-4.20 (m, 3 H), 4.19-4.05 (m, 6 H), 4.02 (dd, J = 12.12 5.23 Hz, 1 H), 3.98 (brs, 1 H), 3.95 (dd, J = 9.80, 3.13 Hz), 3.90-3.72 (m, 11 H), 3.72-3.50 (m, 15 H), 3.47 (dd, J = 10.53, 2.44 Hz), 3.36 (brs, 1 H), 3.17 (brs, 1 H), 2.09 (s, 6 H), 2.08 (s, 3 H), 2.06 (s, 3 H), 2.05 (s, 6 H), 2.03 (s, 3 H), 2.02 (s, 3 H), 2.01 (s, 6 H), 2.00 (s, 3 H), 1.99 (s, 3 H), 1.96 (s, 6 H), 1.95 (s, 3 H), 1.85 (s, 6 H), 1.83 (s, 3 H), 1.75 (s, 3 H).

¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CD₃CN 118.26 ppm) δ 193.28, 172.02, 171.95, 171.92, 171.82, 171.65,

171.52, 171.48, 171.41, 171.38, 171.26, 171.23, 171.19, 170.99, 170.92, 170.88, 170.55, 170.55, 170.50, 156.84, 144.98, 142.06, 139.25, 139.23, 134.97, 130.02, 129.85, 129.17, 128.72, 128.65, 129.09, 127.23, 126.12, 120.93, 101.91, 101.62, 101.58, 101.51, 101.46, 100.30, 98.74, 98.47, 79.49, 77.53, 77.41, 77.21, 76.75, 75.69, 75.15, 74.99, 74.76, 74.38, 74.34, 74.10, 73.99, 73.86, 73.69, 73.56, 73.49, 73.45, 73.18, 73.01, 72.75, 72.57, 72.18, 71.21, 69.85, 69.80, 69.15, 69.10, 69.06, 67.92, 67.53, 67.38, 67.13, 67.08, 64.62, 64.28, 63.31, 63.27, 63.15, 62.45, 62.06, 57.87, 54.69, 54.20, 53.69, 51.45, 47.89, 38.20, 23.43, 23.40, 23.13, 23.02, 21.56, 21.50, 21.25, 21.14, 21.11, 20.99, 20.93, 20.87, 20.58, 18.67.

HRMS (ESI): calcd for $C_{135}H_{166}N_6O_{67}$ [M+2H]²⁺ 1472.4956, found for *m/z* 11472.4956 [M+2H]²⁺.



 N^2 -(9-Fluorenylmethyloxycarbonyl)- N^4 -{O-(2,3-di-O-acetyl-4,6-O-benzylidene- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-O-(2-acetamido-3,6-di-O-acetyl-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 2)-O-(3-O-acetyl-4,6-O-benzylidene- α -D-mannopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-O-[(2,3-di-O-acetyl-4, 6-O-benzylidene- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-O-(2-acetamido-3,6-di-O-acetyl-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 2)-O-[(2,3,4,6-tetra-O-acetyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-(3,6-di-O-acetyl-2-deoxy-2-(2,2,2-trichloroethoxy)-carbonylamino- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 6)]-(3-O-acetyl- α -D-mannopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 6)]-O-(2,4-di-O-acetyl- β -D-mannopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-O-(2-acetamido-3,6-di-O-acetyl-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-(2-acetamido-3,6-di-O-acetyl-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-

A mixture of acceptor 6 (8.4 mg, 2.8 μ mol) and donor 10 (23.9 mg, 28 μ mol, 10 equiv) was dried *in vacuo* for 3 hours, after which the mixture was dissolved in distilled CH₂Cl₂ (560

 μ L) under an atmosphere of Ar, followed by addition of freshly activated 4 A molecular sieves (56 mg). The reaction mixture was cooled to 0 °C, and NIS (5.0 mg, 22 µmol) was added. Then, TfOH (2.07 µmol, with dilution by CH₂Cl₂) was added to the mixture, which was stirred for 1 hour at the same temperature. After the completion of the reaction, the mixture was diluted with chloroform, which was directly applied to silica gel column chromatography to remove a remaining glycosyl donor and its derivatives (ϕ 1.0 × 7.0 cm, Hexane:EtOAc (1:1), EtOAc, EtOAc:MeOH (7:1)). The fractions containing oligosaccharides were combined and evaporated. The resulting residue was dissolved in aq. CH₃CN, filtered, and purified by preparative HPLC (XBridge, 50 mM aq. NH₄OAc:CH₃CN = 40:60 to 30:70 over 90 min at 4 mL/min). Fractions containing the desired product were collected, treated with Dowex, filtered and lyophilized to give the protected triantennary oligosaccharide **11** (4.9 mg, 1.3 µmol, 47%) as a white form.

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CD₃CN, HOD 2.13 ppm) δ 7.79 (d, *J* = 7.54 Hz, 2 H), 7.69 (d, *J* = 7.54 Hz, 2 H), 7.55-7.49 (m, 3 H), 7.43-7.35 (m, 2 H), 7.35-7.16 (m, 19 H), 7.04 (d, *J* = 7.96 Hz, 1 H), 6.53 (d, *J* = 9.65 Hz, 1 H), 6.47-6.32 (m, 3 H), 6.18 (d, *J* = 8.68 Hz, 1 H), 5.41 (m, 2 H), 5.40 (s, 1 H), 5.33-5.20 (m, 4 H), 5.17 (brd, *J* = 3.62 Hz, 1 H), 5.04-4.77 (m, 13H), 4.77-4.66 (m, 3 H), 4.66-4.52 (m, 5 H), 4.39-4.32 (m, 2 H), 4.30 (d, *J* = 8.82 Hz, 1 H), 4.27-3.81 (m, 26 H), 3.81-3.29 (m, 26 H), 3.06 (dd, *J* = 18.95, 8.58 Hz, 1 H), 2.71-2.54 (m, 2 H), 1.99 (s, 3 H), 1.96 (s, 9 H), 1.95 (s, 3 H), 1.92 (s, 3 H), 1.91 (s, 9 H), 1.90 (s, 3 H), 1.88 (s, 6 H), 1.87 (s, 3 H), 1.86 (s, 9 H), 1.82 (s, 6 H), 1.81 (s, 3 H), 1.79 (s, 3 H), 1.76 (s, 3 H), 1.74 (s, 3 H), 1.70 (s, 6 H), 1.62 (s, 3 H).

Chemical shift of ¹³C (CD₃CN, chemical shift picked up from HSQC except for quaternary carbon) δ 134.92, 129.93, 129.76, 128.81, 128.63, 128.01, 127.16, 126.00, 120.86, 102.41, 101.74, 101.49, 101.25, 101.09, 100.94, 100.71, 100.40, 98.21, 98.06, 79.38, 77.88, 77.66, 77.43, 76.70, 76.00, 75.40, 75.08, 74.84, 74.53, 74.29, 74.05, 73.99, 73.76, 73.59, 73.43, 73.35, 73.27, 72.98, 72.66, 72.11, 71.55, 71.40, 71.25, 69.93, 69.85, 69.76, 69.06, 68.68, 68.05, 67.82, 67.35, 67.04, 66.73, 65.56, 63.99, 63.36, 63.28, 63.18, 63.13, 62.98, 61.96, 57.49, 54.84, 54.59, 54.44, 53.60, 51.40, 47.81, 38.20, 23.46, 23.23, 23.02, 21.50, 21.17, 21.04, 20.88, 20.73. HRMS (ESI): calcd for C₁₆₉H₂₀₄Cl₃N₇O₈₄ [M+2H]²⁺ 1891.0559, found for *m/z* 1891.0580 [M+2H]²⁺.

158



 $N^{2}-(9-Fluorenylmethyloxycarbonyl)-N^{4}-\{O-\beta-D-galactopyranosyl-(1\rightarrow 4)-O-(2-acetamido-2-deoxy-\beta-D-glucopyranosyl)-(1\rightarrow 2)-O-\alpha-D-mannopyranosyl-(1\rightarrow 3)-O-[\beta-D-galactopyranosyl-(1\rightarrow 4)-O-(2-acetamido-2-deoxy-\beta-D-glucopyranosyl)-(1\rightarrow 2)-O-[\beta-D-galactopyranosyl-(1\rightarrow 4)-O-(2-acetamido-2-deoxy-\beta-D-glucopyranosyl)-(1\rightarrow 6)]-O-\alpha-D-mannopyranosyl-(1\rightarrow 6)]-O-\beta-D-mannopyranosyl-O-(1\rightarrow 4)-(2-acetamido-2-deoxy-\beta-D-glucopyranosyl)-(1\rightarrow 4)-(2-acetamido-2-deoxy-\beta-D-glucopyranosy$

The protected triantennary oligosaccharide **11** (2.3 mg, 0.61 µmol) was dried *in vacuo* for 3 hours, which was then dissolved in THF (300 µL), AcOH (200 µL), and Ac₂O (100 µL) on an ice bath. To the mixture, freshly activated zinc powder (161 mg, 2.45 mmol) was slowly added. After 1 hour, the resulting mixture was allowed to arise from 0 °C to rt and then stirred for additional 15 hours. The reaction was monitored by RP-HPLC and TLC analyses. After completion of the reaction, the mixture was diluted with CH₃CN and filtered through a pad of Celite, followed by addition of MeOH, the resulting mixture was concentrated to give crude **S3**; ESI-MS calcd for $C_{160}H_{199}N_7O_{82}$ [M+2H]²⁺ 1766.1, found for *m/z* 1766.2.

To a solution of crude **S3** in ice-cold MeOH (256 μ L), ice-cold 5 M aq. NaOH (256 μ L) was added slowly, and the mixture was stirred for 30 min on ice bath and stirred for additional 2 hours at rt. After completion of the reaction, the resulting mixture was subjected directly to gel filtration chromatography (φ 1.4×33 cm, SephadexTM G-15, eluent: distilled water). Fractions containing oligosaccharide were collected and lyophilized to give crude oligosaccharide **S4**; ESI-MS calcd for C₁₀₁H₁₄₅N₇O₅₈ [M+2H]²⁺ 1192.9, found for *m/z* 1193.0.

To an ice-cold solution of the crude oligosaccharide S4 in H₂O (250 µL) containing

NaHCO₃ (10 µmol) were added a solution of FmocOSu (1.7 mg, 5.0 µmol) in acetone (250 µL) slowly. The reaction mixture was stirred for 30 min on an ice bath, which was stirred for additional 3 hours at rt. The resulting mixture was subjected directly to gel filtration chromatography (φ 1.4×33 cm, SephadexTM G-25, eluent: distilled water). Fractions containing oligosaccharide were collected and lyophilized to give crude **S5**; ESI-MS calcd for C₁₁₆H₁₅₅N₇O₆₀ [M+2H]²⁺ 1304.0, found for *m/z* 1303.9.

Ice-cold 90% aq. TFA (255 μ L) was slowly added to crude **S5** on ice bath. The mixture was kept at 0 °C for 10 min, and concentrated at rt, after which distilled water was added. The resulting mixture was frozen by treatment of liquid N₂ and lyophilized immediately. The resulting residue was purified by RP-HPLC (Proteonavi C4, 0.1% aq. TFA:90% aq. CH₃CN containing 0.1% TFA = 80:20 to 50:50 over 30 min at 1 mL/min). Fractions containing the desired product were collected and lyophilized to give Asparagine-linked β-1,6-branched triantennary asialo-undecasaccharide **1** (0.9 mg, 0.38 µmol, 63%).

¹**H NMR (400 MHz, D₂O, 4.79 ppm)** δ7.92 (d, *J* = 7.35 Hz, 2 H), 7.71 (brd, *J* = 6.50 Hz, 2 H), 7.50 (brt, *J* = 7.34 Hz, 2 H), 7.47-7.40 (m, 2 H), 5.13 (s, 1 H), 5.01 (d, *J* = 9.55 Hz, 1 H), 4.87 (s, 1 H), 4.77 (s, 1 H), 4.62-4.57 (m, 3 H), 4.56 (d, J = 7.77 Hz, 1 H), 4.52-4.42 (m, 3 H), 4.39-4.31 (m, 2 H), 4.25 (brs, 1 H), 4.24-4.16 (m, 2 H), 4.10 (s, 1 H), 4.05-3.69 (m, 45 H), 3.69-3.65 (m, 3 H), 3.65-3.45 (m, 13 H), 3.41 (t, *J* = 9.75 Hz, 1 H), 2.72 (dd, *J* = 15.62, 3.96 Hz, 1 H), 2.61 (dd, *J* = 15.62, 8.07 Hz, 1 H), 2.08 (s, 3 H), 2.06 (s, 3 H), 2.04 (s, 6 H), 1.90 (s, 3 H).

Chemical shift of ¹³C (D₂O, chemical shift picked up from HSQC except for quaternary carbon) $\delta 128.96$, 128.46, 126.01, 121.08, 103.87, 102.56, 102.29, 101.28, 100.45, 98.13, 81.26, 80.09, 79.56, 79.45, 79.11, 77.50, 77.33, 77.10, 76.29, 75.65, 74.48, 73.65, 73.45, 73.19, 72.88, 72.49, 71.92, 71.28, 71.14, 70.33, 69.47, 68.48, 68.23, 67.76, 67.73, 66.49, 66.10, 62.67, 61.98. HRMS (ESI): calcd for C₉₅H₁₄₃N₇O₆₀ [M+2H]²⁺ 1171.9250, found for *m/z* 1171.9246 [M+2H]²⁺.



 $N^{2}-(9-\text{Fluorenylmethyloxycarbonyl})-N^{4}-\{O-(5-\text{acetamido}-3,5-\text{dideoxy-D}-glycero-\alpha-D-galacto-2-\text{nonulopyranosylonic} acid)-(2\rightarrow 6)-O-\beta-D-galactopyranosyl-(1\rightarrow 4)-O-(2-acetamido-2-deoxy-\beta-D-glucopyranosyl)-(1\rightarrow 2)-O-\alpha-D-mannopyranosyl-(1\rightarrow 3)-O-[(5-acetamido-3,5-dideoxy-D-glycero-\alpha-D-galacto-2-nonulopyranosylonic acid)-(2\rightarrow 6)-\beta-D-galactopyranosyl-(1\rightarrow 4)-O-(2-acetamido-2-deoxy-\beta-D-glucopyranosyl)-(1\rightarrow 2)-O-[(5-acetamido-3,5-dideoxy-D-glycero-\alpha-D-galacto-2-nonulopyranosyl)-(1\rightarrow 2)-O-[(5-acetamido-3,5-dideoxy-D-glycero-\alpha-D-galacto-2-nonulopyranosyl)-(1\rightarrow 2)-O-[(5-acetamido-3,5-dideoxy-D-glycero-\alpha-D-galacto-2-nonulopyranosyl)-(1\rightarrow 2)-O-[(5-acetamido-3,5-dideoxy-D-glycero-\alpha-D-galacto-2-nonulopyranosyl)-(1\rightarrow 2)-O-[(5-acetamido-3,5-dideoxy-D-glycero-\alpha-D-galacto-2-nonulopyranosyl)-(1\rightarrow 6)]-O-\alpha-D-galactopyranosyl-(1\rightarrow 4)-O-(2-acetamido-2-deoxy-\beta-D-glucopyranosyl)-(1\rightarrow 6)]-O-\alpha-D-mannopyranosyl-(1\rightarrow 6)]-O-\beta-D-mannopyranosyl-O-(1\rightarrow 4)-(2-acetamido-2-deoxy-\beta-D-glucopyranosyl)-(1\rightarrow 4)-(2-aceta$

Asialooligosaccharide **1** (0.13 µmol) and CMP-Neu5Ac (1.2 µmol, 9.1 equiv) were dissolved in 100 mM 4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1-piperazineethanesulfonic acid (HEPES) buffer (pH 6.1) containing BSA (0.1 mg/ mL) and alkaline phosphatase (100 mU). To the reaction mixture, α -2,6-sialyltransferase (3 U) was added (total volume = 65 µL), and the reaction mixture was incubated at rt. The reaction was monitored with LC/MS. After 48 hours, Additional CMP-Neu5Ac (1.6 µmol), Alkaline phosphatase (100 mU) and α -2,6-sialyltransferase (1.5 U) were added and then incubated for another 2 days at rt. The resulting mixture was filtered, and the filtrate was purified by RP-HPLC (Proteonavi C4, 50 mM aq. MH₄OAc:CH₃CN = 90:10 to 80:20 over 30 min at 1 mL/min). Fractions containing desired product were collected and lyophilized, which was further purified by RP-HPLC (Proteonavi C4, distilled water over 30 min at 1 mL/min). Fractions containing desired product were collected and lyophilized oligosaccharide **20** (isolated; ca. 30 nmol, conversion yield; 86% based on HPLC analysis).

¹H NMR (D₂O) δ 7.83 (d, *J* = 7.68 Hz, 2 H), δ7.92 (d, *J* = 7.35 Hz, 2 H), 7.65-7.61 (m, 2 H), 7.44-7.40 (m, 2 H), 7.37-7.32 (m, 2 H), 5.04 (s, 1 H), 4.38-4.33 (m), 4.29-4.24 (m), 4.20-4.15 (m), 4.15-4.10 (m), 4.03-3.99 (m), 3.95-3.38 (m), 2.65-2.55 (m, 4 H), 2.47 (m, 1 H), 1.98 (s, 9 H), 1.94 (s, 9 H), 1.82 (s, 3 H), 1.80 (s, 3 H), 1.67-1.60 (m, 3 H).

HRMS (ESI): calcd for $C_{128}H_{194}N_{10}O_{84}$ [M-3H]⁺ 1070.6989, found for *m*/*z* 1070.7012 [M-3H]³⁻.





 N^2 -(9-Fluorenylmethyloxycarbonyl)- N^4 -{O-(2,3-di-O-acetyl-4,6-O-benzylidene- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-O-(2-acetamido-3,6-di-O-acetyl-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 2)-O-(3-O-acetyl-6-O-benzoyl- α -D-mannopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-O-[(2,3-di-O-acetyl-4,6-O-benzylidene- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-O-(2-acetamido-3,6-di-O-acetyl-2-deoxy- β -D-gluc opyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 2)-O-(3-O-acetyl-4,6-O-benzylidene- α -D-mannopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 6)]-O-(2,4 -di-O-acetyl- β -D-mannopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-O-(2-acetamido-3,6-di-O-acetyl-2-deoxy- β -D-gluc opyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-(2-acetamido-3,6-di-O-acetyl-2-deoxy- β -2

The tribenzylidene 7 (11.8 mg, 3.9 µmol) was dried *in vacuo* for 2 hours, which was then dissolved in CH₂Cl₂(780 µL), followed by addition of *N*, *N*'-diisopropylethylamine (10 µL, 59 µmol) and BzCN (4.6 µL, 38.8 µmol), the resulting mixture was stirred at rt for 2 hours. The reaction was monitored by HPLC and TLC analyses. After a completion of the reaction, the mixture was diluted with chloroform and directly purified by silica gel chromatography to remove reagents (φ 1.0×8.0 cm, EtOAc, EtOAc:MeOH (5:1)). The fractions containing oligosaccharides were collected and then evaporated. The resulting residue was dissolved in aq. CH₃CN, filtered, and purified by preparative RP-HPLC (XBridge, 50 mM aq. NH₄Ac:CH₃CN = 45:55 to 35:65 over 90 min at 4 mL/min). Fractions containing the desired product was collected, treated with Dowex, and lyophilized to give glycosyl acceptor **9** (5.8 mg, 1.9 µmol, 48%).

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CD₃CN, HOD 2.13 ppm) δ 7.79 (d, *J* = 7.36 Hz, 2 H), 7.66 (d, *J* = 7.72 Hz, 2 H), 7.55 (d, *J* = 7.59 Hz, 2 H), 7.42-7.35 (m, 4 H), 7.33-7.22 (m, 4 H), 7.22-7.01 (m, 19 H), 6.36 (d, *J* = 9.73 Hz, 1 H), 6.29 (d, *J* = 9.20 Hz, 1 H), 6.25 (d, *J* = 9.51 Hz), 6.14 (d, *J* = 9.28 Hz, 1 H), 6.08 (d, *J* = 8.82 Hz, 1 H), 5.30 (s, 1 H), 5.27 (s, 2 H), 5.20-5.06 (m, 3 H), 4.99 (dd, *J* = 9.91, 9.84 Hz, 1 H), 4.89-4.66 (m, 10 H), 4.60 (s, 1 H), 4.50 (s, 1 H), 4.47-4.36 (m, 3 H), 4.35-4.26 (m, 3 H), 4.24-3.77 (m, 22 H), 3.77-3.70 (m, 2 H), 3.67-3.20 (m, 23 H), 2.57-2.42 (m, 2 H), 1.88 (s, 3 H), 1.82 (s, 3 H), 1.81 (s, 3 H), 1.78 (s, 9 H), 1.75 (s, 6 H), 1.74 (s, 3 H), 1.73 (s, 3 H), 1.72 (s, 3 H), 1.68 (s, 12 H), 1.61 (s, 3 H), 1.58 (s, 3 H), 1.55 (s, 3 H), 1.48 (s, 3 H), 1.39 (s, 3 H).

¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CD₃CN, 118.26 ppm) δ193.39, 172.07, 171.91, 171.74, 171.66, 171.57, 171.49, 171.41, 171.33, 171.27, 171.23, 171.20, 171.15, 171.11, 170.98, 170.67, 170.63, 170.57, 167.19, 159.73, 145.06, 142.14, 139.33, 139.30, 38.79, 135.07, 135.04, 134.24, 131.08, 130.58, 130.10, 129.92, 129.85, 129.26, 129.24, 129.19, 128.80, 128.73, 128.17, 127.47, 127.31, 126.20, 121.01, 102.79, 101.68, 101.61, 101.18, 101.05, 100.77, 99.65, 99.04, 79.55, 78.20, 77.90, 77.72, 76.78, 76.41, 76.02, 75.57, 75.51, 75.31, 74.48, 74.43, 73.99, 73.79, 73.69, 73.31, 73.06, 72.36, 72.27, 71.71, 70.41, 69.97, 69.92, 69.38, 69.20, 68.56, 68.00, 67.47, 67.23, 67.15, 64.92, 64.35, 63.36, 55.03, 54.80, 54.21, 53.83, 51.57, 47.98, 38.31, 23.27, 23.23, 23.09, 21.68, 21.57, 21.25, 21.20, 21.14, 21.07, 21.02, 20.97, 20.94.

HRMS (ESI): calcd for $C_{149}H_{174}N_6O_{68}$ [M+2H]²⁺ 1568.5244, found for *m*/*z* 1568.5292 [M+2H]²⁺.



 N^2 -(9-Fluorenylmethyloxycarbonyl)- N^4 -{O-(2,3-di-O-acetyl-4,6-O-benzylidene- β -D-

galactopyranosyl)- $(1\rightarrow 4)$ -O-(2-acetamido-3,6-di-O-acetyl-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)- $(1\rightarrow 2)$ -O-[(2,3,4,6-tetra-O-acetyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)- $(1\rightarrow 4)$ -O-(3,6-di-O-acetyl-2-deoxy-2-(2,2,2-trichloroethoxy)-carbonylamino- β -D-glucopyranosyl)- $(1\rightarrow 4)$]-O-(3-O-acetyl-6-O-benzoyl- α -D-mannopyranosyl)- $(1\rightarrow 3)$ -O-[(2,3-di-O-acetyl-4,6-O-benzylidene- β -D-galactopyranosyl)- $(1\rightarrow 4)$ -O-(2-acetamido-3,6-di-O-acetyl-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)- $(1\rightarrow 2)$ -O-(3-O-acetyl-4,6-O-benzylidene- α -D-mannopyranosyl)- $(1\rightarrow 6)$]-O-(2,4-di-O-acetyl- β -D-mannopyranosyl)- $(1\rightarrow 4)$ -O-(2-acetamido-3,6-di-O-acetyl-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)- $(1\rightarrow 4)$ -(2-acetamido-3,6-di-O-acetyl-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)- $(1\rightarrow 2)$ -(2,4-di-O-acetyl-2-deoxy- β -0-glucopyranosyl)- $(1\rightarrow 4)$ -(2-acetamido-3,6-di-O-acetyl-2-deoxy- β -0-(2,4-di-0-(2,4-di-0-(2,4-di-0-(2,4-di-0-(2,4-di-0-(2,4-di-0-(2,4-di-0-(2,4-di-0-(2,4-0-(2,4-0-(2,4-0-(2,4-0-(2,4-0-(2,4-0-(2,4-0-(2,4-

A mixture of glycosyl acceptor **9** (5.3 mg, 1.7 µmol) and glycosyl donor **10** (29.1 mg, 33.8 µmol) was *in vacuo* for 3 hours, after which this mixture was dissolved in distilled CH₂Cl₂ (320 µL) under an atmosphere of Ar, followed by addition of freshly activated 4 A molecular sieves (35 mg). The reaction mixture was allowed to cool to 0 °C, followed by addition of NIS (6.1 mg, 27.1 µmol). Then, TfOH (1.27 µmol, dilution with CH₂Cl₂) was added to the mixture and stirred for 1.5 hours at the same temperature, after which the temperature was elevated to rt and stirred for additional 30 min. The resulting mixture was directly applied on silica gel column chromatography to remove glycosyl donor derivatives (ϕ 1.0×7.0 cm, Hexane:EtOAc (1:1), EtOAc, EtOAc:MeOH (5:1)). The fractions containing oligosaccharides were collected and then evaporated. The resulting residue was dissolved in CH₃CN-H₂O, filtered, and purified by preparative RP-HPLC (XBridge, 50 mM aq. NH₄OAc:CH₃CN = 45:55 to 35:65 over 90 min at 4 mL/min). Fractions containing the desired product were collected, treated with Dowex, filtered, and lyophilized to yield protected triantennary oligosaccharide **12** (2.9 mg, 0.75 µmol, 44%) as a white form.

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CD₃CN, HOD 2.13 ppm) δ 7.98 (d, *J* = 7.46 Hz, 2 H), 7.86 (d, *J* = 7.52 Hz, 2 H), 7.75 (d, *J* = 7.51 Hz, 2 H), 7.61-7.55 (m, 4 H), 7.52-7.42 (m, 4 H), 7.42-7.20 (m, 19 H), 6.45 (d, *J* = 9.86 Hz, 1 H), 6.39 (d, *J* = 9.40 Hz, 1 H), 6.36 (d, *J* = 9.70 Hz, 1 H), 6.21 (d, *J* = 8.71 Hz, 1 H), 6.11 (d, *J* = 9.24 Hz, 1 H), 6.03 (d, *J* = 9.79 Hz, 1 H), 5.49 (s, 1 H), 5.47 (s, 2 H), 5.39-5.25 (m, 3 H), 5.23-5.14 (m, 2 H), 5.08-4.85 (m, 12 H), 4.84-4.71 (m, 4 H), 4.69 (s, 1 H), 4.66-4.59 (m, 3 H), 4.57-4.44 (m, 5 H), 4.39 (d, *J* = 8.40 Hz, 1 H), 4.36-3.87 (m, 28 H), 3.87-3.63 (m, 11 H), 3.63-3.33 (m, 14 H), 2.76-2.60 (m, 2 H), 2.06 (s, 3 H), 2.03 (s, 3 H), 2.01 (s, 6 H), 1.99 (s, 6 H), 1.98 (s, 6 H), 1.93 (s, 15 H), 1.92 (s, 3 H), 1.91 (s, 3 H), 1.90 (s, 3 H),

1.89 (s, 12 H), 1.88 (s, 3 H), 1.85 (s, 3 H), 1.81 (s, 3 H), 1.76 (s, 3 H), 1.74 (s, 3 H), 1.68 (s, 3 H).

Chemical shift of ¹³C (CD₃CN, chemical shift was picked up from HSQC except for quaternary carbon) δ 134.53, 130.56, 129.92, 129.59, 128.88, 128.65, 127.97, 127.21, 126.03, 120.86, 102.61, 101.50, 101.43, 101.34, 100.89, 100.63, 100.45, 99.53, 98.85, 79.37, 78.13, 77.58, 76.92, 76.60, 76.25, 75.90, 75.42, 75.25, 75.18, 74.74, 74.31, 73.87, 73.65, 73.58, 73.52, 73.44, 73.10, 72.92, 72.14, 71.51, 71.40, 70.26, 69.89, 69.82, 69.19, 69.08, 68.48, 68.04, 67.86, 67.37, 67.04, 64.82, 63.78, 63.22, 63.17, 61.88, 57.33, 54.83, 54.12, 54.07, 53.70, 51.45, 47.85, 38.18, 23.03, 21.53, 21.01, 20.63.

HRMS (ESI): calcd for $C_{176}H_{208}Cl_3N_7O_{85}$ [M+2H]²⁺ 1943.0690, found for *m/z* 1943.0666 [M+2H]²⁺.



 N^2 -(9-Fluorenylmethyloxycarbonyl)- N^4 -{O- β -D-galactopyranosyl-(1 \rightarrow 4)-O-(2-acetamido-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 2)-O-[β -D-galactopyranosyl-(1 \rightarrow 4)-O-(2-acetamido-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)]-O- α -D-mannopyranosyl-(1 \rightarrow 3)-O-[β -D-galactopyranosyl-(1 \rightarrow 4)-O-(2-acetamido-3,6-di-O-acetyl-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-O-(2-acetamido-3,6-di-O-acetyl-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl-(1 \rightarrow 6)]-O- β -D-mannopyranosyl-(1 \rightarrow 4)-O-(2-acetamido-3,6-di-O-acetyl-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-(2-acetamido-3,6-di-O-acetyl-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl-(2)-(2-acetamido-3,6-di-O-acetyl-2-(2-acetamido-3,6-di-O-(2-acetamido-3,6-di-O-(2-acetamido-3,6-di-O-(2-acetamido-3,6-di-O-(2-acetamido-3,6-di-O-(2-acetamido-3,6-di-O-(2-acetamido-3,

The protected triantennary oligosaccharide **12** (3.0 mg, 0.77 μ mol) was dried *in vacuo* for 2 hours, which was dissolved in THF (384 μ L), AcOH (256 μ L), and Ac₂O (128 μ L) on an ice bath. To the mixture, freshly activated zinc powder (200 mg, 3.06 mmol) was slowly added.

The resulting mixture was stirred at 0 °C for 1 hour and stirred at rt for additional 17 hours. The reaction was monitored by RP-HPLC and TLC analyses. After completion of the reaction, the mixture was diluted with CH₃CN and filtered through a pad of celite, followed by addition of MeOH, the resulting mixture was concentrated to give crude **S6**; ESI-MS calcd for $C_{167}H_{203}N_7O_{83}$ [M+2H]²⁺ 1818.1, found for *m/z* 1818.1.

To a solution of crude **S6** in ice-cold MeOH (385 μ L), ice-cold 5 M aq. NaOH (385 μ L) was added slowly, and the mixture was stirred for 30 min on an ice bath, after which the reaction temperature was allowed to warm up to rt and stirred for additional 90 min. After completion of the reaction, the resulting mixture was directly subjected to gel filtration chromatography (φ 1.4×33 cm, SephadexTM G-15, eluent: distilled water). Fractions containing oligosaccharide were collected and lyophilized to give crude oligosaccharide **S7**; ESI-MS calcd for C₁₀₃H₁₄₇N₇O₅₉ [M+2H]²⁺ 1192.9, found for *m/z* 1192.9.

To an ice-cold solution of the crude oligosaccharide **S7** in H₂O (385 μ L) containing NaHCO₃ (16 μ mol) were added a solution of FmocOSu (2.6 mg, 7.7 μ mol) in acetone (385 μ L). The reaction mixture was stirred for 30 min on ice bath, after which the reaction mixture was allowed to warm up to rt and stirred at the same temperature for additional 2.5 hours. The resulting mixture was subjected directly to gel filtration chromatography (φ 1.4×33 cm, SephadexTM G-25, eluent: distilled water). Fractions containing oligosaccharide were collected and lyophilized to give crude **S8**; ESI-MS calcd for C₁₁₆H₁₅₅N₇O₆₀ [M+2H]²⁺ 1304.0, found for *m/z* 1304.0.

Ice-cold 90% aq. TFA (385 μ L) was slowly added to crude **S8** on an ice bath. The mixture was kept at 0 °C for 10 min, and concentrated at rt, after which distilled water was added. The solution was immediately frozen by the treatment of liquid N₂ and then lyophilized. The resulting residue was purified with RP-HPLC (Proteonavi C4, 0.1% aq. TFA:90% aq. CH₃CN containing 0.1% TFA = 80:20 to 50:50 over 30 min at 1 mL/min). Fractions containing the desired product were collected and lyophilized to give Asn-linked triantennary asialo-undecasaccharide **2** (0.8 mg, 0.34 µmol, 44%).

¹**H NMR (700 MHz, D₂O, 4.76 ppm)**⁹ δ 7.92 (d, *J* = 7.34 Hz, 2 H), 7.71 (d, *J* = 6.11 Hz, 2 H), 7.51 (t, *J* = 7.33 Hz, 2 H), 7.47-7.37 (m, 2 H), 5.12 (s, 1H), 5.01 (d, *J* = 9.23 Hz, 1 H), 4.92 (s, 1

H), 4.75 (s, 1 H), 4.64-4.50 (m, 6 H), 4.50-4.43 (m, 3 H), 4.39-4.28 (m, 2 H), 4.22 (brs, 2 H), 4.11 (brs, 1 H), 4.05 (d, *J* = 9.28 Hz, 1 H), 4.03-3.94 (m, 4 H), 3.94-3.65 (m, 42 H), 3.65-3.51 (m, 14 H), 3.51-3.43 (m, 2 H), 2.77-2.67 (dd, *J* = 15.40, 2.66 Hz, 1 H), 2.63-2.52 (dd, *J* = 15.47, 8.73 Hz, 1 H), 2.11-2.06 (s, 6 H), 2.06-2.01 (s, 6 H), 1.93-1.86 (s, 3 H).

Chemical shift of ¹³C (D₂O, chemical shift was picked up from HSQC except for quaternary carbon) δ 128.97, 128.45, 126.02, 121.08, 103.88, 102.52, 120.23, 101.36, 100.45, 100.08, 98.00, 81.33, 80.33, 79.55, 79.46, 79.11, 79.04, 77.26, 77.13, 76.94, 76.31, 75.75, 75.65, 75.33, 73.79, 73.68, 73.44, 73.04, 72.91, 71.93, 71.10, 70.38, 69.48, 69.02, 69.27, 67.35, 66.68, 62.59, 62.19, 61.95, 60.87, 60.70, 56.09, 55.81, 54.72, 53.02, 47.92, 39.12, 23.47, 23.29, 22.96. HRMS (ESI): calcd for C₉₅H₁₄₃N₇O₆₀ [M+2H]²⁺ 1171.9250, found for *m/z* 1171.9263 [M+2H]²⁺.



2-5. Synthesis and investigation of benzylidene monosaccharides

All above methyl 4,6-*O*-benzylidene- α -D-glycosides (24, 25, and 26) and their acetate derivatives (27 and 28) used for the experiment were prepared as previously reported.¹⁰⁻¹² Methyl 2,3-di-*O*-acetyl-4,6-*O*-benzylidene- α -D-galactoside (28) was synthesized as follow.



Methyl 2,3-di-*O*-acetyl-4,6-*O*-benzylidene-α-D-galactoside (28)

Methyl 4,6-*O*-benzylidene- α -D-galactoside **26** (495 mg, 1.8 mmol) was dissolved in 17.6 mL of Ac₂O/pyridine (1:1), and the resulting mixture was stirred at rt. After 6 hours, MeOH (10 mL) was added to the mixture on an ice bath. After elevation of the temperature to rt, the mixture was evaporated and azeotropically dried with toluene. The resulting residue was purified by silica gel column chromatography (hexane/EtOAc = 1:2, ϕ = 1.8 cm, h= 15 cm). The resulting residue was further recrystallized from ethanol and petroleum ether to give **28** (525 mg, 1.43 mmol, 82 %).

[a]_D²⁵ 189.5 (*c* 0.50 CHCl₃)

¹**H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃)**: 7.57-7.47 (m, 2H), 7.42-7.32 (m, 3H), 5.52 (s, 1H), 5.37 (dd, 1H, *J* = 10.88, 3.1 Hz), 5.32 (dd, 1H, *J* = 10.87, 3.11 Hz), 5.09 (d, 1H, *J* = 3.02 Hz), 4.47 (dd, 1H, *J* = 3.24, 1.11 Hz), 4.28 (dd, 1H, *J* = 12.51, 1.56 Hz), 4.07 (dd, 1H, *J* = 12.56, 1.68 Hz), 3.75

Experimental Information

(brddd, 1H), 3.43 (s, 3H), 2.09 (s, 3H), 2.08 (s, 3H).

¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃): 170.77, 170.33, 137.68, 129.15, 128.31, 126.36, 100.99, 97.89, 74.05, 69.22, 68.68, 68.22, 62.16, 55.67, 21.08, 20.98.

HRMS (ESI): calcd for $C_{18}H_{22}O_8 [M+Na]^+$ 389.1207, found for m/z 389.1206 $[M+Na]^+$.

Six substrates prepared above were dissolved 60 % d₃-AcOD in D₂O, respectively, and the concentration was adjusted to 10 mM substrate. The resulting mixtures were kept at 4, 23, or 33 $^{\circ}$ C. ¹H NMR spectra were recorded time-dependently (number of scan: 16 or 32, dummy scan: 4, 400 MHz NMR). Hydrolysis yield (percentage) was determined as "the integration of ¹H signal of a product / (the integration of ¹H signal of a product + the integration of ¹H signal of a starting material)". An anomeric proton region was used for the estimation of benzylidene derivatives without acetyl groups, and a methyl proton region of methyl glycoside was used for the estimation of its acetate derivatives.

Competitive hydrolysis experiments were performed using a mixture of glucoside, mannoside, and galactoside (10 μ mol, respectively) in 1.0 mL of 60% d₃-AcOD in D₂O, and the reaction was monitored at 23 °C as above. Because of the signal overlap in ¹H NMR, I did not estimate the hydrolysis yield in these experiments.

2-6. Synthesis of glycopeptide having a triantennary oligosaccharide

N-terminal peptide of EPO Seg4: Boc-[Thz⁷⁹-Leu⁸⁰-Leu⁸¹-Val⁸²]-OH (35)

The peptide assembly was performed manually on a 500 µmol scale by use of HMPB-PEGA resin. Fmoc-Val-OH (5 equiv) was attached to the resin in the presence of MSNT (5 equiv) and *N*-methylimidazole (3.75 equiv) in DCM (10 mL). Then the resin was treated with 20% Piperidine/DMF for 20 min at the ambient temperature to remove Fmoc group. Peptide elongation was carried out as follows. Coupling of Fmoc-AA-OH (2.0 mmol) was performed by HOBt (1.5 mmol), HBTU (1.5 mmol), and DIEA (3 mmol) in DMF (10 mL) for 30 min at the ambient temperature. Fmoc-AA-OH used was Fmoc-Leu-OH. After the Fmoc-AA-OH coupling, Boc-Thz-OH was coupled by the same manner. Coupling reactions were confirmed by ninhydrin test. After completion of all coupling steps, the protected peptide was released from the resin by treatment with AcOH/TFE (1:1, 16 mL) for 6 hours. The solution was filtered, and then the filtrate was dried in vacuo. This manipulation was repeated twice and combined, which was dissolved in 10% aq. acetonitrile containing 0.1% TFA (5 mL) and purified by preparative RP-HPLC (CAPCELL PAK, Φ10 mm×250 mm, 0.1% TFA:90% aq. acetonitrile containing 0.1% TFA = 60:40 to 30:70 over 30 min at 2.5 mL/min) to give a desired product (70 mg, 31%). ESI-MS: *m/z* calcd for C₂₆H₄₆N₄O₇S: [M+H]⁺ 559.3, found: 559.5.



N-terminal peptide of EPO Seg4: **Fmoc-[Ser(^tBu)**⁸⁴-**Ser(^tBu)-Gln(Trt)-Pro-Trp(Boc)-Glu(^tBu)-Pro-Leu-Gln(Trt)-Leu-His(Trt)-Val-Asp(^tBu)-Lys(Boc)**⁹⁷]-OH (37)

The peptide assembly was performed manually on a 100 µmol scale by use of HMPB-PEGA resin. Fmoc-Lys-OH (5 equiv) was coupled twice to the resin in the presence of

MSNT (5 equiv) and N-methylimidazole (3.75 equiv) in DCM (2 mL) to ensure quantitative coupling. Then the resin was treated with 20% Piperidine/DMF for 20 min at the ambient temperature to remove Fmoc group. Peptide elongation was carried out as follows. Coupling of Fmoc-AA-OH (400 µmol) was performed by HOBt (300 µmol), HBTU (300 µmol), and DIEA (600 µmol) in DMF (2 mL) for 30 min at the ambient temperature. Fmoc-AA-OH used were Fmoc-Ser(^tBu)-OH, Fmoc-Gln(Trt)-OH, Fmoc-Pro-OH, Fmoc-Trp(Boc)-OH, Fmoc-Glu(^tBu)-OH, Fmoc-Leu-OH, Fmoc-His(Trt)-OH, Fmoc-Val-OH, Fmoc-Asp(^tBu)-OH, and Fmoc-Lys(Boc)-OH. Coupling reaction steps were confirmed by ninhydrin test. After all Fmoc-AA-OH coupling steps, the protected peptide was released from the resin by treatment with AcOH/TFE (1:1, 6 mL) at the ambient temperature for 3 hours. The solution was filtered, and then the filtrate was dried in vacuo. This cleavage manipulation was repeated four times, and the mixture was combined, which was purified by gel filtration column (Φ 1.8×30 cm, LH-20, MeOH). The resulting residue was further purified by silica gel column chromatography $(CH_3Cl/MeOH/AcOH = 80:2:5 \text{ then } 80:5:5)$ to afford a desired protected peptide 37 (62 mg, 20%). HRMS: m/z calcd for $C_{173}H_{214}N_{20}O_{29}$ (protected form): $[M+H]^+$ 3036.5958, found: 3036.5995. ESI-MS m/z calcd for $C_{90}H_{124}N_{20}O_{25}$ (deprotected form): $[M+H]^+$ 1885.9, found: 1885.9.



N-terminal peptide of EPO Seg4b: **Fmoc-[Ser('Bu)⁸⁴-Ser('Bu)-Gln(Trt)-Pro-Trp(Boc)-Glu('Bu)-Pro-Leu-Gln(Trt)-Leu-His(Trt)-Val-Asp('Bu)-Lys(Boc)**⁹⁷]-^αNHNH-Boc (38)

tert-Butyl carbazate (295 mg, 2.2 mmol) and Fmoc-[Ser(¹Bu)⁸⁴-Ser(¹Bu)-Gln(Trt)-Pro-Trp(Boc)-Glu(¹Bu)-Pro-Leu-Gln(Trt)-Leu-His(Trt)-Val-Asp(¹Bu)-Lys(Boc)⁹⁷]-OH (**37**) (65.7 mg, 21.6 μ mol) was dissolved in DMF (1.1 mL), and the mixture was stirred at -20 °C for 10 min. PyBOP (228 mg, 0.44 mmol) and DIEA (95.9 μ L, 0.55 mmol) were added to the mixture, which was stirred at the same temperature for 6 hours. During this reaction, an aliquot of the mixture (5 μ L) was separated, and TFA/TIPS/H₂O (95:2.5:2.5, 40 μ L) was added to the mixture,

which was kept at room temperature to remove protecting groups. Ice-cold ether (1 mL) was added to the mixture, and precipitate was collected by centrifuge and air-dried. This precipitate was dissolved in 10% acetonitrile containing 0.1% TFA, which was used for the HPLC analysis to monitor the reaction. On the completion of the reaction, the resulting mixture was directly subjected to gel filtration over Sephadex LH-20 (ϕ : 30 mm, 1: 25 cm, eluent MeOH). Fractions containing the desired product were combined, evaporated, dissolved in 1,4-dioxane, and lyophilized to give the desired peptide **38** (62.1 mg, 91%). ESI-MS: *m/z* calcd for C₉₀H₁₂₆N₂₂O₂₄ (deprotected form): [M+H]⁺ 1889.9, found: 1899.9.



N-terminal peptide of EPO Seg4b: H-[Ser(^tBu)⁸⁴-Ser(^tBu)-Gln(Trt)-Pro-Trp(Boc)-Glu(^tBu)-

Pro-Leu-Gln(Trt)-Leu-His(Trt)-Val-Asp(^tBu)-Lys(Boc)⁹⁷]-^αNHNH-Boc (36)

Fmoc-[Ser(^tBu)⁸⁴-Ser(^tBu)-Gln(Trt)-Pro-Trp(Boc)-Glu(^tBu)-Pro-Leu-Gln(Trt)-Leu-

His(Trt)-Val-Asp(^tBu)-Lys(Boc)⁹⁷]-^{α}NHNH-Boc **38** (62.1 mg, 19.7 µmol) was dissolved in 20% Piperidine in DMF (2 mL), which was stirred at room temperature for 20 min. Then the resulting mixture was directly subjected to gel filtration over Sephadex LH-20 (ϕ : 30 mm, l: 25 cm, eluent MeOH). Fractions containing the desired product were combined, evaporated, dissolved in 1,4-dioxane, and lyophilized to give the desired product (40.1 mg, 69%). HRMS: *m/z* calcd for C₁₆₃H₂₁₄N₂₂O₂₈ (protected form): [M+H]+ 2928.6071, found 2928.6117. ESI-MS: *m/z* calcd for C₇₅H₁₁₆N₂₂O₂₂ (deprotected form): [M+H]⁺ 1677.9, found: 1678.1.



Seg4 having a triantennary asialoundecasaccharide; H-[Thz⁷⁹-Leu-Leu-Val- Asn⁸³ (Triantennary Asialoundecasaccharide)-Ser-Ser-Gln-Pro-Trp-Glu-Pro-Leu-Gln-Leu-His-Val-Asp-Lys⁹⁷]-^αNHNH₂ (34)

To a solution of Fmoc-Asn(triantennary asialoundecasaccharide)-OH **1** (2.0 mg, 0.85 μ mol) in DMF/DMSO (1:1, 142 uL), were added H-[Ser(^tBu)⁸⁴-Ser(^tBu)-Gln(Trt)-Pro-Trp(Boc)-Glu(^tBu)-Pro-Leu-Gln(Trt)-Leu-His(Trt)-Val-Asp(^tBu)-Lys(Boc)⁹⁷]-^{α}NHNHBoc **36** (4.5 mg, 1.5 μ mol), PyBOP (2.2 mg, 4.2 μ mol), and DIEA (0.97 μ L. 5.6 μ mol). The resulting mixture was stirred at room temperature for 5 hours. The reaction was monitored by RP-HPLC as above and TLC analysis (EtOAc/MeOH/H₂O, 3: 2: 1). On the completion of the reaction, the mixture was directly subjected to gel filtration over Sephadex LH-20 (ϕ : 10 mm, 1: 28 cm, eluent MeOH) to remove the solvent and reagents. Fractions containing the desired product and the remaining peptide were combined, evaporated, dissolved in 1,4-dioxane, and lyophilized. This mixture was directly used for the next reaction without further purification. (ESI-MS: *m/z* calcd for C₁₇₀H₂₅₇N₂₉O₈₁ (deprotected form): [M+H]⁺ 4001.7, found: 4004.2.

To the obtained mixture, 20% piperidine in DMF (150 μ L) was added, and the mixture was stirred at room temperature for 20 min. Then the resulting mixture was directly subjected to gel filtration over Sephadex LH-20 (ϕ : 10 mm, 1: 28 cm, eluent MeOH) to remove the solvent. Fractions containing the desired product and the remaining peptide were combined, evaporated, dissolved in 1,4-dioxane, and lyophilized. This mixture was directly used for the next reaction without further purification. (ESI-MS: *m/z* calcd for C₁₅₅H₂₄₇N₂₉O₇₉ (deprotected form): [M+H]⁺ 3779.6, found: 3780.8).

To the obtained mixture, Boc-[Thz⁷⁹-Leu⁸⁰-Leu⁸¹-Val⁸²]-OH **35** (9.5 mg, 17 µmol),

HODhbt (1.5 mg, 9.2 µmol), and DIC (1.3 µL, 8.3 µmol) were added. Then the resulting mixture was stirred at room temperature for 9 hours. Then the resulting mixture was directly subjected to gel filtration over Sephadex LH-20 (\$\$\phi: 10 mm, 1: 28 cm, eluent MeOH) to remove the solvent and reagents. Fractions containing the desired product and the remaining peptides were combined, evaporated, dissolved in 1,4-dioxane, and lyophilized. To the obtained mixture, Boc-[Thz⁷⁹-Leu⁸⁰-Leu⁸¹-Val⁸²]-OH **35** (8.7 mg, 16 μmol), HODhbt (1.7 mg, 10 μmol), and DIC $(1.3 \mu L, 8.3 \mu mol)$ were added again. Then, the resulting mixture was stirred at room temperature for 5 hours. Then the resulting mixture was directly subjected to gel filtration over Sephadex LH-20 (d: 10 mm, 1: 28 cm, eluent MeOH) to remove the solvent and reagents. Fractions containing the desired product and the remaining peptides were combined, evaporated, dissolved in 1,4-dioxane, and lyophilized. The resulting residue was dissolved in DMF (50 μ L), and TFA/TIPS/H₂O (95:2.5:2.5, 2 mL) was added to the mixture, which was kept at room temperature for 2 hours. Ice-cold ether (40 mL) was added to the resulting mixture, and a precipitate was collected by centrifuge and air-dried. The precipitate was dissolved in 10% acetonitrile containing 0.1% TFA, which was kept at room temperature for 2 hours to allow for decarboxylation. This is because carboxylate on the peptide was observed by HPLC analysis right after dissolving peptides in 10% acetonitrile containing 0.1% TFA. The resulting mixture was then purified by preparative RP-HPLC (Proteonavi, Φ 10 mm \times 250 mm, 0.1% TFA:90% aq. acetonitrile containing 0.1% TFA = 99:01 to 85:15 over 10 min, then 85:15 to 45:55 over 60 2.5 H-[Thz⁷⁹-Asn⁸³(Triantennary mL/min) to vield min at Asialoundecasaccharide)-Lys⁹⁷]- $^{\alpha}$ NHNH₂ **34** (1.0 mg, 0.24 μ mol, 28%, calculated based on Fmoc-Asn(glycan)-OH 1) as a white form; ESI-MS: m/z calcd for $C_{176}H_{283}N_{33}O_{83}S$: $[M+H]^+$ 4219.87, found: 4219.98.



Seg4 having a triantennary sialyltetradecasaccharide: H-[Cys⁷⁹-Leu-Leu-Val-Asn⁸³ (Triantennary sialyltetradecasaccharide)-Ser-Ser-Gln-Pro-Trp-Glu-Pro-Leu-Gln-Leu-His-Val-Asp-Lys⁹⁷]-^αNHNH₂ (33)

To H-[Thz⁷⁹-Leu-Leu-Val- Asn⁸³(Triantennary asialoundecasaccharide)-Ser-Ser-Gln-Pro-Trp-Glu-Pro-Leu-Gln- Leu-His-Val-Asp-Lys⁹⁷]-^αNHNH₂ **34** (0.9 mg, 0.2 μmol), 500 mM HEPES buffer (pH 5.9, 16.8 μ L), bovine serum albumin (BSA) in water (0.8 μ L, 10 mg/mL), alkaline phosphatase (Calf intestine) (9 μ L, 0.9 U), α -2,6 sialyltransferase (45 μ L, 6.7 U), CMP-Neu5Ac (4.0 mg, 6.5 μ mol), and H₂O (12.3 μ L) were added (final concentration of glycopeptide was 2 mM). After incubation at room temperature for 2 days, CMP-Neu-5Ac $(1.9 \text{ mg}, 3.1 \text{ }\mu\text{mol}), \alpha$ -2,6 sialyltransferase (20 μ L, 3 U), and alkaline phosphatase (Calf intestine) (9 μL, 0.9 U) were added. After 1 day, CMP-Neu-5Ac (4.0 mg, 6.5 μmol), α -2,6 sialyltransferase (20 µL, 3 U), and alkaline phosphatase (Calf intestine) (9 µL, 0.9 U) were added again, which was further incubated for 1 day. The resulting mixture was diluted with 0.2 M phosphate buffer containing 6 M Gn-HCl (100 μ L). The pH value of the mixture was adjusted to 4.3 by the addition of 25% (w/v) O-methylhydroxylamine hydrochloride in 0.2 M phosphate buffer containing 6 M Gn-HCl to remove the Thz group. After 5 hours, 200 mM TCEP buffer containing 0.2 M phosphate and 6 M Gn-HCl (pH 7.0, 200 µL) was added to the mixture, which was left at room temperature for 30 min. The resulting mixture was purified by preparative RP-HPLC (Proteonavi, Φ 10 mm \times 250 mm, 0.1% TFA:90% ag. acetonitrile containing 0.1% TFA = 99:01 to 90:10 over 10 min, then 90:10 to 50:50 over 60 min at 2.5 mL/min) to produce H-[Cys⁷⁹-Asn⁸³(Triantennary Sialyl-tetradecasaccharide)-Lys⁹⁷]-^αNHNH₂
Experimental Information

33 (0.6 mg, 0.12 μmol, 55%) as a white form; HR-MS (ESI): *m/z* calcd for C₁₇₆H₂₈₃N₃₃O₈₃S: [M+H]⁺ 5081.1594, found: 5081.1591.

2-7. Synthesis of an erythropoietin glycoform



Fmoc-asparagine(phenacyl-esterified biantennary sialylundecasaccharide)-OH (48)¹³

Fmoc-Asn(disialyl-undecasaccharide)-OH **47** (290 mg, 113 µmol) was dissolved in distilled water (10 mL), which was passed through DOWEXTM 50Wx8 100-200 resin. The pH value of the resulting mixture was adjusted to 3.6 by the addition of aq. Cs₂CO₃ (2.5 mg/mL), and then the mixture was lyophilized. A solution of 2-bromoacetophenone (90 mg, 453 µmol) in DMF (50 mL) was added to the resulting residue, and the mixture was stirred at the ambient temperature for 29 hours. Ice-cold ether (400 mL) was added to the mixture to form a precipitate. The precipitate was collected by centrifuge and air-dried. The resulting precipitate was dissolved in 20% aq. acetonitrile and purified by preparative RP-HPLC (CAPCELL PAK, Φ 10 mm × 250 mm, 0.1% TFA:90% aq. acetonitrile containing 0.1% TFA = 85 :15 to 45:55 over 30 min at 2.5 mL/min) to give a desired product (169 mg, 59%); ESI-MS: *m/z* calcd for C₁₁₉H₁₆₆N₈O₆₈: [M+H]⁺ 2796.0, found: 2796.2.



Boc-Asn(phenacyl esterified biantennary disialyl-oligosaccharide)-OH (49)¹³ 1-methyl-2-pyrrolidone (383 μL, 3.98 mmol), HOBt (11.0 mg, 81 μmol), and

hexamethyleneimine (44.2 μ L, 392 μ mol) were added to Fmoc-Asn(diPac-biantennary disilalyoligosaccharide)-OH **48** (111 mg, 39.7 μ mol) in DMF (10 mL), and the mixture was stirred at the ambient temperature for 1 h. Ice-cold ether (40 mL) was added to the mixture to form a precipitate. The precipitate was collected by centrifuge and air-dried. The resulting residue was dissolved in DMF (5.3 mL), and BocOSu (53.8 mg, 250 μ mol) and DIEA (62.3 μ L, 358 μ mol) were added to the mixture. The resulting mixture was stirred at the ambient temperature for 5 hours. Then, ice-cold ether (45 mL) was added to form a precipitate. The precipitate was collected by centrifuge and air-dried. The resulting residue was dissolved in 20% acetonitrile (5 mL) and purified by preparative RP-HPLC (CAPCELL PAK, Φ 10 mm × 250 mm, 0.1% TFA:90% aq. acetonitrile containing 0.1% TFA = 95:05 to 50:50 over 30 min at 2.5 mL/min) to give a desired product (63 mg, 59%); ESI-MS: *m*/*z* calcd for C₁₀₉H₁₆₄N₈O₆₈: [M+H]⁺ 2674.0, found: 2674.2.

¹H-NMR (700 MHz, 25°C in D₂O, HOD = δ 4.79) δ 8.05-7.90, 7.82-7.71, 7.67-7.55 (m, phenyl), 5.82-5.60 (m, 2H), 5.13 (s, 1H), 5.05 (d, *J* = 9.55 Hz, 1H), 4.94 (s, 1H), 4.76 (s, 1H), 4.66-4.54 (m, 2H), 4.47-4.39 (m, 2H), 4.25 (brd, 1H), 4.19 (brd, 1H), 4.16-4.07 (m), 4.07-3.42 (m), 2.91-2.68 (m), 2.07 (s, 3H), 2.51 (s, 3H ×2), 2.04 (s, 3H), 2.03 (s, 3H), 1.99 (s, 3H), 1.97-1.91 (m, 2H), 1.42 (s, 9H).



EPO Seg1: H-[Ala¹-Pro-Pro-Arg-Leu-Ile-Cys-Asp-Ser-Arg-Val-Leu-Glu-Arg-Tyr-Leu-Leu-Glu-Ala-Lys-Glu-Ala-Glu-Asn²⁴(Glycan)-Ile-Thr-Thr-Gly²⁸]- $^{\alpha}$ thioester (52)¹⁴

The side chain protected peptide Boc-[Ala¹-Pro-Pro-Arg(Pbf)-Leu-Ile-Cys(Trt)-Asp(^tBu)-Ser(^tBu)-Arg(Pbf)-Val-Leu-Glu(^tBu)-Arg(Pbf)-Tyr(^tBu)-Leu-Leu-Glu(^tBu)-Ala]-OH was synthesized by Fmoc SPPS. First, Fmoc-Ala-OH (500 µmol) was coupled twice to HMPB-PEGA resin (100 µmol) in the presence of MSNT (500 µmol) and *N*-methylimidazole $(375 \mu mol)$ in DCM (2 mL) to ensure quantitative coupling. Then the resin was treated with 20% Piperidine/DMF for 20 min at the ambient temperature to remove Fmoc group. Peptide elongation was carried out as follows. Coupling of Fmoc-AA-OH (400 umol) was performed by HOBt (300 µmol), HBTU (300 µmol), and DIEA (600 µmol) in DMF (2 mL) for 30 min at the ambient temperature. Fmoc-AA-OH used were Fmoc-Ala-OH, Fmoc-Pro-OH, Fmoc-Arg(Pbf)-OH, Fmoc-Leu-OH, Fmoc-Ile-OH, Fmoc-Cys(Trt)-OH, Fmoc-Asp(¹Bu)-OH, Fmoc-Ser(^tBu)-OH, Fmoc-Glu(^tBu)-OH, Fmoc-Val-OH, Fmoc-Tyr(^tBu)-OH, Fmoc-Glu(^tBu)-OH. Coupling reaction steps were confirmed by ninhydrin test. After all Fmoc-AA-OH coupling steps, Boc-Ala-OH was coupled in the same manner, and then the protected peptide was released from the resin by treatment with AcOH/TFE (1:1, 6 mL) at the ambient temperature for 12 hours. The solution was filtered, and then the filtrate was dried in vacuo to afford a crude peptide (221 mg).

The glycopeptide-^a thioester C-terminal side chain protected (H-[Lys²⁰(2-Cl-Z)-Glu(OBn)-Ala-Glu(OBn)-Asn(Glycan)-Ile-Thr(Bn)-Thr(Bn)-Gly²⁸] was synthesized on the resin by in situ neutralization Boc SPPS. A HSCH₂CH₂CONH-PEGA resin (PEGA resin: poly[acryloyl-bis8aminopropyl]polyethylene glycol)) (50 µmol) was used for the synthesis. Side chain protection of Boc amino acids was as follows: Boc-Lys(Cl-Z), Boc-Glu(OBzl), Boc-Ala, Boc-Ile, Boc-Boc-Thr(Bzl), Boc-Gly. The resin was washed with DMF, DCM, and DMF. S-trityl-3-mercaptopropionic acid (200 µmol) was pre-activated with HBTU (190 µmol) and DIEA (400 µmol) in DMF (1 mL) for 30 sec, and then the solution was poured onto the resin. The resulting suspension was gently shaken at the ambient temperature for 20 min. After washing the resin with DMF and DCM thoroughly, the resin was treated twice with TFA/TIPS (95:5) at the ambient temperature for 1 min to remove trityl group. Next, Boc-Gly (200 µmol) was pre-activated with HBTU (190 µmol) and DIEA (400 µmol) in DMF (1 mL) for 30 min, which was poured onto the resin. The resulting mixture was gently shaken at the ambient temperature for 20 min. After washing the resin with DMF and DCM, the resin was treated with neat TFA at the ambient temperature for 2 min. After filtration of TFA, the resin was treated with TFA again for 5 min to completely remove Boc group. Subsequent peptide elongation was performed in the same manner. Then, the resin (ca. 10 µmol) was separated, which was used for a coupling of Boc-Asn(diphenacyl-sialyloligosaccharide)-OH 49 as the following manner. Before the coupling reaction, the resin was treated with 10% DIEA in DMF (1 mL) for 30 sec. Boc-Asn(diphenacyl-sialyloligosaccharide)-OH 49 (37.8 mg, 14 µmol) was pre-activated by the addition of PyBOP (8.3 mg, 16 μ mol) and DIEA (6.98 μ L, 40 μ mol) in DMF-DMSO (1:1, 688 μ L), which was poured onto the resin. The suspension was gently shaken at the ambient temperature in the dark for 15 hours. Following coupling steps were performed by using a diluted condition such as Boc- AA (40 μ mol, 50 mM), HBTU (38 μ mol) and DIPEA (80 μ mol) in DMF (800 uL).

Before the segment coupling reaction, side-chain protected Boc-[K²⁰-N²⁴(Glycan)-Gly²⁸] linked on the resin (ca. 10 µmol) was treated with neat TFA for 2 and 5 min to remove Boc group. The resulting resin was treated with 10% DIEA in DMF (1 min) for 30 sec. Coupling of Boc-[Ala¹-Ala¹⁹]-OH (57.2 mg, 15 µmol) was carried out by using HODhbt (5.0 mg, 30 µmol) and DIC (4.7 uL, 30 µmol) in phenol/chloroform (1:4, 2 mL). The reaction mixture was gently shaken at room temperature in the dark for 23 hours. Then, the resulting resin was washed with DMF and DCM. The resin was treated twice with neat TFA for 1 min to remove Boc group and further treated twice with TFA/DMS/m-cresol/TfOH (1.2 mL/0.72 mL/0.24 mL/0.24 mL) for 20 min on an ice bath. After washing with the resin with TFA, DCM, DMF and DCM thoroughly, the glycopeptide was cleaved from the resin by the treatment with 5% MESNa (w/v) in 0.2 M phosphate buffer containing 6 M Gn-HCl (pH 6.5, 2 mL) for 23 h. The resulting mixture was purified by preparative RP-HPLC (Proteonavi, Φ 10 mm \times 250 mm, 0.1% TFA: 90% aq. acetonitrile containing 0.1% TFA = 95:05 to 80:20 over 5 min, then 80:20 to 60:40 over 60 min at 2.5 mL/min) to yield H-[Ala¹-Cys⁷-Asn²⁴(Glycan)-Gly²⁸]-^αthioester **52** (3.2 mg, 0.56 μ mol, ca. 6 %) as a white form; ESI-MS: m/z calcd for $C_{239}H_{381}N_{45}O_{109}S_3$: $[M+H]^+$ 5722.5 (monoisotopic mass), found: 5722.7.



EPO Seg2: H-[Cys²⁹(Acm)-Ala-Glu-His-Cys(Acm)-Ser-Leu-Asn-Glu-Asn³⁸(Glycan)-Ile-Thr-Val-Pro-Asp-Thr-Lys-Val-Asn-Phe-Tyr⁴⁹]-^αthioester (51)¹⁴

The glycopeptide-^a thioester was synthesized by in situ neutralization Boc SPPS. A HSCH₂CONH-PEGA resin (PEGA resin: poly[acryloyl-bisaminopropy]]polyethylene glycol)) (50 µmol) was used. Side chain protection of Boc amino acids was as follows: Boc-Cys(Acm), Boc-Glu(OBzl), Boc-His(CHO), Boc-Ser(Bzl), Boc-Asn(Xan), Boc-Thr(Bzl), Boc-Asp(OBzl), Boc-Lys(Cl-Z), Boc-Tyr(Br-Z). The resin was washed with DMF, DCM, and DMF. S-Trityl-3-mercaptopropionic acid (200 µmol) was pre-activated with HBTU (190 µmol) and DIEA (400 µmol) in DMF (1 mL) for 30 sec, and then the solution was poured onto the resin. The resulting suspension was gently shaken at room temperature for 20 min. After washing the resin with DMF and DCM thoroughly, the resin was treated twice with TFA/TIPS (95:5) at room temperature for 1 min to remove trityl group. Next, Boc-Tyr(Br-Z)-OH (200 μmol) was pre-activated with HBTU (190 μmol) and DIEA (400 μmol) in DMF (1 mL) for 30 sec, which was poured onto the resin. The resulting mixture was gently shaken at room temperature for 20 min. After washing the resin with DMF and DCM, the resin was treated with neat TFA at the ambient temperature for 2 min. After filtration of TFA, the resin was treated with TFA again for 5 min to completely remove Boc group. Subsequent peptide elongation was performed in the same manner.

Then the resin (ca. 10 μ mol) was separated, which was used for a coupling of *tert*-Boc-Asn(diphenacyl-sialyloligosaccharide)-OH as the following manner. Before the coupling reaction, the resin was treated with 10% DIEA in DMF (1 mL) for 30 sec. Boc-Asn(diphenacyl-sialyloligosaccharide)-OH **49** (40.5 mg, 15 μ mol) was pre-activated by the addition of PyBOP (8.4 mg, 16 μ mol) and DIEA (6.98 μ L, 40 μ mol) in DMF-DMSO (1: 1, 688 μ L), which was poured onto the resin. The suspension was gently shaken at room temperature in the dark for 11 hours. Following coupling steps were performed by using a diluted condition such as Boc-AA (40 μ mol, 50 mM), HBTU (38 μ mol) and DIPEA (80 μ mol) in DMF (800 μ L).

On the completion of the peptide coupling steps, the resin was treated twice with neat TFA for 1 min to remove Boc group and further treated twice with TFA/DMS/m-cresol/TfOH (1.2 mL/0.72 mL/0.24 mL/0.24 mL) for 25 min and 1 hour on an ice bath. After washing the resin with TFA, DCM, DMF and DCM thoroughly, the glycopeptide was cleaved from the resin by the treatment with 5% MESNa (w/v) in 0.2 M phosphate buffer containing 6 M Gn-HCl (pH 6.6, 2 mL) for 13 h. The resulting mixture was purified by preparative RP-HPLC (Proteonavi, Φ 10

mm×250 mm, 0.1% TFA: 90% aq. acetonitrile containing 0.1% TFA = 99:01 to 85:15 over 10 min, then 85:15 to 65:35 over 60 min at 2.5 mL/min) to yield H-[Cys²⁹(Acm)-Cys³³(Acm)-Asn³⁸(Glycan)-Tyr⁴⁹]-^{α}thioester **51** (5.1 mg, 1.0 µmol, ca. 10 %) as a white form; ESI-MS: *m/z* calcd for C₂₁₁H₃₁₉N₃₅O₁₀₂S₄: [M+H]⁺ 5107.3 (average isotope composition), found: 5107.2.



EPO Seg3: H-[Cys⁵⁰-Trp-Lys-Arg-Met-Glu-Val-Gly-Gln-Gln-Ala-Val-Glu-Val-Trp-Gln-Gly-Leu-Ala-Leu-Leu-Ser-Glu-Ala-Val-Leu-Arg-Gly-Ala⁷⁸]-^αNHNH₂ (50)¹⁴

The peptide-^a hydrazide was synthesized by *in situ neutralization* Boc SPPS. A HSCH₂CH₂CONH-PEGA resin (PEGA resin: poly[acryloyl-bis8aminopropyl]polyethylene glycol)) (100 μ mol) was used. Side chain protection of Boc amino acids was as follows: Boc-Thz, Boc-Trp(CHO), Boc-Lys(Cl-Z), Boc-Arg (Z)₂, Boc-Glu (OBzl), Boc-Ser(Bzl). The resin was washed with DMF, DCM, and DMF. *S*-Trityl-3-mercaptopropionic acid (400 μ mol) was pre-activated with HBTU (380 μ mol) and DIEA (800 μ mol) in DMF (2 mL) for 30 sec, and then the solution was poured onto the resin. The resulting suspension was gently shaken at room temperature for 20 min. After washing the resin with DMF and DCM thoroughly, the resin was treated twice with TFA/TIPS (95:5) at room temperature for 1 min to remove trityl group. Next, Boc-Ala-OH (400 μ mol) was pre-activated with HBTU (380 μ mol) and DIEA (800 μ mol) and DIEA (800 μ mol) in DMF (2 mL) for 30 sec, which was poured onto the resin. The resulting mixture was gently shaken at room temperature for 20 min. After washing the resin with DMF and DCM thoroughly, the resin was treated twice with TFA/TIPS (95:5) at room temperature for 1 min to remove trityl group. Next, Boc-Ala-OH (400 μ mol) was pre-activated with HBTU (380 μ mol) and DIEA (800 μ mol) in DMF (2 mL) for 30 sec, which was poured onto the resin. The resulting mixture was gently shaken at room temperature for 20 min. After washing the resin with DMF and DCM, the resin was treated with neat TFA at the ambient temperature for 2 min. After filtration of TFA, the resin was treated with TFA again for 5 min to completely remove Boc group. Subsequent peptide elongation was performed in the same manner.

On the completion of the peptide coupling steps, the resin (ca. 20 μ mol) was separated and subjected to deprotection steps to remove Boc and side chain-protecting groups. The deprotection was performed as follows; i) neat TFA for 1 min at rt, ii) TFA/DMS/m-cresol/TfOH (1.2 mL/0.72 mL/0.24 mL/0.24 mL) for 30 min at 0°C, iii) TFA/thioanisole/EDT/TfOH/ (1.6 mL/0.16 mL/0.08 mL/0.16 mL) for 1 h at 0 °C. After all

deprotection steps, the resin was washed with TFA, DCM, and DMF thoroughly. Then, the peptide was cleaved from the resin by the treatment with 5% MESNa (w/v) in 0.2 M phosphate buffer containing 6 M Gn-HCl (pH 6.5, 4 mL) with agitation at room temperature for 12 hours. The resulting mixture was filtered, and then hydrazine monohydrate (80 μ L, 1.6 mmol) was added to the resulting filtrate, which was gently shaken at room temperature for 30 min. The pH value of the mixture was adjusted to 6.03 by the addition of 5 M HCl and then further adjusted to 4.3 by the addition of *O*-methylhydroxylamine hydrochloride (solid), which was gently shaken at room temperature for 4 hours. The resulting mixture was purified by preparative RP-HPLC (Proteonavi, Φ 10 mm×250 mm, 0.1% TFA:90% aq. acetonitrile containing 0.1% TFA = 95:05 to 65:35 over 10 min, then 65:35 to 10:90 over 30 min at 2.5 mL/min) to yield H-[Cys⁵⁰-Ala⁷⁸]-^{α}hydrazide **50** (9.5 mg, 2.9 μ mol, ca. 15%) as a white form. ESI-MS: *m/z* calcd for C₁₄₃H₂₃₃N₄₃O₃₉S₂: [M+H]⁺ 3243.8 (average isotope composition), found: 3243.6.



Seg23 (54) by NCL

Seg2: H-[Cys²⁹(Acm)-Asn³⁸(Glycan)-Tyr⁴⁹]-^{α}thioester **51** (4.1 mg, 0.8 µmol) and Seg3: H-[Cys⁵⁰-Ala⁷⁸]-^{α}NHNH₂ **50** (3.9 mg, 1.2 µmol) were dissolved in freshly prepared 50 mM MPAA buffer containing 6 M Gn-HCl, 0.2 M phosphate, 40 mM TCEP (pH 6.7, 266 µL), which was gently agitated at room temperature for 4 hours. The pH value of the mixture was then adjusted to 9.9 by the addition of 5 M NaOH, which was gently shaken at room temperature for 3 hours. On the completion of removal of phenacyl ester, 200 mM TCEP buffer containing 6 M Gn-HCl and 0.2 M phosphate (pH 7.0, 400 µL) was added to the mixture to remove undesired disulfide bonds. And the pH value of the mixture was adjusted to 5.3 by the addition of 5 M HCl, which was purified by preparative RP-HPLC (Proteonavi, Φ10 mm×250 mm, 0.1% TFA:90% aq. acetonitrile containing 0.1% TFA = 99:01 to 70:30 over 10 min, then 70:30 to 40:60 over 60 min at 2.5 mL/min) to yield Seg23: H-[Cys²⁹(Acm)-Cys³³(Acm)-

Asn³⁸(Glycan)-Cys⁵⁰-Ala⁷⁸]-^{α}hydrazide **54** (3.2 mg, 0.40 µmol, 50%) as a white form; HRMS: *m/z* calcd for C₃₃₆H₅₃₄N₇₈O₁₃₆S₄: [M+H]⁺ 7966.6223 (monoisotopic mass), found: 7966.6000.



Seg234 (56) by hydrazide ligation

Seg23: H-[Cvs²⁹(Acm)-Cvs³³(Acm)-Asn³⁸(Glycan)-Cvs⁵⁰-Ala⁷⁸]- $^{\alpha}$ hydrazide 54 (1.5 mg, 0.20 µmol) was dissolved in freshly prepared 0.2 M phosphate buffer containing 6 M Gn-HCl (pH 3.5, 30 µL), then the temperature of the reaction mixture was cooled to -15°C. 0.5 M aq. NaNO₂ (3.9 uL, 2.0 µmol) was added to the reaction mixture, which was kept at the same temperature. After 20 min, ca. 1.3 M MPAA in 0.2 M phosphate buffer containing 6 M Gn-HCl $(7.5 \ \mu\text{L})$ was added, and then the pH value of the mixture was adjusted to 6.6 and kept at rt for 30 min. The reaction mixture was added to Seg4: H-[Cys79-Asn83(Triantennary sialyltetradecasaccharide)-Lys⁹⁷]- $^{\alpha}$ NHNH₂ **33** (0.5 mg, 0.098 µmol), which was kept at rt 3 h. The solution was treated with 100 mM TCEP buffer (40 µL) for 30 min to remove undesired disulfide bonds and purified by preparative RP-HPLC (Proteonavi, Φ10mm×250 mm, 0.1% TFA:90% ag. acetonitrile containing 0.1% TFA = 99:01 to 70:30 over 10 min, then 70:30 to 20:80 over 50 min at 2.5 mL/min). Fractions containing the desired product were combined, which was lyophilized to give Seg234: H-[Cys²⁹(Acm)-Cys³³(Acm)-Asn³⁸(Biantennary oligosaccharide)-Cys⁵⁰-Cys⁷⁹-Asn⁸³(Triantennary oligosaccharide)-Lys⁹⁷]-^αNHNH₂ **56** (0.8 mg, 68%) as a white form. ESI-MS: m/z calcd for $C_{544}H_{864}N_{112}O_{243}S_5$: $[M+H]^+$ 13022.7 (average isotope composition), found: 13024.9.



Seg234 thioester (63) converted from Seg234 hydrazide (56)

Seg 234: H-[Cys²⁹(Acm)-Cys³³(Acm)-Asn³⁸(Biantennary oligosaccharide)-Cys⁵⁰-Cys⁷⁹-Asn⁸³(Triantennary oligosaccharide)-Lys⁹⁷]-^{α}NHNH₂ **56** (0.8 mg, 0.061 µmol) was dissolved in freshly prepared 0.2 M phosphate buffer containing 6 M Gn-HCl (pH3.5, 30 µL), and the mixture was cooled at -15 °C. Then, 0.5 M NaNO₂ (1.23 uL, 0.62 µmol) was added to the mixture, which was kept at -15 °C. After 20 min, ca. 2 M MESNa in 0.2 M phosphate buffer (6.1 µL, ca. 12 µmol) was added, and the mixture was kept at rt for 1 h. The resulting solution was treated with 100 mM TCEP (100 µL) to remove undesired disulfide bonds and purified by preparative RP-HPLC (Proteonavi, Φ 10 mm×250 mm, 0.1% TFA:90% aq. acetonitrile containing 0.1% TFA = 99:01 to 70:30 over 10 min, then 70:30 to 20:80 over 50 min at 2.5 mL/min). Fractions containing the desired product were combined, which was lyophilized to give Seg234: H-[Cys²⁹(Acm)-Cys³³(Acm)-Asn³⁸(Biantennary oligosaccharide)-Cys⁵⁰-Cys⁷⁹-Asn⁸³(Triantennary oligosaccharide)-Lys⁹⁷]-^{α}thioester **63** (0.6 mg, 74%) as a white form. ESI-MS: *m/z* calcd for C₅₄₆H₈₆₆N₁₁₀O₂₄₆S₇: [M+H]⁺ 13132.9 (average isotope composition), found: 13134.5.



Seg23456 (65) by NCL of Seg234 (63) and Seg56 (64)

Seg56: H-[Cys⁹⁸-Cys¹²⁸-Cys⁵⁰(Acm)-Arg¹⁶⁶]-^αOH **64¹⁴** (0.7 mg, 0.092 µmol) in 50 mM MPAA buffer containing 6 M Gn-HCl, 0.2 M phosphate, and 40 mM TCEP (pH6.6, 23 µL) was added to Seg 234: H-[Cys²⁹(Acm)-Cys³³(Acm)-Asn³⁸(Biantennary oligosaccharide)-Cys⁵⁰-Cys⁷⁹-Asn⁸³(Triantennary oligosaccharide)-Lys⁹⁷]- α thioester **63** (0.6 mg, 0.046 µmol), which was kept at rt. After 2 h, the reaction mixture was treated with 100 mM TCEP buffer (pH 6.6, 200 µL) for 20 min to remove undesired disulfide bonds and purified by preparative RP-HPLC (Proteonavi, Φ 10 mm×250 mm, 0.1% TFA:90% aq. acetonitrile containing 0.1% TFA = 99:01 to 70:30 over 10 min, then 70:30 to 20:80 over 50 min at 2.5 mL/min). Fractions containing the desired lvophilized product were combined. which was to give Seg23456: oligosaccharide)-Cys⁵⁰-Cys⁷⁹-Asn⁸³ H-[Cys²⁹(Acm)-Cys³³(Acm)-Asn³⁸(Biantennary

Experimental Information

(Triantennary oligosaccharide)-Cys⁹⁸-Cys¹²⁸-Cys⁵⁰(Acm)-Arg¹⁶⁶]- $^{\alpha}$ OH **65** (0.2 mg, 25%) as a white form. ESI-MS: *m/z* calcd for C₈₇₈H₁₄₁₄N₂₁₀O₃₄₀S₈: [M+H]⁺ 20609.6 (average isotope composition), found: 20613.3.



Desulfurization of Seg23456 (65)

H-[Cys²⁹(Acm)-Cys³³(Acm)-Asn³⁸(Biantennary oligosaccharide)-Cys⁵⁰-Seg23456: Cys^{79} -Asn⁸³(Triantennary oligosaccharide)- Cys^{98} - Cys^{128} - Cys^{50} (Acm)-Arg¹⁶⁶]- $^{\alpha}$ OH 65 (0.2 mg, 0.001 µmol) was dissolved in 250 mM TCEP buffer (pH 7.0, 20 µL) containing 6 M Gn-HCl, 0.2 M phosphate, and VA-044 (0.1 mg, 0.3 μ mol), and then 2-methyl-2-propanethiol (1.44 μ L, 12.8 µmol) was added to the reaction mixture, which was kept at 37°C for 3 h. The reaction solution was treated with 250 mM TCEP buffer containing 6 M Gn-HCl, 0.2 M phosphate (pH 7.0, 50 μ L) to remove undesired disulfide bonds and then purified by preparative RP-HPLC (Proteonavi, Φ10 mm×250 mm, 0.1% TFA:90% aq. acetonitrile containing 0.1% TFA = 99:01 to 70:30 over 10 min, then 70:30 to 20:80 over 50 min at 2.5 mL/min). Fractions containing the desired product were combined, which was lyophilized to give Seg23456: H-[Cys²⁹(Acm)-Cys³³(Acm)-Asn³⁸(Biantennary oligosaccharide)-Asn⁸³(Triantennary oligosaccharide)-Cys⁵⁰(Acm)-Arg¹⁶⁶]- $^{\alpha}$ OH **66** as a white form; ESI-MS: m/z calcd for $C_{878}H_{1414}N_{210}O_{340}S_4$: $[M+H]^+$ 20481.3 (average isotope composition), found: 20485.4.



Acm deprotection of Seg23456 (66)

Seg23456: H-[Cys²⁹(Acm)-Cys³³(Acm)-Asn³⁸(Biantennary oligosaccharide)- Asn⁸³

(Triantennary oligosaccharide)-Cys⁵⁰(Acm)-Arg¹⁶⁶]-^{α}OH **66** was dissolved in 90% AcOH (30 UL) containing AgOAc (ca. 0.3 mg) and the reaction mixture was kept at rt. After 3 h, DTT (9.4 mg, 81 Umol) in 90% AcOH (60 UL) was added to the reaction mixture to remove undesired disulfide bonds. The resulting mixture was purified by preparative RP-HPLC (Proteonavi, Φ 10 mm×250 mm, 0.1% TFA:90% aq. acetonitrile containing 0.1% TFA = 99:01 to 70:30 over 10 min, then 70:30 to 20:80 over 50 min at 2.5 mL/min). Fractions containing the desired product were combined, which was lyophilized to give Seg23456: H-[Cys²⁹-Cys³³-Asn³⁸ (Biantennary oligosaccharide)-Asn⁸³(Triantennary oligosaccharide)-Cys⁵⁰-Arg¹⁶⁶]-^{α}OH **67** as a white form; ESI-MS: m/z calcd for C₈₆₉H₁₃₉₉N₂₀₇O₃₃₇S₄: [M+H]⁺ 20268.1 (average isotope composition), found: 20271.4.



Seg123456 (68) by NCL of Seg1 (51) and Seg23456 (66)

Seg1: H-[Ala¹-Asn²⁴(Phenacyl esterified biantennary oligosaccharide)-Gly²⁸]- α thioester 52 (0.1 mg, 0.017 µmol) in 50 mM MPAA buffer containing 6 M Gn-HCl, 0.2 M phosphate, and 40 mM TCEP (pH6.5, 5.0 µL) was added to Seg23456: H-[Cys²⁹-Cys³³-Asn³⁸(Biantennary oligosaccharide)-Asn⁸³(Triantennary oligosaccharide)-Cys⁵⁰-Arg¹⁶⁶]- $^{\alpha}$ OH **67**, which was kept at rt. After 3 h, the reaction mixture was diluted with 0.2 M phosphate buffer containing 6 M Gn-HCl (90 μ L) and the pH value of the reaction mixture was adjusted to 10.0 to remove phenacyl ester. After 2 h, the solution was treated with 20 mM TCEP buffer containing 6 M Gn-HCl and 0.2 M phosphate (pH 6.6, 100 μ L) for 10 min to remove undesired disulfide bonds and purified by RP-HPLC (Proteonavi, $\Phi 4.6 \text{ mm} \times 250 \text{ mm}, 0.1\% \text{ TFA:}90\%$ ag. acetonitrile containing 0.1% TFA = 99:01 to 70:30 over 5 min, then 70:30 to 15:85 over 30 min at 1.0 mL/min). Fractions containing the desired product were combined, which was lyophilized to H-[Ala¹-Cys⁷-Asn²⁴(Biantennary EPO: of give а full length the oligosaccharide)-Cys²⁹-Cys³³-Asn³⁸(Biantennary oligosaccharide)-Asn⁸³(Triantennary oligosaccharide)-Cys⁵⁰-Arg¹⁶⁶]- $^{\alpha}$ OH **68**. ESI-MS: *m/z* calcd for C₁₀₉₀H₁₇₆₂N₂₅₂O₄₄₁S₅: [M+H]⁺ 25614.7 (average isotope composition), found: 25618.6.



Stepwise dialysis of Seg123456 (68)

The obtained polypeptide H-[Ala¹-Cys⁷-Asn²⁴(Biantennary oligosaccharide)-Cys²⁹-Cys³³-Asn³⁸(Biantennary oligosaccharide)-Asn⁸³(Triantennary oligosaccharide)-Cys⁵⁰-Arg¹⁶⁶]-^{α}OH **68** was dissolved in 6 M Gn-HCl buffer containing 100 mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.5, 1 mL), which was poured into a dialysis tube (molecular weight cut off at 8000, Spectra/Por). The resulting mixture was subjected to dialysis against 3 M Gn-HCl buffer containing 100 mM Tris-HCl, 4 mM cysteine, and 0.5 mM cystine (pH 8.5, 200 mL), which was kept at 4 °C for 24 h. then, the external solution was replaced with 1 M Gn-HCl buffer containing 100 mM Trs-HCl (pH 8.0, 200 mL), which was further kept at 4 °C for 11 h. Finally, the dialysis tube was subjected to 10 mM Tris-HCl buffer (pH 7.0, 200 mL), which was kept at 4 oC for 22 h. An aliquot of the mixture was used for LC-FTICR analysis to show the ESI-MS of folded EPO **69**; ESI-MS: *m/z* calcd for C₁₀₉₀H₁₇₅₈N₂₅₂O₄₄₁S₅: [M+H]⁺ 25610.7 (average isotope composition), found: 25611.8.

3. NMR Data

¹H NMR of **S1**



¹H NMR of **S2**



¹³C NMR of **S2**



HSQC of **S2**



Experimental Information

¹H NMR of **46**



¹³C NMR of **46**











¹³C NMR of **19**







¹³C NMR of **5**

























¹³C NMR of 8













¹H NMR of **13** (presaturation)



¹H NMR of **13** (watergate)





¹³C NMR of **9**















Experimental Information

¹H NMR of **29**





4. References

- (1) Seko, A.; Koketsu, M.; Nishizono, M.; Enoki, Y.; Ibrahim, H. R.; Juneja, L. R.; Kim, M.; Yamamoto, T. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta, Gen. Subj.* **1997**, *1335*, 23-32.
- (2) Kajihara, Y.; Suzuki, Y.; Yamamoto, N.; Sasaki, K.; Sakakibara, T.; Juneja, L. R. *Chem. Eur. J.* **2004**, *10*, 971-85.
- (3) Sato, H.; Kajihara, Y. Carbohydr. Res. 2005, 340, 469-79.
- (4) Kajihara, Y.; Kodama, H.; Wakabayashi, T.; Sato, K.-i.; Hashimoto, H. Carbohydr. Res. **1993**, 247, 179-193.
- (5) Lemieux, R. U.; Abbas, S. Z.; Burzynska, M. H.; Ratcliffe, R. M. Can. J. Chem. 1982, 60, 63-67.
- (6) Lemieux, R. U.; Ratcliffe, R. M. Can. J. Chem. 1979, 57, 1244-1251.
- (7) Cheshev, P. E.; Kononov, L. O.; Tsvetkov, Y. E.; Shashkov, A. S.; Nifantiev, N. E. Russ. J. Bioorg. Chem. 2002, 28, 419-429.
- (8) Yan, F.; Mehta, S.; Eichler, E.; Wakarchuk, W. W.; Gilbert, M.; Schur, M. J.; Whitfield, D.
 M. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 68, 2426-31.
- (9) Sato, H.; Fukae, K.; Kajihara, Y. Carbohydr. Res. 2008, 343, 1333-45.
- (10) Jeanloz, R. W.; Jeanloz, D. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1957, 79, 2579-2583.
- (11) Horton, D.; Luetzow, A. E. Carbohydr. Res. 1968, 7, 101-105.
- (12) Poláková, M.; Roslund, M. U.; Ekholm, F. S.; Saloranta, T.; Leino, R. *Eur. J. Org. Chem.*2009, 6, 870-888.
- (13) Murakami, M.; Okamoto, R.; Izumi, M.; Kajihara, Y. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 2012, 51, 3567-72.
- (14) Murakami, M.; Kiuchi, T.; Nishihara, M.; Tezuka, K.; Okamoto, R.; Izumi, M.; Kajihara, Y. Sci. Adv. 2016, 2, e1500678.
List of Publication

List of Publication

1. <u>Yuta Maki</u>, Ryo Okamoto, Masayuki Izumi, Takefumi Murase, and Yasuhiro Kajihara, Semisynthesis of Intact Complex-Type Triantennary Oligosaccharides from a Biantennary Oligosaccharide Isolated from a Natural Source by Selective Chemical and Enzymatic Glycosylation, *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2016**. *138*. 461-3468.

Permission

Permission



PERMISSION/LICENSE IS GRANTED FOR YOUR ORDER AT NO CHARGE

This type of permission/license, instead of the standard Terms & Conditions, is sent to you because no fee is being charged for your order. Please note the following:

- Permission is granted for your request in both print and electronic formats, and translations.
- If figures and/or tables were requested, they may be adapted or used in part.
- Please print this page for your records and send a copy of it to your publisher/graduate school.
- Appropriate credit for the requested material should be given as follows: "Reprinted (adapted) with permission from (COMPLETE REFERENCE CITATION). Copyright (YEAR) American Chemical Society." Insert appropriate information in place of the capitalized words.
- One-time permission is granted only for the use specified in your request. No additional uses are granted (such as derivative works or other editions). For any other uses, please submit a new request.



https://s100.copyright.com/AppDispatchServlet

Acknowledgements

Acknowledgments

First of all, I would like to acknowledge Prof. Yasuhiro Kajihara for being my great supervisor. His encouragement and challenging spirit supported me in going through with difficult syntheses. I learned a lot about chemistry, science, and philosophy from him.

I would also like to thank Dr. Masayuki Izumi for his beneficial and appropriate suggestions and Dr. Ryo Okamoto for his motivating me with great discussion. Their support really helped my work. Discussion and conversation with them was informative time for me.

I would also like to acknowledge my committee members Prof. Koichi Fukase and Prof. Michio Murata for their skillful suggestions and advising on my PhD work.

I sincerely thank Prof. Yasuhisa Mizutani for his insightful advices on the mechanistic studies on benzylidene acetal deprotection.

I am also grateful for Prof. Bradley Pentelute at Massachusetts Institute of Technology (Massachusetts, USA). I really appreciate his accepting me as a visiting student in his lab and publishing D-scan of EETI-II (*J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2016**, *138*, 12099.).

I acknowledge Dr. Takefumi Murase for his contribution to an initial stage on my oligosaccharide synthesis.

I also acknowledge GlyTech, Inc. for providing the biantennary oligosaccharide.

I also appreciate Dr. Masumi Murakami and Dr. Tatsuto Kiuchi for their providing EPO segment 56.

I would like to thank Dr. Hajime Sato for his advice on NMR analysis.

I would also like to thank Ms. Yuka Suemichi, Ms. Yuko Hosokawa, and Ms. Masako Yoshida for their assistance for my laboratory life.

I was really happy to work with all Kajihara Lab. members (Jan 2011 ~Mar 2017).

This work was supported by JSPS Research Fellowship for Young Scientists (DC1,

26 • 1545) and I sincerely acknowledge the financial support.

Finally, I would like to thank my family members for their kind and considerable support. I could do my best and accomplish many works during my PhD period to become a scientist.

Yuta Maki Jan 2017 Osaka, Japan

215